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NFL Betting
Success 2022

From Someone Who Selected
Over 60% Winners In 2021

Why not get your information from someone who
went a documented 63.3% in BetOnline's MEGA
CONTEST in 20217

With NFL BETTING SUCCESS 2022 you'll read exactly
how he did it.

No sitting around for hours compiling stats, or
taking advice from television personalities who
haven'ta clue.

Easy to follow situations that win, win, and win
again!

Best of all it's 100% FREE - that's right, just sign up
and NFL Betting Success 2022 will arrive in your
inbox within minutes.
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CAR FURNISHED

EXPENSES PAID

WORK PART-TIME
OR FULL TIME

EARN AS
YOU LEARN

NO SELLING OF
ANY KIND

ONLY AVERAGE
EDUCATION
REQUIRED

SIX GOOD REASONS why

you, too, should be an

ACCIDENT INVESTIGATOR

N a matter of weeks you can know ex-
actly how to investigate the facts
about an accident or fire; properly esti-
mate the loss, then help distribute the
millions of dollars insurance and trans-
portation companies pay out every year
to cover damages and injuries. For many
men this is a golden opportunity to get
into one of today’s most exciting new
professions, while there is still plenty of
room at the top. 200 million accidents
this year will require so many more
trained investigators, starting pay and
extra benefits can equal about $8.000
a vear!

We Teach You Quickly at

Home in Your Spare Time

We are training scores of accident
investigators by mail and helping to
place them in the fast-growing, highly
profitable Accident Investigating Field.
No previous experience is required. A
car is usually furnished; expenses are
paid. Many men earn while they learn.
Only an average education is required.

Some Men Make More
in a Day Than
They Made in a Week!

Dave Durant increased his income 50
er cent, soon as he became an Accident
nvestigator. Bill Waddell’s company has
given him a fat raise every year. He now
has a handsome five-figure income.
Anthony Allen, a college graduate and
registered pharmacist, switched to Acci-
dent Investigating and almost doubled
his earnings. Bob Pritchard reports com-
panies in his area are offering qualified
Investigators as much money as college
graduates are getting. Read more about
these happy men and their exciting new
careers in our FREE Brochure.

SIX GOOD REASONS

(1) You become a member of
a respected, fast-growing
profession.

(2) You meet all kinds of inter-
esting and important people.
(3)

You are not “chained” to an
office desk or assembly line.

You render a worthy, neces-
sary service (NO SELLING)
to the community.

(4)

( 5) There are many opportuni-
ties for quick advancement.

There are good openings in
every state and Canada.

(6)

Keep Your Old Job, Work
Spare Time Until You Switch

Only 15 minutes reading a day puts
you on the high road to success as an

Jim Edwards, Director, Dept. 585
Liberty School '

1111 W. Park Avenue
Libertyville, illinois 60048

MAIL FOR FREE
INFORMATION

Send me your FREE Brochure showing how | can quickly get into
the Booming Accident Investigating Field and enjoy the job security
ond professional prestige offered Accident Investigators. This does
NOT obligate me in any way and no salesmon will call.

Accident Investigator. Many men get
their diplomas in a matter of weeks!'
(We give you FREE Employment Help
through our NATION-WIDE PLACE-
MENT SERVICE: we also show you
how to start an investigating business of
your own at home.) Companies with job
openings for salaried men or indepen-
dent investigators are making good use
of our monthly graduate list.

There are many valuable fringe bene-
fits offered Accident Investigators, such
as retirement pension plans, family
medical and surgical care and paid vaca-
tions that are practically unheard of in
many other kinds of businesses.

Mail Coupon Today for FREE
Brochure. No Obligarion

Let us prove how easily you can
quickly switch into this exciting new
career that provides prestige, security,
a bright future! Sending for FREE
Brochure does not obligate you in any
way. No salesmen will call. Mail post-
paid card or coupon below today to

Dept. 585 Liberty School, 1111 W. Park
Ave., Libertyville, lll. 60048. Liberty
School is Approved for Veteran's and
Servicemen’s Benefits under the G.. Bill

Name Age.
Addre:
LC“Y State. Zip Code.
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THE MYSTERY GUILD

INVITES YOU TO TAKE ANY

Diplomat meets mystery Agatha Christie reveals
woman in airport termi- her command of espio-
nal, becomes target. An nage in 3 taut, full-
Agatha Christie gem. {ength novels.

Doddering town fathers
suddenly assault local
women. Hitarious Brit-
ish mystery-comedy

Elite group of ex-com-
mandos takes on mobster
gang (o avenge murder
of wartime buddy.

A lovely corpse, 5 Brain operation causes pa-
poisonings, one suicide, tient te wander if he’s
a rape, and 2 fost par- leading a double Iife. A
ents make for top chiller. psychological thritler
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Nera Waolfe hunts Mon-
tana killer. Amusing tale
of Rex Stout's urbane
hero gone west.
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A wig, gown, and gloves
are only clues to death
of a Casanova. Ellery’s
strangest stumper yet,

protace B
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Agatha Christie's A
Pocket Full of Rye,
HickoryDitkoryDeath,
The Crooked House.

Taut tales by mistress of
the macabre. The Unsus-
pected, A Dram of Poi-
sen, The Turret Room.

24 thorror classics for
those with strong nerves.
20 stories, 3 novelettes,

novel, tale with ingenious plot

Unknown poisoner uses
restaurant chain tostrike
down scores in suspense

Gypsy troupe, mysterious
discovery turn idyflic
setting into death trap
for amatevr sleuth

Gideon of Scotland Yard
faces rask of sabotage,
plus chitd murders. Hit
thriller. . .rave reviews.

Sleuth seeks to prove
girl’s report of murder.
New Hercute Poirot gem
by Agatha Christie.

Macabre tale of revenge
and kidnapped child. By
author of Bunny Lake is
Missingand The Nanny.

Rlch youth is hetd for
big ransom. Kidnappers’
quarrel brings about 0.
Henry surprise ending.

The Master collects 23
macabre stories, 1 chill-
ing novelette, 1 haie-
raising novel.

Theft of apparently
worthless paintings and
2 museum murders add
up to stunning climax

Jockey barred from rac-
ing seeks to prove he’s

n framed. A classic
thriller. Rave reviews.

Staid banker and crony
discover dead man and
soon become invoived
with his two wives.

Pretty student and con-
gressman try to find
murderer of high govern-
ment official.

Mystery Guild.

The best mysteries by the best
writers—yours at lowest prices!
Every month The Mystery Guild
selects the newest books by authors
like John Le Carré, Eric Ambler,
Ellery Queen, Agatha Christie, Al-
fred Hitchcock, Rex Stout and
others. Each book is described in
advance in CLUES, the Club's month-
ly bulletin. Although these brand-
new, full-size, hard-bound volumes
sell for $4.95, $5.95 or more in
original publishers’ editions, you
pay only $1.49 plus shipping and
handling (uniess you take an extra-
value selection at a higher price).
You accept only the books you want
—as few as 4 selections from
CLUFS in the coming year. You may

resign any time after that.
Act now! Take any 6
hest sellers for only 10¢

Mail the coupon now to receive any
6 books on this page for only 10¢
(to help cover shipping). If not de-
lighted with your big introductory
package, return it within 10 days
and membership will be canceled.
Mail coupon now with 10¢ to The
Mystery Guild, Garden City, New
York 11530.

Delightfully wacky wo;h
e-

an professor ‘'helps
tective ferret out cam-
pus murderer.

OF THESE
BEST-SELLING
MYSTERIES

ALL FOR

¢ | :
Io Giant anthology of 19
great crime classics by

If you join and agree to
accept only four books
in the coming year.

Kidnappers make white
girl ook Negro in dia-
bolic_plot to steal her
inheritance.

RebeK
HITCEESTS

A
MONTH
MYSTERY

Suspenseful collection
of thrillers carefully
chosen by the Master,
Hair-raising!

Agatha Christie, Erle
Stanley Gardner, etc.

Mystery fans! Here's-one of the biggest money-saving offers
ever made! Send us just one thin dime today, and we'll ship you
any 6 of the best-selling mystery books you choose from this page!

Yes—that's a total value of up to $39.70 in publishers’ editions—
yours now for just 10¢ with membership in The Mystery Guild! And
mind you-—these are all hard-cover, full-length, full-size books you
choose from, including spine-tinglers, chillers, thrillers, and who-
dunnits fresh from the latest best seller lists! Many have been turned
into the smash movie hits of our day!

If you're like millions of other Americans who enjoy crackling good
mysteries, off-beat puzzlers, suspense and spy thrillers that keep you
on the edge of your chair . . . then you'll love the fast-paced new books
{and big cash savings) that are yours exclusively as a member of The

Note: Book club editions are sometimes re-
duced in size, but they are full-length, hard-
cover books you will be proud to add to your
permanent home library.

3. FOLD COIN POCKET QVER COUPON

MYSTERY GUILD

Dept. 15-NJX, Garden City, N.Y. 11530
Please accept my application for membership
in The Mystery Guild. Send me the six books
whose numbers I have printed below. I en-
close 10¢ to help cover shipping.

I || N ]
I 1 11 |

Each month send me the Club's free bulletin,
CLUES, which describes coming selections and
other book bargains. If I do not wish to re-
ceive the monthly selections or prefer an alter-
nate, I simply give instructions on the form
provided. I pay only $1.49 plus shipping and
handling for each selection I accept (unless I
choose to receive an extra-value selection). I
need take only 4 books within 12 months and
may resign any time after purchasing four
books.

NO-RISK GUARANTEE: If I'm not delighted
with my introductory package, I may return it
in 10 days and my membership will be can-
celed. I will owe nothing.

ADDRESS

CITY

STATE, ZIP,

Credit

Reference

(Your phone no., bank or dept. store charge acct.)
Members accepted in U.S.A. and Can- 25-MG2
ada only. Canadian members will be
serviced from Toronto. Offer slightly
different in Canada.




by MALLEY J. BYRD

EXCLUSIVE!
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By the time this nervy ex-Marine finished prepping for his

mission among the drug freaks, he could have fooled his own mother

HE HARDWARE sales clerk

stared incredulously at his cus-

tomer. A hippie-type character

with a luxuriant beard and
blue-tinted sunglasses, he wore mod
clothing that looked slept-in.

Hardly the sort of customer you
would sell a pistol to, not if you val-
ued your license to deal in firearms.
Yet there he stood, insisting he
wanted to buy a .45-caliber automatic
pistol and had ordered it weeks be-
fore.

“Look through your permit file,” he
insisted. “You'll find mine. The name
is Robert E. Lively.”

Glancing desperately around for
his boss, who wasn't yet back from
lunch, the clerk stalled for time by
thumbing repeatedly through a sheaf
of hand gun purchase permits issued
by the Memphis, Tennessee Police De-
partment. It seemed incredible, but
one bore the name Robert E. Lively.

Then the front door opened and two

men walked into the store. The clerk
recognized them and sighed with re-
lief as he tried to capture their at-
tention without alarming his weird-
looking customer. .

Strolling casually down the coun-
ter aisle, the clerk locked over his
shoulder at the newcomers. They were
city police officers. The expression on
the clerk’s face, the glance he di-
rected at the hippie, told them all was
not well.

Moving in to flank the weirdo, they
asked him for his identification. The
clerk watched apprehensively as the
three men moved away from the coun-
ter and stood talking quietly while the
bearded one produced identification
papers.

One of the cops laughed, glanced
at the nervous clerk, then walked to
the pay telephone by the door. Min-
utes later he was back at the counter.

“This fellow says he ordered a pis-
tol and left his permit here,” said the

police officer. “Let’s see it.”

Apparently satisfied by a quick
look, he handed the permit back.
Pointing at the character in floppy
hat, blue jeans and faded fatigue
jacket; the policeman gave clearance
for the gun sale: “He’s OK, you can
let him have it.”

Mystified, the clerk watched the
two officers walk out and climb into
their cruiser parked at the curb. Then
he brought out the .45-caliber Colt
automatic and watched the hippie
customer expertly check the clip and
the action.

A faint smile played on the
bearded face. A pattern of laugh
wrinkles at the eye corners told the
clerk he was the butt of some secret
joke. The sloppy-looking customer
paid for the weapon and walked out.

Only weeks later the sales clerk
would learn that he had sold a pistol
to an undercover agent for the Shelby
County Sheriff’s Department, a 27-

(Continued on page 6)



Beauty Glo Lamp :

{exclusive SMC a1
product)

your cost $1.02

Flashing Antenna
Emergency Light
your cost 34c

QY
Auto Spotlight %§.
your cost 80¢ \204d

Religious Medallion

Keychain

your cost 18¢

sell for $1.00
Spectacle Binoculars

your cost 23¢ Electric Percolator
sell for $1.00 with cord

Derringer 2Sti)%:nal Light !:“'fg:s&gégo

Rain Bonnet & Sheath iniest Flashlight your cost
your cost 1%¢ your cost 25¢ ¢ sell for $1.00
sell for 10¢ sell for $1.00 .
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Professional Hunting
Slingshot

your cost 22¢  J\
sell for $1.00 / Ve
i e, Unbreakable Combs

your cost 1¢
sell for 10c

Permanent Match  Two Cell Flashlight
with keychain your cost 19¢

your cost 24¢ sell for 79¢

sell for $1.00

I

8mm Movie Projector
with roll comic film

Stuffed Animal Radio

Battery Toothbrush
your cost $5.75

H ; .
I
your cast Bbe Electric Hair Dryer

your cost $3.25 L)

sell for $14.95 Nylon Wgt’c;l Band  your cost $4.40 with film S¢!! for $2.98 Beaded Purse S¢ll for $3.95 x)i':laczqf:ill;'l)iew Mirror | @),
Cube Flash Camera T e . sell for$11.95 your cost 18 your cost 22¢ ea. (NG
your cost 77¢ sell for $1.00 : p
ggﬁrfgl:s;#gém sell for $2.98 sell for $1.00 ea. g

Home Hatir]cgtter
Laminated Padlock your oSt 'S¢ Electric Scissors
Q| your cost 20c - ' eltfor 88 your cost 8de ¢
sell for 59¢ 2 - v £ : sefl for $2.98

meiie  \QM BUY at LOWEST BELOW WHOLESALE PRICES

Automatic Day-Date
C:l:::iaal'cyoury co:t 25¢ WE SHOW YOU HOW TO START gram. SMC lowest prices lets you earn mail
ea. sell for $1.00 ea. YOUR OWN WHOLESALE BUSINESS order profits of 5, 7, even 10 times your cost.
5. PREMIUM SALES. Get volume orders from
BIG and EXCITING WAYS fund raising organizations, carnivals, for busi-

to make “wholesale profits” ness incentives, and party plan sales. We
- to get automatic orders. show you how.

Name Brand Appliances
at amazingly low prices

Hurricane Lamp f
your cost 24c )¢
sell for 88¢c

Burglar Fire Alarm
your cost 82¢

selkfor $2.98 Illuminated =
1. WAGON JOBBING. Take orders from mer- :
chants and deliver cash sales at the same SMC WHOLESALING OFFERS ;sygu':ervéggtvg;c r £
time. SMC guaranteed lowest below whole- EXTRAORDINARY ADVANTAGES sell for $1.59

sale prices lets you sell at wholesale and _ .
make staggering big profits for yourself. * vaL%GE'r‘er)?ggg usz‘r)slf ‘3\2#] v;?:ag?rfg;g;i

2. DROP-SHIP WHOLESALING. SMC stocks your orders.

merchandise and ships for you. We supply _ .
g, rior ol eveythng, Ses * 10 INECT SELNG v never s ity

are so low you can sell to other wholesalers
under our SMC sub-distributor plan. * NO LARGE INVESTMENT — Buy only enough

Electric Candle
your cost 30c
sell for $1.00

Illuminated Make-Up Mirror
your cost $4.35
sell for $12.95

Lighted eseSys
Flower Coach

Toys 10¢ sellers
your cost 1¢ to 3¢ ea.

your cost $1.70 ea. . . to fill your orders. Immediate delivery. 1.00 sellers
11 for $5.00 ea. 3. RACK JOBBING. SMC attractive self-service —_— 4
e display racks do your selling for you. SMC e START SMALL — GROW BIG — Whatever time Jour cost 15¢ to 35¢ ea.
ke “Instant” Sales merchandise is packaged, ready to display. you can spend there is a profitable place | SM¢ Sup
M:ith SMC Products ‘We show you how to get rent free space in for you in wholesaling. Hundregs
The Specialty Merchandise | retail stores. * WE PROTECT YOU — Supply authorized SMC | 1615, TOYS _ gne
Corporation screens all |te[“$ . MAIL ORDER SALES. Everything you need to wholesalers only. When you answer this ad, £es Selections
for impulse salet?- Tth:: ':f get orders by mail is included in our pro-  you get in on the ground floor. dlnn:rr;g premiym
bed up to the ré, blender
rgnri?lli)ons of dollars each year Watches, toiletrieg

because they have both prac-

93, phonogrs : )
phs,
tical and emotional appeal. tools jewelry,

; anrs Many, map
,f'?:lyf SMC has” the g’mm’ore.
e for Wholesalers Plete ]

SMC Home Business People expect unusual profits.
Read how big earnings may sometimes be.

Robert H. 0'Dell
‘‘Each time | make

I wholesale sales with
SMC merchandise, | at
least double my cost.”

RUSH COUPON NOW
Paul Patterson
‘I now average $75.00
per day and project my
earnings to increase
. steadily.”

M. Priesel Director

Specialty Merchandise Corp.

6963 Hayvenhurst Ave., Dept. $-155
Van Nuys, Calif. 91406

Send me full free facts & free book “How to
Wholesale for Profit,”” plus information on your

Marvin Malloy Russell
‘1 made $1.862.45
profit the first month,

William K. Treacy. Jr.
I started my business
with a $28.80 invest-

LI

with SMC working part ment, and have made 1 revolutionary sales plans that bring automatic orders.
time, $385.00 of this as much as $100.00 T Name__ -
was made in one day.” profit in 3 hours work.” H Address
. B [
speclaity merchandise corporation 6963 Hayvenhurst Ave. Dept. §-155, Van Nuys, Calif. 91406 ¢ city. __ _ swae_ 7o
]
1

Canadians write: Pre-Sell Distributors, 379 Broadview Ave., Toronto 6, Ontario, Canada



year-old deputy known as a pusher-
addict on the Memphis underground
drug scene.

His name really was Robert E.
Lively, as listed on the gun purchase
permit, but to local junkies, pill pop-
pers, acid heads and grass blowers he
was known as “The Candy Man.”

Even now he isn’t exactly sure
when he acquired the nickname. He
thinks it came from carrying and
munching on a pocketful of hard can-
dy the first few days he circulated on
the drug scene.

It all started in September, 1970,
when drugs of all types—hard stuff,
marijuana, hallucinogens, ampheta-
mines and barbiturates—became so
prevalent in Memphis and Shelby
County that law enforcement authori-
ties were thoroughly alarmed.

Not that the problem was local, by
any means. Everybody who reads
newspapers knows the drug problem
is nationwide. But in Memphis, where
illicit narcotics were so scarce five
years ago that drifting addicts gave
the town a wide berth, the growing
drug traffic was a matter of deep con-
cern. In years past, when dope push-
ers were a breed that Memphians
read about but seldom encountered,
the police department’s vice and nar-
cotics squad handled offenses of both
types and the men had time to spare
for other investigations.

Now it was different. The vice and
narcotics squad had been split into
two units, and even with extra man-
power, the narcotics squad couldn’t
cope with the growing problem. The
same was true with the sheriff's de-
partment, which has overlapping jur-
isdiction with the police department,
but which is mainly concerned with
law enforcement outside the Memphis
city limits.

Several programs had  been
launched, aiming at educating poten-
tial users to the dangers of narcotics.
One of the most promising, known as
PAIN (Parents Against Illegal Nar-
cotics), was the brainchild of former
Sheriff William N. Morris Jr. The
PAIN syllabus had been selected as
the prototype for a national program
of the U.S. Department of Health,
Education and Welfare. But educa-
tion is only effective with people who
can and will listen.

Too many Memphians, especially
young persons, were learning another
way, the hard way, the hooked way,
that the dope habit can’t be turned off
and on like a water faucet. And they
were learn- (Continued on page 70)

L]

The Candy Man, seen here with a batch
of marijuana, told press, “Three times |
was jumped by addicts and straights.
The only excuse | got out of one of
them, was that he wanted to put me in
the hospital” under cover cop added . . .
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DIAMOND SERVICE RING - $99
Star set diamond in 10k white or yellow

gold. All services including  Vietnam
dragon design for Army and Mannes
only. Solid Back

19 pymts. $5

55 Twice Monthly 1 payment $4

10 MONTHS TG PAY
Wark Jewelors

9041 W. PICO BLVD,,
LOS ANGELES, CALIF. 90035

COUPON MISSING? Write vour order
on plain paper to address above
World wide airmail service
1 j @
JULIE - $239
S diamond bridal set

ANITA $259
5]2 Twice Monthly

Exquisite marquise diamond
\ 24 pymts. $12 — 1 pymt. §1
3 121/, MONTHS TO PAY
o

LINDE STAR SAPPHIRE RING. - $199
Army. Navy, Mannes, Air Force and
Army Airborne. Vietnam dragon design
for Army and Marines only, Blue or
Claret Red. 10k go!d. Solid back.

: 22 pymts. $9

T
59 wice Monthly 1 pymt. $1
111, MONTHS YO PAY

GEMSTONE SERVICE RING - $89
Designs for Army, Navy Marines, Air
Force. Army Airborne. Vietnam dragon
design for Army and Marines only
Choice of Red or Blue Gemstone. 10k
White or yellow gold. Sohid back

17 pymis. $5

I pymt. §4
9 MONTHS TO PAY

25 z/eam S'ruice
jo 747{/#‘:@, /Oerjonn

55 Twice Monthly

ol

17 JEWEL
“SKINDIVER" $110

Self winding calendar
watch. Shock and water
resistant — depth tested

at 666 ft. Stainless

stee! case

56 Twice Monthly

18 pymts. $6

— 1 pymt. $2
91, MONTHS TO PAY engagement ring with
interlocking 4 diamond
wedding band. 14k gold

DIAMOND ON GEMSTONE - $103
For all services including Vietnam
dragon design for Army and Marnnes
only 10k white or yellow gold Choice
of Red or Blue gemstene. Solid back

56 Twice Monthly 18 pymts. $6

— 1 oymt §]
91, MONTHS TO PAY

DIVINE LOVE - 3229
510 Twice Monthty

22 pymts. $10 — 1 pymt. $9
11Y, MONTHS TO PAY

@ @\g

ROMANTIC LOVE -$299

11 diamond trio ring set.

$'|2 Twice Monthly
21 pymts. $12 — | pymt. $7
11 MONTHS TO PAY

SULTAN - $159
Linde synthetic star sap
phite. Blue or Red 3

diamonds. .

s8 Twice Monthly

19 Payments §8
1 Payment §7
10 MONTHS TO PAY

STAR TIGER - $159
Linde synthetic Blue Star
Sapphire or Ciaret Red
Star in 10k white or ye!
iow gotd with 2 diamonds

58 Twice Monthly
19 pymts. $8 — 1 pymt. $2
10 MONTHS TO PAY
AZTEC - $169
Flashing diamond solitaire in
ruggedly handsome 14k yellow
gold setting
58 Twice Monthly

2] pymts. $8 — 1 pymt. §1
11 MONTHS 10 PAY

CAPRICORN - $163

Linde star sapphire with 7 fiery
diamonds Blue ar Claret Red
14k gold mounting

58 Twice Monthly
ADVENTURE - $110

Fine sohtaire diamond n hand
some two tone 14k gold setting
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YES, IT'S TRUE — if you join the Columbia Record Club right
now, you may have your choice of ANY 12 of these best-
selling hit records for only $2.86. And all you have to do is
agree to buy as few as ten records (at the regular Club
price) during the coming two years.

That's right —you’ll have two full years in which to buy

your ten records. After doing so, you'll have acquired a siz-
able library of 22 records of your choice — but you'll have
paid for just half of them. .. that’s practically a 50% saving
off regular Club prices!
AS A MEMBER you will receive, every four weeks, a copy of
the Club's entertaining music magazine. Each issue de-
scribes the regular selection for each musical interest and
almost 300 other records. .. hit albums from every field of
music, from scores of record labels.

If you do not want any record in any month — just teli us
so by returning the selection card by the date specified. . .
or you may use the card to order any of the records offered.
If you want only the regular selection for your musical in-
terest, you need do nothing—it will be shipped to you
automatically. And from time to time, the Club will offer
some special albums, which you may reject by returning
the dated form provided — or accept by doing nothing.
RECORDS SENT ON CREDIT. Upon enroliment, the Club
will open a charge account in your name.. .. you pay for your
records only after you have received them. They will be
mailed and billed to you at the regular Club price of $4.98
(Classical and occasional special albums somewhat higher),
plus a mailing and handling charge.

FANTASTIC BONUS PLAN. As soon as you complete your
enroliment agreement, you wili automatically become eli-
gible for the Club’s generous bonus plan, which entitles you
to one record of your choice free (plus 25¢ for mailing and
handling) for every one you buy thereafter! .
SEND NO MONEY — JUST THE COUPON! Write in the num-
bers of the twelve records you want, for which you will be
billed only $2.86, plus mailing and handling. Be sure to in-
dicate the type of music in which you are mainly interested.
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If Florida probers had thé case figured

correctly, the brainy blonde’s evening

of slumming and bar-hopping at gang

hangouts was climaxed by her killing when

SUE REFUSED

GANGSTERS

by W. T. BRANNON

HE CALL was received by
the dispatcher in the
office of Broward County
Sheriff Edward J. Stack
in Fort Lauderdale, Flor-
ida, at 3:22 p.m., Monday,
December 28, 1970. The
caller identified himself and said that
he and some companions had gone to
the C. Robert Markham County Park
to ride their motorcycles.

They were just off State Road 84
about seven and a half miles west of
Fort Lauderdale when they spotted
the bloody, beaten body of a blonde
woman, obviously dead, lying on her
back, her head resting on the bank
of a canal that is to be part of the

ark.

“Okay, Tll get a man out there

right away,” said the dispatcher.

He turned to Detective Bordoux,
told him of the call. “Go out there
and see what it’s all about,” he said.

Detective Bordoux was speeding
toward the scene when a radio call
came in from Trooper V. L. Keene
of the Florida Highway Patrol. He
said that he had been passing the
park when he was hailed by a group
of young men on motorcycles. They
showed him the body.

Trooper Keene was told that De-
tective Bordoux was on the way and
he said he would protect the scene
until the sheriff’s officers arrived.

Moments later, Detective Bordoux
arrived and made a cursory exam-
ination of the body. Then he hur-
ried to his radio and called the dis-

patcher back. “It's a homicide, all
right,” he said. “Better get the crime
lab and some homicide detectives out
here.”

The message was relayed to De-
tective Lieutenant Sam George, chief
of the homicide bureau, who left at
once, followed by Detective Ser-
geant Carl W. Carruthers and Tech-
nician Ernest LaRue in a mobile
crime lab.

As in every case where there is un-
usual police activity, a crowd seemed
to spring up out of the ground. Troop-
er Keene and Detective Bordoux
urged the people back and managed
to keep them at a -distance from
where the broken body of the blonde

lay.

Minutes later, official cars skidded
to a stop and Lieutenant George,
Sergeant Carruthers and Technician
LaRue hopped out.

“Over there,” said Detective Bor-
doux with a backward gesture of
his thumb.

The three detectives approached
the body cautiously because there
seemed to be both tire tracks and
footprints close by. The victim was a
blonde woman who appeared to be
about 30 years old. It was apparent
that she had been attractive in life,
even though her face now was bat-
tered from a beating probably in-
flicted with fists. Her blonde hair
was fairly short and freckles were
visible on her nose.

She wore a black banyan type
sweater with a turtle neck and long
sleeves, a gray herringbone mini-
skirt, panty hose, and black slippers
with medium height heels. There was
a bracelet on her right wrist and a
cocktail ring on a finger of her left

. hand.

The girl’s clothing was not torn or
in disarray and it appeared that she
had not been sexually molested, at
least at the scene.

Lieutenant George addressed the
crowd: “Any of you people know
who this girl is?”

Each of the spectators was allowed
to advance to a point where there
were no marks on the ground and
from where they could get a good
look at the victim. Each of them
studied her face for a few moments,
then shook his head negatively. Most
of the onlookers had been on their
way to or from Miami and had been
drawn to the scene by curiosity
when they noticed the police cars.
None of them lived in the area.

Meanwhile, Sergeant Carruthers
had taken a good look at the girl’s
wounds. In addition to the battered
face, there were some head injuries,
but it seemed that these were not
serious enough to be fatal. Thee
were two gunshot wounds, bullets
that had gone through her left hand
and arm. Both were through-and-
through wounds and the one which



had gone through her left arm ap-
peared to have plunged into her
chest. There were numerous small
puncture wounds in the arms and
upper torso. At first, the detectives
thought these were .22 caliber pistol
or rifle shots, but when they found
shotgun shell wadding, they decided
the small punctures had been made
by pellets from shotgun shells.

Technician LaRue succeeded in
making some good plaster casts of
the tire tracks and footprints. Each
of these was tagged with a descrip-
tion and inventory number and pre-
served in a plastic bag for possible
future evidence.

After he had completed making
the moulages, the detectives, who
had been joined by Homicide Detec-
tive James de Salvo and some uni-
formed deputies, began looking for
clues. There was no sign of the girl’s
purse, and her clothing had been
stripped of any identification there
might have been in it.

Near the body was a styrofoam
cup containing some dried coffee and
a short distance away was part of a
newspaper page, with jagged edges
where it had been torn, from the
Fort Lauderdale Sun-Sentinel of
December 26, 1970.

Sergeant Carruthers wasn’t sure
whether the paper was evidence or
not. He had read of cases where
criminals had been tied to crimes
when the jagged edges of part of a
newspaper page had been matched
to the edges of the other portion of

Rescue Squad attendants remove body of Sue Bacon (above) from
canal where she was found beaten, stabbed . . . and shot twice . . .

1



After motorcyclists discovered -

victim’s body in this park,
detectives began checking her f =
friends, business contacts

the newspaper page.

He was not optimistic that this
would be one of those rare cases, but
there was nothing to be lost by keep-
ing the paper, which he carefully
flattened out and preserved in a wide
plastic container in such a way that
the jagged edges wouldn’t be dam-
aged and, if he was lucky, could be
matched to other edges like a jig-
saw puzzle.

Lieutenant George, aided by his

homicide detectives, the technician
and Trooper Keene, searched a wide
area of the unfinished park. They
knew that the site had been autho-
rized for a public park and that funds

from various agencies had been allo-.

cated, but little actual work had
been done on it so far.

Although they combed every inch
along the canal, and between it and
the highway for a considerable dis-
tance, they found that the scene was

remarkably clean—from the view-
point of a homicide investigator, that
is. There were a few beer cans and
bits of other rubbish but all these
articles bore the signs of age, of
having been exposed to the elements
much longer than the girl’s body.

Lieutenant George and Sergeant
Carruthers estimated that the girl
had been dead no more than 24
hours, probably less.

Normally, the county medical ex-
aminer goes to the ~crime scene,
makes a preliminary examination
and arranges for the body to be re-
moved to a mortuary for an autopsy.

But at the time, Broward County
had no medical examiner. There had
been two until a short time before.
There had been an unexplained
death in the county and one of the
medical examiners had done an au-
topsy to determine the cause of
death.

A relative objected and filed suit,
claiming that the medical examiner
had no authority to order an autopsy.
The case had been taken, through
several appeals, to the Florida Su-
preme Court, which finally ruled that
the medical examiner had no au-
thority to order the autopsy; the
high court decreed that only the
prosecutor or a judge could autho-
rize a post mortem.

As a result of this decision, both
medical examiners had  resigned.
Broward County, which has a land
area of 1,219 square miles and a pop-
ulation of about 650,000, was left
without a medical examiner. How-
ever, both pathologists, who are
noted forensic specialists and had no
difficulty in finding work, have re-
mained on friendly terms with coun-
ty officials and agreed to continue
autopsies on a per-case basis, after
the authorization the Supreme Court
insisted upon had been obtained.

They no longer went to the crime
scene to make a preliminary exam-
ination, however, as they would have
done if they had been official med-
ical examiners. This could hamper
an investigation. The issue was still
unresolved when the body of the
unknown woman was found.

Sergeant Carruthers called the
sheriffs Chief of Detectives Robert
Danner and explained briefly what
had been found.

“QOkay,” said Chief Danner. “Get
in touch with the State Attorney and
see if he will authorize an autopsy,
then ask Dr. Haugen to perform it.”

Dr. Robert K. Haugen, who had
been one of the medical examiners,
was then a pathologist at Holy Cross
Hospital and when called upon he
performed autopsies in the hospital’s
morgue.

Sergeant Carruthers already had

-«

Lieutenant George, who directed the
initial investigation, confers here
with two members of Highway Patrol



Overall responsibility for the murder
probe was in hands of Sher. Stack

sent for an ambulance and when it
arrived, the body was picked up by
the attendants. Technician LaRue
had photographed it from several
angles and had completed this phase
of his duties.

When Sergeant Carruthers out-
lined the case to State Attorney
Philip Shailer, the prosecutor imme-
diately authorized a post mortem.
Sergeant Carruthers told the ambu-
lance men to deliver the body to
Holy Cross Hospital, then he tele-
phoned Dr. Haugen to tell him the
body was on the way. Dr. Haugen
readily agreed to perform the au-
topsy.

Leaving Detective de Salvo to
make inquiries at the few homes in
the area, which is near the edge of
the vast Everglades, the others re-
turned to the sheriff's office, where
they began checking the missing
persons files of the Fort Lauderdale
City Police and again drew a blank.
They tried Pompano Beach and oth-
er cities in the area, but they had no
better luck.

The next morning Polaroid pic~

»

Victim’s purse, shown here with its
contents displayed, was found
some distance away from the corpse

tures were made of the victim, after
the pathologist had cleaned off the
blood to try to make the girl more
recognizable. The pictures were giv-
en to a secretary in the sheriff’s of-
fice to file and when she looked at
them, she suppressed a scream.

“What’s the matter?” Sergeant
Carruthers asked.

The secretary said the picture
looked like her girl friend, Sue
Bacon, who lived with her parents in
a plush high-rise condominium
apartment in the fashionable Harbor
Beach section of Fort Lauderdale.

The Fort Lauderdale police were
contacted and they sent a set of fin-
gerprints taken from Susan Gail Bacon
in July, when she had applied for
a permit to work as a waitress in a
restaurant where liquor is served.
State law requires that such wait-
resses be fingerprinted. The prints
from Fort Lauderdale were com-
pared with a set taken from the vic-
tim by Technician LaRue and they
matched perfectly.

The secretary in the sheriff’s of-
fice gave Sergeant Carruthers the
name and address of a relative who
was a stock broker in Fort Lauder-
dale. He told Sergeant Carruthers
how to get in touch with Sue’s fa-
ther at his place of business. The fa-
ther later met Sergeant Carruthers.

The father said that Sue was 31
years old, that she was fairly inde-
pendent and came and went as she
pleased and her parents had little
control of ‘what she did. On the last
day they saw her, she told them she
was going to a party somewhere. The
grieving parents furnished the names
of a few of Sue’s friends, but said
they didn’t know all of them.

One proved to be a close girl
friend. She gave Sergeant Carruth-
ers the names of several individuals
she said she thought Sue had seen
on that fatal Sunday. Later, these
people came to the sheriff’s office
and gave voluntary statements. All
were cleared of suspicion.

The sheriff’s detectives had not yet
been able to establish a motive for
the slaying. They ruled out robbery
after Sergeant Carruthers had es-
tablished that the ring the victim
wore was custom made and a valu-
able piece of jewelry.

Early the morning of December
29th, the victim's purse was picked
up alongside the Florida Turnpike.
It was turned over to troopers of the
Florida Highway Patrol and the purse
ended up at the headquarters of the
Florida Turnpike Commission in
West Palm Beach, where it was held
in the lost and found department.

13
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Police learned Sue left this tavern with male friends shortly before her death

There was no identification in it
except a safety deposit key. This was
traced to Sue Bacon. Officials of the
depository said that only three per-
sons, including Sue, had keys to the
depository. The keys had been
changed and all the old ones recov-
ered except the one issued to Sue. It
was assumed, until now, that it had
been lost.

The purse was new looking, a
brown vinyl type that matched the
description of a purse Sue’s mother
said she had given the girl for
Christmas. In addition to various ar-
ticles usually found in a woman’s
purse, it contained a small amount
of money.

The detectives learned that Sue
had cashed a paycheck for $93 that
she had received on Christmas Eve
when she began a vacation from a
car leasing service where she
worked. Officials of the agency said
she had been scheduled to return to
work the day after New Year’s in
1971.

The trace of Sue’s background in-
dicated that she was of English par-
entage and was born in Bogota, Co-
lombia, where her father was em-
ployed by Shell Oil Company. The
detectives were told that the family
moved to Fort Lauderdale when the
girl was 15. They also learned that
she had attended some of the best
finishing schools in Europe and that
she spoke four languages fluently, in
addition to English.

Her command of French, Spanish
and German had made her especial-
ly valuable to the car leasing ser-
vice, which furnished cars for many
foreign visitors. It was reported that
Sue often met these customers when
they arrived in Fort Lauderdale, by

ship or plane, and was able to deal -

with them in their native tongues.

The detectives checking into her
background learned that Sue had
been employed by Goodbody &
Company, the country’s fifth largest

stock brokerage firm for about 10
yvears and that she had worked up to
the position of executive secretary
in the Fort Lauderdale office when
she resigned early in 1970.

Friends said that she went to
Jacksonville and took a job there to
get away from Fort Lauderdale and
a broken romance. But she had re-
turned after a few months and her
parents had persuaded her to give
up her apartment and move in with
them.

From then until the time of her
death she had held several jobs for
short periods. The detectives’ inves-
tigation indicated that the family had
independent means and it was not
necessary for Sue to work, She had
worked as a volunteer at Holy Cross
Hospital during parts of 1968 and
1969.

Her taking  jobs apparently
stemmed from her desire to be inde-
pendent. The detectives questioned
the various employers and each said
substantially the same thing: Miss
Bacon was very competent and got
along well with people but for some
reason she was restless and didn't
stay long on a job.

The detectives learned that Sue
numbered among her many friends
former Mayor and present City
Commissioner Ed Burry and Sheriff
Ed Stack. Others included some of
the city’s swinging singles and the
children of migrant laborers.

Meanwhile Dr. Haugen had com-
pleted the autopsy on the blonde
victim and he estimated that she had
been dead about 12 hours when she
was found. This would fix the time of
death at around 3 o’clock Monday
morning. The pathologist said that
two guns had been used—a 12 guage
shotgun which fired No. 8 birdshot
pellets, and a pistol, possibly .22 cal-
iber, but more likely .38 or .45 cal-
iber.

He said one shotgun blast had
struck her left hand and some of the

pellets had punctured her shoulder
and the upper part of her torso. This
shot had pierced the artery in her
left shoulder. The bullet had caused
a double
wound. First it had passed through
the fleshy part of her left arm, had
plunged into her chest and passed
through her heart, then had gone
through the girl’s back and out.

Dr. Haugen said that either shot
would have been fatal. The severed
artery in the shoulder had caused
enough loss of blood to be fatal and
the shot through the heart had pro-
duced instant death.

Although a search of the crime
area had been made at the time the
body was found and after it had
been removed, neither a shotgun
shell hull nor a spent bullet had been
found. Now, Sheriff Stack, who had
known Sue for a long time and thus
had a personal as well as profession-
al interest in finding the killers (the
use of more than one gun convined
the officers there had been more
than one) sent probers from several
units to the scene and they searched
every inch of the ground. They
found the hull of a No. 8 shotgun
shell fired from a 12 gauge shotgun,
but they didn’t find the bullet from
the pistol.

Sheriff Stack told them to use
shovels and dig up the sand in the
eight feet between where the body
had lain and the edge of the water.
He told them to sift the sand very
carefully in an effort to find the bul-
let. They began the tedious task.

Hearing of the search for the bul-
let and the weapons, a pawnbroker
in Miami contacted the sheriff’s de-
partment and said he had just bought
a 12 gauge shotgun. The hull and
the shotgun were taken to the Miami
police crime lab where ballistics tests
were made. It soon was established
that the gun sold to the Miami pawn-
broker had not fired the shotgun
shell.

Lieutenant  George, Detectives
Stubbs and Angelo Ferrinata and
Technician LaRue joined the others
who were digging for the expended
bullet. They dug up and sifted a lot
of sand, but they found no bullet.

Determined not to pass up any
chance, Sheriff Stack then engaged
skin divers to search the canal. They
dived and searched the bottom of
the canal for a week, but they came
up with nothing of any value. They
dug in the mud on the bottom of the
canal, but they failed to find the
bullet.

After Sergeant Carruthers had
talked to several of the slain girl’s
known friends, several stockbrokers
came in and made voluntary state-
ments, They said they had gone to
the Chit-Chat Lounge to watch the
football game between the Miami
Dolphins and the Oakland Raiders
on television.

They said that after the game was
over they moved to the Parrot
Lounge, where one of them tele-
phoned Sue Bacon and asked her to

through - and - through
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join them. She did. Having worked
so long at a brokerage house, she
was acquainted with all of them ex-
cept one man, to whom she was in-
troduced.

This man was among those who
gave statements. He said he now
lived in Sarasota, but until March of
1970, he had been with a brokerage
firm in Fort Lauderdale. His story
agreed with that of the other brokers
that the party at the Parrot Lounge
- had broken up at 10:30 and all had

gone home except Sue Bacon and
her new friend. :

Sue Bacon drove her car to the
Button Lounge, which is located in
the Holiday Inn on the corner of
Atlantic Boulevard and Las Olas
Boulevard, on the beach overlooking
the Atlantic Ocean. Sue was accom-
panied to the Button Lounge by her
new acquaintance. The Holiday Inn
and a bank nearby share a parking
lot, one section of it being designated
for the Inn, another for the bank.

The bank lot has only one exit, but
Sue knew this and used it to enter
the lot. They had several drinks at
the Button Lounge, and while they
were there a friend, who later made
a statement to Sergeant Carruthers,
asked her to dance. She told him
she couldn’t because she was with
somebody else. Shortly after this,
Sue and her escort left the Button
Lounge and Sue drove him back to
the Parrot Lounge, where she dropped
him off. It was then about 11:30.

She apparently returned directly to
the Button Lounge. Her car later was
found in the (Continued on page 67)

As murder probe picked up speed, James
Starrett (above) and Larry Shockey
(second from r., below) were questioned
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nebraska's riddle

HE CITY OF LINCOLN was enjoying unseasonably good

weather on the night of December 7, 1970, and the residents

of Nebraska’s capital city, along with everyone else in the

state, were talking about the chances of the University -of

Nebraska football team to be declared Number 1 in the

nation if they defeated the Tigers of the Louisiana State
University in the Orange Bowi at Miami, Florida.

Captain Robert Butcher, in command of the second shift of Lincoln
detectives, smiled indulgently as he heard the young officers on the
force discuss the merits of the Huskers, who were ranked third in the
nation with a chance to take it ail if Notre Dame defeated Texas in the
Cotton Bowl and Stanford knocked over Ohio State in the Rose Bowl.
Butcher knew that many of the younger officers on the force had
played football for Nebraska and that they had earned summer money
by serving under Police Chief Joe Carroll while they were in school.
At 9:57 p.m. his thoughts were interrupted by the shrill ringing of
the telephone on his desk.

The man at the other end of the line seemed deeply concerned as he
told Captain Butcher he wanted to report that his wife was missing.

He said his name was Antonio S. Vigil, that he drove a city bus and
that he had not seen his 23-year-old wife, Carol, since shortly after 9
a.m. on Saturday, December 5th.

Vigil said his wife, accompanied by their small son, Antonio III, had
appeared at a downtown cafe that she knew he frequented. She had
told him she wanted to go shopping and wanted him to take care of
the child.

He said that although he knew it was against bus company rules
for him to have the boy with him during working hours, he agreed.
Vigil explained that his shift on the bus was split—that he worked

by BILL BILLOTTE

Many things in the disappearance of Carol Vigil made no sense
at all. If she deserted her family of her own accord, as was
first believed, why had she left all her clothes behind? And

when her body finally turned up, two more questions cried out
for answers: 1. Why did the killer cut off her head? And

2. Where in the world had he hidden that head?




from 5:45 am. until 9:30 am, re-
turned to duty at noon, then drove
until 6:45 p.m.

Vigil said he drove around the city
looking for his wife that day, but he
couldn’t find her. He said that when
she left him to go shopping she was
wearing “baby blue” colored jeans,
white tennis shoes, a blue sweater and
a black jacket. He described his wife
as five-feet-four inches in height,
weight about 120 pounds. She had
l}:)llue eyes and medium length brown

air.

Virgil said that he had waited un-
til the time of his report hoping that
his wife would return home. Appar-
ently she had not returned to their

Flamethrowers cleared field, then tractors plowed the
tives searched area, but head of attractive Carol Vigil (r.) was not found

soil. Finally detec-

apartment at 310 South Eleventh
Street for her clothes or other per-
sonal effects. '

Captain Butcher had a missing per-
son report filled out, knowing that it
was entirely possible that he might
soon get another call reporting the
wife had returned home or sent a
message to her husband that she no
longer wanted the responsibility of
running a home. This sort of domes-
tic hassle was a common occurrence.

A preliminary investigation devel-
oped no evidences of foul play and
the case of Carol Vigil became another
missing person, her husband telling
friends he was convinced his wife
left him and their children.
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As police checked into the -case,
they found that on July 29, 1970, Mrs.
Vigil had signed papers giving the
Department of Public Welfare of Lan-
caster County, permission to keep two
of her children in foster homes. How-
ever, she made the specific provision
that she would not relinquish perma-
nent custody of the children—Kenneth
and Teresa.

At that time, she retained possession
of Antonio, and according to those
who knew her, seemed devoted to the
little boy. It was also learned that
the woman had been employed in a
Lincoln car wash, but she had re-
ceived her last check on November
11th after having worked there only
a month.

Most of those persons interviewed
who were acquainted with Carol said
they liked her, that she was easy to
get along with. There were rumors,
however, that sometimes she and her
husband had difficulties.

Other acquaintances of the couple,
questioned about the stocky, 28-year-
old bus driver, said that he was pop-
ular with regular patrons who rode
his bus; he liked to chat with the
riders as he tooled his bus along the
Lincoln streets. High school young-
sters said he was one of the nicest
drivers they encountered, that he liked
to engage in friendly banter and
didn’t “bug them” about trifles.

The mother of one high school girl
said she knew her daughter had vis-
ited at the Vigil apartment with some
other young people; after the mother
had met Vigil she saw nothing wrong
with the visit.

County Attorney Paul Douglas worked alongside detectives in the investi-

Shortly after Antonio Vigil had re-
ported his wife missing, police
learned, he appeared at the Welfare
Department. He said he was having
difficulty in caring for young Antonio
and signed papers stating he was
willing to have the child taken care
of by the authorities.

The customary investigation ac-
corded a missing person report pro-
ceeded without any facts Dbeing
brought to light that would give the
police any grounds on which to take
action. The days passed and even in-
terest in the Christmas holiday in the
football-mad state was overshadowed
by feverish interest in the outcome of
the football game at the Orange Bowl.
All tickets were sold and scalpers
were beginning to move in as it be-
came known that 16,000 Nebraskans
were going to converge on Miami by
highway and plane to witness the
showdown on the night of New Year’s
Day, 1971.

And then, on December 30th, there
was a development that took the case
out of the routine missing persons file
and focused the full efforts of the
Lincoln Police Department, as well as
the Lancaster County Sheriff’s Office,
on the fate of Carol Vigil. Acting on
a tip, deputies of Sheriff Merle Kar-
nopp went to a railroad bridge on the
outskirts of Lincoln.

There they found, under the bridge,
the pathetic remnants of the clothes
which Mr. Vigil said his wife had
been wearing the last time he had
seen her, when she told him she was
going on the Christmas shopping trip

gation and he will head the prosecution when the suspect goes to court

Ch. of Detectives Robert Sawdon agreed
to go, alone and unarmed, with slaying
suspect in search for the victim’s corpse

from which she never returned. They
found the light blue slacks, the sweat-
er, a white tennis shoe and the jacket.

They also found a badly torn black
brassiere and ripped panties. All were
stained with what appeared to be
blood.

The deputies contacted their head-
quarters and were instructed to se-
cure the area, exercising care not to
disturb any physical evidence. The
Lincoln Police Department, which has
always had excellent relations with
the county authorities, were informed
of the development.

When Chief Carroll, one of the most
respected officers in the state, was told
of the discovery, he knew that what
had seemed to be a routine missing
persons case was now a brand new
ball game.

Chief Carroll led with his ace—
calling in Chief of Detectives Robert
J. Sawdon and telling him to take per-
sonal command of the investigation.
Carroll and Sawdon have been instru-
mental in solving scores of tough



cases, including that of the infamous
Charles Starkweather, who was sent
to the Nebraska electric chair after
killing 11 persons.

A dapper dresser with a crisp way
of speaking, Sawdon has two short
fingers on his gun hand. You have
to know him a long time before you
find out how he lost those fingers. He
was a captain during the heavy World
War Two fighting in the hedgerows
of Normandy, in command of Com-
pany F of the Twenty-eighth Division,
an outfit which relieved the fighting
134th Divislon of Nebraska when it
was almost decimated outside St. Lo
in 1944,

“I was throwing back those Ger-
man grenades pretty good until one
of them went off just as it left my
hand,” Sawdon remembers. “I woke
up twelve hours later in a Jeep with
a wounded German on the way to an
aid station when we hit a land mine.
I woke up that time in a hospital.”

Sawdon was awarded a Bronze
Star and a Purple Heart after that
action. Criminals who have met Saw-
don have never had reason to believe
his injuries affected his ability to han-
dle a pistol.

Taking over direct control of the
investigation, while keeping in close
contact with Captain Butcher, anoth-
er veteran of the force with high
qualifications, Sawdon moved the in-
vestigation into high gear,

Antonio Vigil, informed of the dis-
covery of the clothes under the bridge,
appeared to be shocked as he identi-
fied them as those his wife had been
wearing the last time he had seen her.
Sawdon requested that Vigil be
brought from Sheriff Karnopp’s office
to police headquarters for further
questioning. Then Sawdon and Deputy
Sheriff Ed Kringle went to the bridge
under which the clothing had been
found. The scene had been under con-
stant guard since the important dis-
covery of the clothes had been made.

Meanwhile, crack investigators
from both the sheriff’s office and the
police were fanning out to gather ev-
ery pertinent fact which, they were
now convinced, would soon change a
missing person case.into a homicide.

Captain Lowell Sellmeyer of the
Lincoln police and Sergeant Marvin
Morgan of the Identification Bureau
went to the Vigil apartment, hoping
that despite the time which had
elapsed since Mrs. Vigil had been de-

clared missing, they might still find

vital clues.

They found Deputy Sheriffs Dale
Dahlheimer and William Coleman al-
ready there. Also there were two
young women, and a young man who
said that he had moved into the apart-
ment with Vigil on December 28th
at the bus driver’s invitation. While
the officers carefully inspected the
premises, the trio was taken to po-
lice headquarters for further ques-
tioning.

Sergeant Morgan made a sketch of
the apartment and the others checked
each room. Stains that looked as if

Antonio Vigil told cops that nigh

they might be blood were found on a
mirror to a medicine cabinet in the
bathroom. A bucket with russet col-
ored stains on the inner side and rags
found in the bucket were carefully
marked as evidence and put to one
side.

A doorknob which appeared to have
stains on it was removed, and a mat-
tress cover was confiscated as evi-
dence. Vigil’s car, a 1958 Pontiac sta-
tion wagon, white over green, was
ordered impounded and taken to the
police garage, where identification
men and detectives made a minute
inspection of the interior and exterior.

While the investigating officers were
at the Vigil apartment they fielded
two telephone calls, both from wom-
en, after midnight. One caller asked
for “Tony,” and hung up when she
realized she was not talking to him.

/
t before she vanished, his wife had gone
to a party and was jealous when another woman “naturally had eyes for me”

Another wanted to know if a party
was scheduled, and when was it sup-
posed to start.

As the investigators painstakingly
gathered evidence, Vigil continued to
express concern for the fate of his
wife. He continued to maintain he
had not seen her since she had left
him to go shopping.

The young man who had been found
in the Vigil apartment and who was
taken to headquarters for questioning
appeared willing to cooperate with
police. He repeated his story about
being asked by Vigil to share the
apartment with him on December
28th. He said that at no time had Vigil
indicated to him that he had had any-
thing to do with the disappearance
of his wife. He said that his friend had
told him he wanted a divorce and that
unless she (Continued on page 76)
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“bank robbery
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Even the terrified hostages whose lives for hours

hung on the unpredictable twitch of a trembling trigger finger

can scarcely believe the weird things that happened in

new york’
wackiest

by GEORGE CARPOZI JR.

Three female bank tellers, seen here in back of police car, were kidnaped by
bandits who held hostages’ heads outside car windows with guns at their temples

HEN the Nassau
Trust Company
opened its sixth
and newest branch
last spring in
fashionable Locust
Valley on Long
. Island, in New
York, no expense was spared to
make this banking facility a suburban
depositor’s dream. Esthetically, the
building and its decor, in American
Colonial design were the last word in
architectural appeal. Nothing was
overlooked in making the office one
of the most attractive banks in all
of Nassau County.

Well, you could say almost nothing
was overlooked. For it would seem
that either because of their compul-
sion to create a structure that de-
parted from the concentional, insti-
tutionalized look of most banks, or
because they might have been caught
up in their enthusiasm to create a
thing of beauty, they never got to
the basic essential of installing a lit-
tle thing like a burglar alarm on the
casement windows of the building.

And so on the last day of the year,
December 31, 1970, a day when most
people were preoccupied with
thoughts of celebrating New Year’s
Eve, three husky strangers from
New York City came to Nassau
Trust’s Locust Valley bank to make




a withdrawal which unquestionably
would have made their revelry that
night as jubilant as anyone could
wish for. But the method they chose
for taking funds out of the bank was
a bit unorthodox. They ignored the
ordinary office hours of 9 am. to 3
pm. and arrived, instead, sometime
around midnight.

Their mode of entry was different,
too. They couldn’t walk in through
the front door because it was locked.
So was the casement window near-
est the street on the north wall of
the bank-—but it wasn’t locked after
one of the three men smashed a
small hole in a pane of glass and
sprang the latch.

As anybody knows, the mere feat
of entering a bank when the man-
ager, his assistants, and all the tell-
ers are home sleeping does not a
rich man make. Access to the vault is
the key to any successful bank bur-
glary, not to mention a clean get-
away.

And like all members of the Fed-
eral Deposit Insurance Corp., Nassau
Trust’'s Locust Valley branch keeps
its cash safely tucked away in the
vault, and nobody can get in until
the automatic timing device releases
the lock at a pre-set time in the
morning, just before the bank opens
for business. Even then the door of
the vault can’t be opened until two
people—each with only half the com-
bination memorized—do their thing
on the tumblers.

The intruders, of course, knew this
and that is why they waited all night
inside the bank and why they were
so happy to see Robert Benson, 45,
the manager, unlock the front door
and make his entrance at 8:15 am.
Happy, did we say? That’s only an
assumption  because their faces
weren’t showing when the trio greet-
ed Benson with a pair of guns and a
knife. They were wearing ski masks.

“Now take it nice and easy and
you’ll be all right,” one of the gun-
men snapped. He ordered Benson to
one of the executive offices in the
back of the bank and held him at
bay there while his two confederates
remained hidden behind the vesti-
bule walls awaiting the arrival of
the other employes.

At 8:25, William Howell, a vice
president of the bank who lives in
Locust Valley and makes it his busi-
ness to start his round of inspection
of the branches by stopping at the
local office first, came to the front
door and knocked on the glass pane.

“You go open that door and be
sure you act natural,” the bandit
covering Benson ordered. Benson
obeyed, and Howell was whisked to
the office in the back along with the
manager.

The next to arrive was Robert An-
nunziato, 30, the head teller, who
had his own key to the front door.
When he came in, the two men wait-
ing behind the vestibule walls
jumped him and hurried him into
the rcom with Benson and Howell.

Under cover of darkness, three masked men broke a window pane (above) and

climbed into the bank. Then they calmly sat down and waited for the bank to
open. The robbers didn't loose their cool, even when cops arrived (below)

i
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In the following five minutes, the
branch’s three women tellers ar-
rived almost on each other’s heels,
and each was taken captive and led
to the office in back. For these last
three employes—Mrs. Maria Van
Cuilinburg, 40; Mrs. Cathy Dunlap,
30, and Miss Karen Patten, 20—the
bandits broke out handcuffs and
manacled their hands behind their
backs. Then they gagged the fright-
ened women with adhesive tape and
led them into a washroom. Before
closing the door, the man with the
knife warned them not to try and
get out.

The robbers then turned their at-
tentions to the three men.

“Which of you knows the combi-
nation of that vault?” the gunman
who had spoken to Benson earlier
wanted to know.

Benson and Howell both respond-
ed that they each had part of the
combination.

“Okay,” said the bandit, “go ahead
and open it.”

The holdupmen’s timing was per-
fect. It was 8:45 am.—exactly when
the automatic timing device frees
the lock. The manager and vice pres-
ident went to the vault and spun the
dials which unbolted the door, then
swung it open.

One of the bandits reached down
on the floor and picked up a green
duffel bag that the robbers had
brought with them. Another reached
for a smaller canvas bag which was
lying empty on a shelf in the vault.

The thug with the gun who had
been barking orders to the bank
officials snapped another command.
“Take the money and stufl it into
these bags,” he said to Benson and
Howell. As they entered the vault
to comply with that injunction, two
of the bandits went inside with them
and joined the manager and vice
president in emptying the cash
drawers and stuffing stacks of $20’s,
$10’s, $5’s, and even $1 bills, all neat-
ly packeted, into the two bags.

The bandit with the gun stood
guard at the doors of the vault with
his weapon trained on Benson and
Howell. Now and then he craned his
neck and nervously glanced up at
the clock on the wall. He was ob-
viously concerned with the timing.
It was now 8:55 and in just five min-
utes the bank’s doors were sched-
uled to be opened to admit the
early-bird customers.

“Hurry up, hurry up,” he said, and
his voice was edging on anxiety, if
ilcEt fear. “We ain’t got much time
eft...”

Suddenly the gunman swiveled to-
ward the row of desks along the
side opposite the tellers’ windows
and seemed to be staring through
his ski mask at something that
would not normally be cause for
consternation. It was the phone on
Benson’s desk. It was ringing.

He ‘turned back quickly and as-
sured his confederates, “It’s only the
phone.” It might have made a great

SR

Karen Patten (with unidentified man) was told to warn cops: “Let us through . . .
or we're gonna kill your friends,” meaning Mrs. Cuilenburg, Mrs, Dunlap (I. & c.)

deal of difference if it had been an
alarm—and yet what the three ban-
dits didn’t know was that when Ben-
son and Howell had opened the safe
they had “neglected” to shut off the
automatic silent alarm which is nor-
mally disengaged before the doors
are opened.

By not shutting off the circuit,
Benson and Howell caused the alarm
to go off in the offices of the Amer-
ican District Telegraph Co., which
monitors danger signals from virtu-
ally all banks in this part of the
country. The ADT immediately
alerted the nearest authorities—
those of the 2nd Precinct of the Nas-
sau County Police Department in
neighboring Woodbury.

The precinct immediately dis-
patched Patrolmen Frank Leitner
and Bernard McLean, both cruising
in the vicinity in their separate mo-
tor patrol cars, to find out why the
alarm had gone off at the bank.

Almost at the same instant that
the ADT alert came into the Wood-
bury station house, another call was
received from Howard Westlake, a
vice president of the Nassau Trust
Co. in the neighboring city of Glen
Cove, the bank’s main office, ex-
pressing concern about the situation
at the branch in Locust Valley.

Westlake, who explained to the
desk officer that it is his habit to
phone the manager, Benson, every
morning at 8:55, reported that his
call went unanswered.

“Something must be wrong there,”
Westlake said. When he was in-
formed the ADT had just reported
receiving the silent alarm from the
bank and that patrolmen were being

sent to look into the matter, West-
lake decided to go to Locust Valley
himself.

By now the bandits had stuffed a
considerable amount of cash into the
duffel bag and filled the smaller can-
vas bag with coins, but they were
nowhere near their goal of emptying
the vault of all of its contents. As it
was to be learned later, the vault
held more than $50,000 but at 8:59
am. some $500 in coin had been
packed in the canvas container and
another $18,752 had been put into
the duffel bag.

And that was as much as the ban-
dits would have time to gather up.
For at precisely that moment Pa-
trolmen Leitner and McLean were
on the scene. They made their pres-
ence known when Leitner, spotting
the bandits in the vault from a van-
tage point at one of the casement
windows at the side of the bank,
fired a warning shot which was an-
swered by two rounds from the gun
held by the robber who had been
standing as the lookout at the door
of the safe. The bullets broke win-
dows but hit no one.

“Let’s get out of here!” he shouted.
~ His accomplices quickly picked up
the two bags of bills and coin and
headed out, herding the three bank
officials in front of them. Suddenly,
two shots rang from the back, shat-
tering the glass of the rear door. It
was Patrolman McLean, who com-
manded, “Don’t move, we've got you
covered.”

The bandit who had fired at Leit-
ner, wheeled and triggered a shot
back at the patrolman. The bullet
cracked another window.



“You'd better back off!” the gun-
man warned. “We've got hostages
and you’d better not do any more
shooting.”

The three bandits quickly round-
ed up the three bank officials and
herded them into the executive office
adjoining the vault. They clamped
handcuffs on Benson, Howell, and
Annunziato, then led them to the
washroom where the three women
were being kept prisoners.

“All right, girls, get out!” com-
manded the bandit who had been
shouting orders all along. As the ter-
rified women emerged from their
cramped quarters, the gunman de-
manded, “Which of you has a car
outside?”

“My car is outside,” Karen Patten
replied.

“The keys, give me the keys,” he
snapped.

The keys were in Miss Patten’s
handbag, which had been left on a
desk when her hands were manacled.
One of the bandits went to the bag,
took out the keys, and turned to
Miss Patten.

“What kind of a car is it—where
is it parked?” he wanted to know.

“A tan Valiant,” she responded.
“It’s in the parking lot.”

The bandit then yelled to Patrol-

man McLean, who was still standing
near the back door holding his fire,
“Get us that Valiant! Drive it up to
the door. If you don’t follow those
orders we'll kill the hostages!”

By now some 20 police cars and
about 40 patrolmen and detectives
were on the scene, the bank was
surrounded, and more lawmen were
pouring into the area. But sheer
numbers could not alter what was
quickly assessed as a ‘“hopeless sit-
uation” ...

The bandits had the hostages and
they were in command.

While detectives questioned bank’s manager, more than 5 dozen of their colleagues

The only thing the police could do
was obey the order to bring the Val-
iant up to the door. The bandit talk~
ing to McLean opened the back door
and tossed him Miss Patten’s car
keys.

“We want the car backed up to
this door,” the gunman, still wearing
his ski mask like the other two rob-
bers, told the policeman.

McLean took the keys to Detective
Sergeant Donald White, who had ar-
rived with Detectives Conrad Miller
and Brian Sullivan a few minutes
earlier in an unmarked squad car.
White, who by now had fully as-
sessed the peril to the hostages and
had heard what the bandit had told
McLean about getting the car, gave
the patrolmen clearance to back up
the vehicle to the rear door.

The Valiant, with New York plates
8622-MW, owned by Miss Patten’s
mother, was brought to the door by
McLean, who left the keys in the ig-
nition and the motor running. As the
car was being backed to the door,
Miller turned to Sullivan and point-
ed to the sticker on the rear bumper.
It read: “Respect Law and Order.
Nassau County PBA.”

Inside the bank, the interval in
bringing the car into position for the
getaway enabled the bandits to pre-
pare for the escape. They pushed
Howell and Annunziato into the rest
room and closed the door with a
warning “Stay there . . . don’t try to
leave.” Then they grouped the three
women and Benson in front of them
and made them lead the way out
the back door.

When they reached the car, one of
the robbers directed the women into
the back seat and then squeezed
himself in with them. The other two
bandits were about to force Benson
into the front seat, then suddenly
changed their minds.

were chasing three gunmen who’s main concern seemed to be a traffic ticket . . .

“You stay put,” one of the hold-
up men ordered.

The two robbers got in and the car
moved slowly out of the bank park-
ing lot onto South 4th Street, pass-
ing a number of the nearly two doz-
en police cars massed around the
building. The patrolmen and detec-
tives stood by futilely. They could
not make a move to capture the
bandits, for they could see the man
in the back seat holding a gun to the
temple of the girl next to him. ]

“Let them go and we won't chase
you,” Sergeant White shouted a last
ditch appeal which was ignored.

As the car reached the corner of
South 4th and Forest Avenue, a
main thoroughfare through Locust
Valley, the driver made a right turn
heading north. White and his part-
ners, Miller and Sullivan, quickly
jumped into their cruiser and gave
chase.

What followed then was the group-
ing of police pursuers for what was
to be the most cockeyed chase in the
New York Metropolitan area’s his-
tory, if not the country’s. Even a
Peter Seller’s movie would be hard
pressed to outdo this zany chase.

One by one, all the police cars
around the bank fell in behind Ser-
geant White’s cruiser until the pro-
cession of vehicles resembled a mo-
torcade as it wound its way over
local streets heading toward heavily-
traveled Northern Boulevard, an
east-west artery that cuts through
Nassau and Queens, one of New
York City’s five boroughs.

The incredible pursuit was further
characterized from its inception by
a total lack of haste. The getaway
car bearing the bandits and hostages
was content to observe town speed
limits of 35 and 40 mph—and even
stopped at red lights. And the nearly
24 police cars that were following
were satisfied with both the pace and
the position each held in the line.

But the policemen were all aware
of what was happening, right down
to those bringing up the very rear
of the strange caravan. For they
were being kept apprised of the
progress and routes of the chase by
radio. The lead police car bearing
White, Miller, and Sullivan was in
constant communication with the dis~
patcher at police headquarters in
Mineola, and the precise details of
the route of the chase were being
transmitted every few seconds.

This information enabled the for-
mulation of some quick decisions at
headquarters that were designed to
facilitate the capture—when the op-
portunity came. But that opportunity
was not now as the bandits led their
police pursuers onto Cedar Swamp
Road, heading south.

At this juncture, some eight min-
utes since the chase began in Locust
Valley, a Nassau County police heli-
copter was airborne and homing in
on the getaway car. Another depart-
ment chopper, which was doing shore
patrol duty over Long Beach and

23



24

Jones Beach on the South Shore, was
ordered to join the caravan, and
minutes later the Suffolk County po-
lice copter was volunteered into ser-
vice and sped westward to make its
contribution as a spotter from the
sky.

By 9:25 a.m., the overall supervis-
ion of the chase was taken over by
Chief of Detectives Edward F. Cur-
ran, who was plotting the course on
a map and, working against time,
trying to second-guess the canny
thieves by sending police cars from
other areas to intersections that were
being approached by the getaway
car.

The object was to find an oppor-
tunity to cut off the Valiant, but the
first two such occasions met with
failure, Police cars that were posted
at Cedar Swamp and North Hemp-
stead Turnpike could not move in,
nor could the cruisers that were
waiting at North Hempstead and
Glen Cove Road. In both instances
the would-be ambushers saw how
hopeless—and perilous—it would be
to interrupt the fugitives’ flight.

The bandit in the back seat was
still holding the gun against one of
the women’s heads. From time to
time, to make certain that the police
were aware of their intentions, the
bandit sitting beside the driver
would turn in his seat, take one of
the terrified hostages by the neck,
and shove her head out the window.
As he held her in that position with
one hand, he put a gun in the other
hand against her head.

Sergeant White, who could see
these menacing gestures from his
lead position in the line of police
cars, kept headquarters advised of
these moves. Curran then abandoned
all plans to cut off the getaway car
and, instead, placed full reliance on
the pursuing vehicles. Sooner or
later, he reasoned, the chase would
have to end. The Valiant’s gas sup-
ply was not limitless and the ques-
tion of how far the car could go de-
pended on its fuel. But no one ex-
cept the occupants of the fugitive
auto had any idea where the needle
on the fuel gauge was pointing.

Although the pursuing policemen
had ample weapons to deal with the
situation—their  vehicles contained
rifles and shotguns, as well as the of-
ficers’ own service revolvers—none
had any tear gas gerenades. Curran
felt there was a need for these in
this circumstance and he called for
a police emergency van to join the
caravan.

The van, bearing six policemen, all
of them heavily armed, fell into the
middle of the line as the parade of
police vehicles, now grown to 35,
continued to tail the bandits and
their hostages.

It was 9:40 a.m. The improbable
chase had gone some dozen miles
and had turned into the westbound
lanes of Hillside Avenue heading
into Williston Park, Still the speeds
were sedate and the fugitives were

seemingly content with the status
quo. It appeared they were not try-
ing to outrace their pursuers but
merely trying to reach a terminal,
wherever that might be, and in the
process give their chasers the slip.

The route the thieves were taking
began to look more and more as
though it would lead into New York
City. That became even more obvi-
ous when the Valiant took a turn
north onto Willis Avenue and head-
ed for the entrance to the six-lane
Northern State Parkway. When the
bandits passed the eastbound ramp,
which would have taken them fur-
ther out on the Island, and turned
into the westbound side of the park-
way, the police knew the robbers
were trying to get to the city.

Curran alerted police headquar-
ters in Manhattan, which immediate-
ly dispatched radio patrol cars to
take up positions along the Grand
Central Parkway in Queens, which
borders on the Nassau line and
where the Northern State becomes
the Grand Central. It's the same
parkway; only the names are dif-
ferent.

At the same time, a police heli-
copter from the NYPD’s air fleet was
pressed into spotter duty, joining the
two choppers from Nassau’s police
department and the one from Suf-
folk’s that were hovering over the
weird caravan now cruising along at
50 mph, the speed limit on the park-
way. :

The caravan—and that’s exactly
what it looked like from the air to
the four copter pilots—coursed along
the Northern State for a little more
than four miles and as the thieves
and their hostages approached the
Grand Central portion of the park-
way, Sergeant White filed another
advisory on his radio:

“We're going into Queens . . . Any
instructions?”
“Yes,” replied the voice from

headquarters, “the chief says to stay
on their backs. Don’t lose them!”

The time now was almost 10
o'clock sharp—the chase had been
on for nearly 50 minutes. And the
end was still not in sight.

About two miles into the Borough
of Queens, the fugitive Valiant took
a cloverleaf turn off the Grand Cen-
tral, a point where two New York
City police cars were waiting. The
patrolmen had been directed not to
interfere with the getaway car un-
less they were absolutely certain
they could capture the bandits with-
out harm to the hostages. The police-
men saw they could not cut off the
car, and so they did the fashionable
thing—they joined all the other cars.
Now by actual count there were 40
police cars, not to overlook the po-
lice van. The total number of po-
licemen? Exactly 70! This had now
become the chase to end all chases.

The cloverleaf turn taken by the
fugitive vehicle led onto the Cross-
Island Parkway, a link in the Belt
Parkway system, a circumferential

highway network along the outer
edges of Queens and Brooklyn
which, if followed to its extremities
could put a motorist on the super
highways leading west to Pittsburgh,
Cleveland, and onward to the Great
Plains, not to mention the Rockies
and California.

But the bank robbers did not have
their sights set on those destinations.
They had ideas of going elsewhere,
as the three women hostages sud-
denly learned to their utter dismay.
The victims were introduced to their
new fright when their captors drove
off the Cross Island Parkway at the
turnoff to, of all places, Kennedy
International Airport.

It wasn’t until the car, now trail-
ing its police pursuers along the Van



Wyck Expressway turned into the
sprawling airport, that the women
heard what the bandits had in mind.

“We've gotten this far,” the thug
beside the driver said, “so let’s go a
little further and grab a plane to
Europe or Africa.”

With that, the driver veered off
the expressway onto a dirt road that
brought them past the United Air-
lines Terminal to the taxi ramp. The
car was braked to a stop a mere 20
feet from a United jet on the apron,
where it was taking on passengers
for a trans-Atlantic hop.

Suddenly realizing that the ban-
dits were determined to go through
with their idea to fly to Europe or
Africa, Miss Patten asked:

“Will we have to go with you?”

“No, not all of you,” the bandit
beside the driver answered. “Only
one of you...”

‘This struck new terror in the

women, but it was brief, One of the
bandits spotted the helicopters hov~
ering overhead and suddenly the
plans to hijack the airliner went
awry.
“Let’s get the hell out of here,”
said the one holding the gun to the
hostages’ heads. “The cops are all
around us.”

The trailing police cars had begun
to fan out in an attempt to form a
circle around the fugitives’ auto, but
the strategy did not come off. The
bandits quickly caught on to the ploy
and didn’t give the police a chance.

They barreled off, back to the Van
Wyck Expressway—with the motor-
cade of police cars still behind—and
went deeper into the airport.

Now the bandits seemed lost, for
this was not the way to freedom.
But the driver of the Valiant must
have gotten his bearings because he
turned off the expressway, went into
the KLM Airlines cargo area, cir-
cled a hangar, and returned to the
expressway lanes leading out of
Kennedy.

Soon he was back on the Cross Is-
land Parkway, picking up the route
he had detoured from, and heading
into Brooklyn. But just before cross-
ing the borough line from Queens,
the getaway car turned in another di-
rection, off the Cross Island and into
the maze of crowded streets in the
Woodhaven section of Queens.

Now the chase had slowed to a
crawl and Sergeant White reported
to headquarters, “I think we can get
them . . . it’s only a matter of time
now.”

It was only a matter of time. The
time was 10:20 p.m.—the chase had
been on an hour and 10 minutes and
had covered 45 miles of Nassau,
Queens, and finally Brooklyn streets.
The vehicle bearing the bandits and
their hostages crossed into the Bor-
ough of Churches in the East New
York section and suddenly found
the going too cumbersome in the
heavy traffic of Bushwick Avenue.

A turn was made into Chauncey

Only one person was hurt in the unusual cops and robbers chase. Lee Johnson
was in hospital being treated for a head injury (below), while his companions,
Peter Durant (I.) and Moncure Fautner (r.), were being booked by police .

Street which took them to Ever-
green Avenue, followed by a left
turn into Moffat Street; then another -
left took the Valiant heading back
to Bushwick Avenue.

By this time, the many changes of
direction the getaway car had taken
enabled the police cars to disperse
over a wide area and begin sealing
off escape routes. The coup de grace
was administered by Detectives
Charles Rush and Leroy Darling
when they put their cruiser squarely
across the intersection of Moffat and
Bushwick.

As he drove down the last block of
Moffat and spotted the police car
blocking the way into Bushwick Av-
enue, the bandit driver braked the
Valiant. (Continued on page 61)
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“MATERNIT
- EMERGENCY

s

SET UP A

OP-KILLING

by BILL ORMSBY

Smart police officers nowadays are on their guard when dispatched

to potentially dangerous areas, but someone with murder in their

heart cannily figured the Minnesota policeman would forget

about normal precautions when responding to

a “’baby about to be born’ call . . . especially when

the location was across the street from a church!

HERE APPEARED to be gen-

uine panic in the voice of a

young woman who telephoned

the St. Paul, Minnesota, Police

Department at 12:04 on the

morning of May 22, 1970, and
pleaded for assistance. Identifying
herself as “Mrs. Brown,” the caller
advised the dispatcher that her sister
was in labor at 839 Hague Avenue
and that she feared the mother-to-be
would deliver a child, unassisted, mo-
mentarily.

“Please hurry, officer,” the woman
said, “the pains are coming every two
minutes and I'm scared—I've never
been through this before.”

“All right, lady,” the dispatcher re-

plied, “just try to stay calm and we'll
have a car there shortly.”

After quickly checking the location
of the district cars in the vicinity of
the emergency, the
signed the run to Patrolmen James T.
Sackett and Glen Kothe, who were
cruising nearest the Hague Avenue
address.

“Advise if an ambulance is needed,”
the dispatcher said when Patrolman
Kothe radioed back seconds later say-
ing that he and his partner had ar-
rived at the scene.

“Right,” Kothe replied, and hung the
patrol car microphone back in its cra-
dle on the dashboard.

A few minutes later Patrolman

dispatcher as-.

Kothe was back on the police radio
requesting an ambulance—but it
wasn’t for the expectant mother.

It was for Patrolman Sackett, who
had been ambushed by sniper fire
while attempting to perform his mis-
sion of mercy.

Although Kothe’s voice was con-
trolled and intelligible, it reflected an-
ger and tension as he threw the
switch of his radio on two-way and
warned all cars to turn off their head
lights and enter the area with ex-
treme caution.

“Are you under fire?” the dispatch-
er asked.

“Not at the moment,” Kothe re-
plied, “but this could be a set-up. It’s



Parolman Kothe (above) said Officer
Sackett (I.) was still trying to draw his
revolver as he fell shot in the back

darker’'n a sonofabitch out here and
I don’t know where the shot came
from.”

“You all right?” the concerned ra-
dioman asked.

“Yeah, don’t worry about me—it’s
Jim, he’s down and bleeding like hell,”
the veteran cop said.

It was only seconds later that a
police-escorted ambulance was on the
scene and and the entire block was
swarming with cruisers, unmarked
units out of the detective bureau and
volunteer vehicles from the Ramney
County sheriff’s office. Within minutes
after the alarm went out, assistance
was being offered by the police de-
partment of Minneapolis, St. Paul’s
twin city just across the Mississippi
River.

Although numerous law enforce-
ment agencies in the area would in
time be called upon for cooperation,
none at the moment could help Pa-

trolman Sackett. He was pronounced
dead shortly after being sped to St.
Paul-Ramsey Hospital.

According to Police Chief Richard
Rowan and Captain Ernest Williams,
head of the homicide division, the 27-
year-old officer was killed by the slug
of a large-caliber high-powered rifle
which had been aimed at the small of
the rookie cop’s back.

“Jim never had a chance to defend
himself,” Patrolman Kothe told hom-
icide detectives in relating what hap-
pened when he and his partner
walked into a trap which had obvious-
ly been set by the mysterious “Mrs.
Brown.”

“Could you tell from which direction
the shot was fired?” Captain Williams
asked Patrolman Kothe.

“No, I was at the back of the house
when it happened,” the surviving
partner said. “When we didn’t get any
response at the front door,” Kothe
continued, “I went around to the rear,
thinking maybe the house was occu-
pied by more than one family. Before
I even had a chance to knock on the
door, I head the shot. When I ran
around to the front I found Jim on
the ground, just a few feet from
where I'd left him.”

The officer said Sackett, who had
been on the force only 18 months, was
writhing in pain and attempting to
get to his service revolver when his
partner found him mortally wounded.
Kothe told the homicide investigators
he saw nobody in the area when he
came from the backyard. He had
heard only the single shot. The officer
also said that he did not hear an auto
leave the area, nor did he detect the
sounds of anyone fleeing on foot.

While a team of detectives was get-
ting a rundown on the incident from
Patrolman Kothe, uniformed police
barricaded every conceivable escape
route out of the area and K-9 units
were rushed into the neighborhood to
search out every possible hiding place.
Pitch-dark alleys and backyards
which 15 minutes before were inhab-
ited only by rats and scavenger house-
cats were suddenly populated by heav-
ily armed men in blue who moved
cautiously into the shadows, acutely
aware that even though the piercing
beams of their flashlights might un-
cover a cop-killer, the illumination
made them easy targets for a sniper
who might be willing to exchange his
life for those of several lawmen.

In the meantime, a horde of inves-
tigators out of the various detective
bureaus and the intelligence division
followed on the heels of house-
searching uniformed cops to question
residents. The search-and-quiz opera-
tion began across the street from
where Patrolman Sackett was gunned
down in cold blood. Before the night
was out the painstaking line of ques-
tioning extended throughout the im-
mediate neighborhood.

“The story was pretty much the
same everywhere we went,” homicide
chief Williams said later. “With the
exception of a couple of people who
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Chief of detectives Captain Williams

headed the investigation into the am-
bush shooting of the rookie patrolman

Unidentified detective searches for clues in front of the house where Patrolman Sackett was slain. Light tag on post

said they heard somebody running
down an alley shortly after the shot
was fired, about everyone was either
in bed asleep or were distracted by
television when it all happened.”

After talking to the persons who
had heard running footsteps, police
were still in the dark about how many
persons were involved in the appar-
ently well-planned assassination. Al-
though one witness told police he was
positive only one person ran from
the area, another neighbor said the
footsteps were directly below his open
bedroom window “and there were at
least two people—maybe three.”

Police learned nothing of value
from the occupants of the house
which had been chosen as the site to
ambush Patrolman Sackett. The
shocked residents said they had never
heard of a “Mrs. Brown,” and they
knew of no reason why their home
had been picked for the sniping. Re-
portedly retired for the night when
they were awakened by knocking on
the front door, the witnesses said they
were in the process of answering the
door when the fatal shot rang out.

“When I looked out and saw a po-
lice car sitting in front of the house
and heard the shooting, I wasn’t about
to go outside to see what was going
on,” a frightened woman told police.

Although she said she heard “some-
body running,” investigators theorized
that the witness had heard Patrolman
Kothe hurrying to his fallen comrade.

Although police combed the neigh-
borhood inch-by-inch for clues during
the rest of the night, the only evi-
dence believed to be connected with
the slaying were a set of footprints
and the slug which passed through
Patrolman Sackett’s body and became
lodged in a door post. While the gore
on the deadly chunk of lead left little
doubt that it was connected with the
slaying, police couldn’t be so sure
about the footprints.

“They were detected under some
bushes across the street on the lawn
of the Shiloh Baptist Church,” Cap-
tain Williams said later, “and since
that was the general direction from
which the shot was fired, we couldn’t
overlook the possibility that they be-
longed to the killer.” 4

When the footprints and other im-
pressions were discovered under the
greenery, the site was cordoned off
and crime lab technicians moved in to
make plaster casts. Police admitted
confidentially to newsmen, however,
that the evidence would be pointless
unless they could locate a suspect be-
fore he had an opportunity to dispose
of his shoes. As for the slug, local

to right of door (arrow) indicates where the bullet lodged and blood stain on the path shows where the victim fell



police technicians photographed and
weighed the evidence before rushing
it to the FBI crime laboratories in
Washington, D.C.

Later in the day, St. Paul officials
expressed shock and anger over the
deliberate, cold-blooded murder of the
young officer, who only three weeks
before had become a father for the
fourth time.

Mayor Thomas Byrne said: “I am
shocked by this tragedy which has
struck St. Paul. The entire city suf-
fers from a cowardly deed such as
this. For the good of our city, the
person responsible for this must be
found.” Mayor Byrne offered his per-
sonal help in gathering information
which might lead to the identity of
the slayer. i

“I will accept personal telephone
calls, with no questions asked, from
anyone wishing to help with informa-
tion,” the mayor said during a news
conference. “Anyone with information
may call me at my office or home at
any hour of the day or night, or write
me a card or letter.”

During the City Council meeting the
next night, Public Safety Commis-
sioner William Carlson said that Pa-
trolman Sackett’s death resulted from
a “planned assassination” directed
not at the slain officer, “but at our
police department in general.” He
noted that the killer could not have
known which officers would respond
to the false maternity case.

“They were simply out to kill a po-
liceman . . . any policeman,” Carlson
said. “It happened to be Patrolman
Jim Sackett, and words cannot ex-
plain the compassion I have for the
widow and family of this officer.”

Sergeant Richard Feider, president
of the Minnesota Police Officer’s Un-
ion, pleaded with the councilmen to
consider adding more men to the force
and agreed with Commissioner Carl-
son’s earlier statement that the city
should consider dispatching a mini-
mum of two squad cars to. the scene of
all “blind” emergencies.

“Crime is eating away at the coun-
try like a cancer,” Sergeant Feider
said, “and we are getting pressure
from private citizens and policemen’s
families alike to do something.”

During newscasts that night, local
radio station KSTP and KSTP-TV
announced their offer of a $1,000 re-
ward for information leading to the
arrest and conviction of the murderer
of Officer Sackett.

When the homicide case was 24
hours old, Acting Police Chief Rob-
ert LaBathe told newsmen that every
available detective was working on
the investigation, but that at the mo-
ment they had turned up absolutely
nothing significant.

“Unless we get a break,” LaBathe
said, “it looks like a long, slow pro-
cess of hard work.” Although La-
Bathe admitted that more than a
score of persons had been questioned
in the past 24 hours, none was con-
sidered a prime suspect and he did
not ariticipate an early arrest.

“You might say we're fishing right
now,” LaBathe said, “but so far, we
haven’t had a nibble.”

Although police declined to confirm
reports which suggested that Patrol-
man Sackett had been the target of a
black militant group, newsmen noted
that several of the persons in the
parade of suspects marched in and
out of headquarters for questioning
were the same individuals who had
previously been interrogated in con-
nection with a rash of bombings which
had plagued St. Paul and Minneapolis
in recent months,

Frustration and quiet anger had
been mounting noticeably among lo-
cal police and firemen—both black
and white—ever since dynamite and
Molotov cocktails began flying and
veteran crime reporters in the Twin
Cities feared an all-out conflict be-
tween the opposing factions if Jim
Sackett’s killer wasn’t soon appre-
hended. Officers who were working
around the clock on the murder probe

with little rest were becoming testy.

at newsmen’s questions on the prog-
ress of the murder probe and it be-
came increasingly difficult for report-
ers to satisfy the appetite of their
readers—and editors—for informa-
tion on one of the biggest crime stor-
ies in the area’s history.

Ironically, newsmen found less ob-
vious anger in Patrolman Sackett’s
family than they did among the slain
policemen’s fellow officers, who had
vowed to capture the cop-killer.

“We have never been bitter people,”
said Officer Sackett’s 60-year-old fa-
ther. “Jim didn’t like a lot of things
he saw in police work, but he never
was bitter about it. He tried to under-
stand, and I guess that’s what we'll
have to do now. Of course we're
broken-hearted about this, but if Jim
were alive and starting out again and
wanted to be a police officer, I would
be his staunchest supporter.

“Jim was a dedicated, open-hearted
man and he always wanted to be in
law enforcement work. This was his
whole life and he accepted the risks
that went with it. If he had been
confronted face-to-face with his as-
sailant, he could have taken care of
himself; he was trained to handle that
kind of a situation. But you can't
really defend yourelf from an am-
bush attack.

“This has to be the work of some
mentally deranged person. But I don’t
like the word bitter—and I won't use
it—’because it will not help any of
us.

The dead officer’s young bride of
eight years, left to raise four children
whose ages ranged from three weeks
to six years, reiterated her father-in-
law’s appraisal of Jim’s attempts to
understand the very type of person
who took his life. In relating the cou-
ple’s happier days to a St. Paul Dis-
patch feature writer, the pretty young
widow said her husband was attend-
ing sociology classes on his own time
at the University of Minnesota's ex-
tension division.

Police questioning this woman claimed
that her voice sounded like that of the
woman who reported fake maternity

“He said the course would help him
in his relations with the public,” Mrs.
Sackett said. “Jim always tried to see
a situation from the other person’s
viewpoint . . . he wanted to under-
stand people”

So did the slain officer’s mother. But
she had difficulty doing so with the
tragedy so close to home. “I just don’t
know why this happened,” the tearful
woman said. “Jim wanted to be a cop
from the time he was small and he
didn’t think violence was the answer
to anything.”

The killing of the 27-year-old father
of four children was highly reminis-
cent of the murder of State Highway
Patrolman Glen Skalman, who was
gunned to death in the line of duty
about five years before. Like Sackett,
Skalman was 27 when he was slain
and, like Sackett, was in law enforce-
ment work less than two years when
he was murdered. According to the
dead patrolman’s widow, who wrote a
letter of sympathy to Mrs. Sackett,
Skalman, like the ambushed St. Paul
officer, had wanted to be a cop since
he was a child and, ironically, was a
graduate of Johnson High School in
St. Paul where Jim Sackett also grad-
uated. Patrolman Skalman had three
children be- (Continued on page 73)
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“I FOUND

A MURDERED WOMAN
"IN BED BESIDE ME”

by BURT OGLESBY

One of the things Ohio investigators had to

determine was whether sexual hanky-panky

occurred before—or after—the man came to

and found his bedmate ‘’bleeding so bad

I could hear it dripping on the floor . . .”

HEN the defendant took

the witness stand on April

22, 1970, he said he was

“scared stiff” when he

woke up in the middle of

the night and found that
the woman beside him had been shot
through the head.

“l knew she was dead when I
saw all the blood,” he told the three-
member panel of judges hearing the
first-degree murder ftrial in Butler
County Common Pleas Court at Ham-
ilton, Ohio.

“Where was the deceased at that
time?” the witness was asked by his
defense attorney. .

“In bed with me,” he replied. “She
was sitting on the edge of it, leaning
over with her head resting against the
wall.”

Although the accused murderer ad-
mitted on the stand that he cleaned
up the gore and hid the body of the
attractive young woman, he denied
putting a .38 slug through her head.

“I was pretty drunk and don’t re-
member much of anything that hap-
pened that night,” he said, “but I'd
never forget something as awful as
that.”

The muscular cement block maker
had stuck by a similar story ever
since he was charged with Helen
Penick’s murder two days after her
body was found buried in a shallow
grave near the outskirts of New Mi-
ami, a community of less than 2,400
persons located three miles north of
Hamilton on U.S. 127. The murder
mystery began unfolding shortly after
noon on November 3, 1969, when
New Miami’s assistant police chief,
Otis Kimbrell, got a call from a wom-
an who said “something strange” was
going on in her neighborhood and
and that she wanted to talk to him
personally.

“Where are you, lady?” Officer
Kimbrell asked.

“107 Elliott Avenue,” she replied.

“Are you having some kind of

neighborhood problems?” Kimbrell
asked.

“I’'m not,” she replied, “but I think
one of my neighbors is in trouble. I'd
rather not talk about it on the phone.”

“All right, I'll be right there,” Kim-
brell told the woman.

When Kimbrell arrived at the wom-
an’s house, she told him that she was
worried about the safety of Helen
Penick, 38, who lived a few doors
away from her, at 101 Elliott Avenue.

“Helen ain’t been around all day
and T'm afraid something has hap-
pened to her,” the worried woman
told Officer Kimbrell.

“What makes you think that?” Kim-
brell asked the neighbor lady.

“I don’t know, it’s just a feeling I've
got. Besides, I don’t like the answer
I got when I asked her husband
where she was at,” the worried wom-
an said.

“Who’s her husband?”
wanted to know.

“Theosit Penick. . .
Theo,” she said.

“Where did he say she was?” Chief
Kimbrell asked.

“Just said she was gone and that
she’d be away for a spell. Some of the
women in the neighborhood who see
Helen every morning got the same
answer when they asked where she
was at,” the woman told Kimbrell.

“Where’s Mr. Penick now?” the po-
liceman asked.

“I don’t know, but he’s not home,”
the woman said. “I-don’t think he
went to work this morning so I imag-
ine he’s out drinking some place.”

“Why do you say that?” the cop
queried.

“Because his car hadn’t been moved
all morning when I went over there
about nine o’clock and found out that
Helen wasn’t home,” the witness said.
“Theo had already started drinking,
and when he does that he don’t go
into work. I know how he is.”

“Where does he work?” the nine-
year police veteran asked.

Kimbrell

. we call him



“The Miami Cement Plant, out by
American Materials,” the neighbor
lady said.

In further conversation with the
woman, Kimbrell said later, he learned
that some f{riends had been to the
Penick residence the night before to
play cards, but the guests left in dis-
gust because of Theo’s drunken be-
havior.

“I heard that Theo slapped Helen
around during an argument and the
people up and left when he pulled a
knife and threatened to cut her,”
Chief Kimbrell was told.

“Were you at the party?” the police-
man asked.

“No, but I talked to the people
who were there and they told me
what happened,” she replied. She
gave the investigator the people’s
names and said she thought the Pen-
ick house should be searched.

“I can’t do that without a search
warrant,” Kimbrell told the woman.
“Besides, just because the woman isn’t
around doesn’t mean something has
happened to her. You don’t go bust-
ing into somebody’s house just be-
cause they haven’t been seen for a

few hours,” the policeman added.

However, Assistant Chief Kimbrell
agreed to talk to Penick about his
wife. After leaving the witness, the
officer stopped at 101 Elliott Avenue
to see if the man was home. Kimbrell
got no response when he knocked on
the front door of the small house,
which was only partially finished. Ac-
cording to the Buckeye State officer,
only one room of the house was com-
pleted on the ground level and it ap-
peared that the basement was being
used as part of the living quarters.

“I was just about to chalk up the
incident to the woman’s imagination,”
Kimbrell said later, “when I noticed
a stain on the front step which looked
like blood. So then I started looking
around the property, and there by the
drive I located a woman’s hair roller.

“It was bloodstained and I quickly
changed my mind about the woman’s
imagination.”

Officer Kimbrell .immediately put
out a pickup on Theotis Penick for
questioning and requested the dis-
patcher to contact Butler County
Sheriff Harold Carpenter. When
County Prosecutor Richard J. Wessel

was advised of the probable cause
evidence found on the property—
namely the blood-smeared hair roller
—he put into motion the legal proce-
dures for obtaining a search warrant.

Chief Kimbrell said that while he
was waiting for the search documents
to be delivered, a man who identified
himself as Theotis Penick, 60, pulled
up in front of the house in a dark
blue 1964 Cadillac. The investigating
officer said the car was being driven
erratically and nearly missed the
driveway as it pulled off the street.

“What’s the trouble, Officer? What
you doing here?” Penick asked, stum-~
bling out of the car.

“There’s a few questions I'd like to
ask you,” Kimbrell replied.

“I ain’t answering no questions. I
ain’t done nothing and I ain’t under
arrest,” Penick said.

“Well, you are now,” the cop re-
plied. “You're under arrest for driving
under the influence.”

Before Kimbrell had a chance to
question the man about his missing
wife the suspect became belligerent
about the “false arrest” and soon
found himself in handcuffs and on his

Car tracks were everywhere in sand pit used for adult games other than building castles. But one set led to shallow grave
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way to the Butler County Jail in the
back of a sheriff deputy’s car, which
had arrived on the scene in the mean-
time.

“He wasn’t coherent and we
couldn’t make any sense out of what
he was saying,” Kimbrell said later.

When police entered the Penick
residence, it was apparent that a con-
siderable amount of drinking had
been going on in the uncompleted
house . . . and a considerable amount
of shooting as well.

“There were bullet holes all over
the place,” Kimbrell said later. “Ac-
cording to his neighbors, he used any-
thing in sight for target practice when
he got mad or drunk, and some of the
walls looked like the back of a shoot-
ing gallery.”

But what police were interested in
at the time was whether the prison-
er’s young wife had been one of his

" impromptu targets.

According to Assistant Chief Kim-
brell, police found physical evidence
that somebody had been injured in
the combination bedroom and living

-room on the ground floor of the split-

level frame house. Around some bul-
let holes in a wall near the bed were
reddish stains which appeared to be
the remains of washed away blood.

“It was also apparent that some-
body had mopped up blood from the
floor by the bedstead,” Chief Kimbrell
said. “Most of the bedclothes were
missing and there were traces of what
looked like bloodstains on the bed
and mattress.”

The chief felt the situation called
for the expertise of the Ohio Bureau
of Criminal Investigation and Identi-
fication, more commonly known as
the BCI, whose agents are considered
among the best scientifically trained
criminal technicians in the Midwest.
With central crime laboratories head-
quartered at London, about 25 miles
southwest of Columbus, the state in-
vestigative agency operates several
mobile lab units which are called on
constantly by police and sheriff de-
partments in the state whose budgets
do not permit them to staff and equip
their own crime laboratories.

“The mobile unit for our district
was tied up on another case,” Kimbrell
said, “and we were advised that it
couldn’t get here for several hours.”

In the meantime, Kimbrell and his
superior, Chief Ben Kidd, secured
the Penick residence, impounded the
Cadillac and began questioning neigh-
bors in an attempt to find out what
they saw and heard around the two-
room house the night before. They
also attempted to learn where Penick
did his drinking and whether he had
been seen with his wife Sunday night
after he reportedly broke up the card
party with the threatening knife play.
Penick’s employers said he did not
show up for work that morning and
that he had not been seen all day.

Although several neighbors told po-
lice they heard a lot of “loud talking
and screaming” at Penick’s house Sun-
day night, they said the voices sound-

ed more like arguinz than anyone cry-
ing out in pain or fezr.

“Could you tell */ho was doing the
screaming?” police asked one neigh-
bor lady.

“It sounded like everyone hollering
at once,” the woman said. “But I
guess Theotis and Helen was making
most of the noise. I remember Helen
screaming several times, but I've
heard that so often I got to where I
didn’t pay much attention to it.”

“Had Mr. Penick ever threatened
to kill his wife, to your knowledge?”
the woman was asked.

“Well, I don’t know if he ever
threatened to kill her, but Helen told
me more than once that he was al-
ways going to shoot her or cut her up.
Theotis is a hard worker and not a
bad man when he’s sober. . . . but
he’s awful mean when he’s drunk.”

The witness said things “got real
loud and then quieted down” at the
Penick house after the host’s card-

playing friends left.

“What time was that?” Kimbrell
wanted to know.

“It must have been around nine or
nine-thirty,” the woman said.

When police determined who Mr.
and Mrs. Penick’s guests were Sunday
night, it was confirmed that Helen
was threatened by her knife-wielding
husband. One man said the party got
“too rough for me” and that he and
most of the others left around 9 p.m.

“Did Mr. Penick cut his wife while
you were there?” the witness was
asked.

“No, but he punched her around
several times,” the man said.

“Did he draw blood on her?” Kim-
brell asked, mindful of the blood on
the wall and floor.

“I didn’t see no blood,” the man
said, “but I don’t know what hap-
pened after we left.”

“YWhat was Penick mad about?” the
cop asked.

Chief Collins, Sgt. Ebbing, Att. Holcomb and Asst. Chief Kimbrell (below, I. to r.)
examined footprints in sand before Collins uncovered victim's body (opp. page)




“Oh, everything in general and
nothing in particular. He just had too
much to drink and wanted to argue
about everything. Then Helen ac-
cused him of cheating on her and
that set him off pretty good.”

“Did she have reason to accuse him
of that?” police asked.

The witness shrugged. “What The-
otis does is his business. I don’t know
nothing about his love life,” the man
said.

But another informant seemed to
know plenty about Theotis’ love life
and suggested that police “find out
who stayed with him last night.” The
witness would say no more.

Police at the time were not in a po-
sition to insist on anyone talking if

they chose not to, since the only
crime they knew had been committed
for sure was the traffic violation for
which Penick had been jailed. And he
conceivably could be released mo-
mentarily on that charge if somebody
showed up to post the $300 bond
which had been set.

Even though police weren’t fur-
nished with the name of the person
who allegedly spent the night with
Theotis Penick, they put two-and-two
together and came up with a three-
way tryst, consisting of Helen, Theotis
and the woman who first reported the
absence of the jailed man’s wife and
was so certain that something had
happened to her.

After intensive questioning by As-

sistant Chief Kimbrell, the woman
admitted that she had spent “some
time” with the man early Monday
morning. But she insisted that she
had nothing to do with Helen Pen-
ick’s disappearance.

“If T did, do you think I would
have called you?” the frightened
woman said. “I could have let this
thing go and nobody would have
known the difference for a long time.”

“What time did you go to the Penick
house?” the woman was asked.

“I don’t know for sure, but it must
have been after two in the morning
or so,” she replied. “I didn’t want to
go until Theo told me Helen wasn’t
home and wouldn’t be back the rest
of the night.”

“Where did he say she was?” Kim-
brell asked. ‘

“He didn’t say. He just said they'd
had a fight and that she left,” the
woman said.

Kimbrell said that by the time he
finished questioning the woman, she
finally admitted that Penick had told
her that he had killed his wife.

“But I didn’t take him seriously at
the time,” Kimbrell quoted the wo-
man. “He was drinking and I thought
he was jiving me. I knew they had
been fighting and it seemed logical
that she'd spend the night someplace
else. But when she didn’t show up all
day that's when I got worried and
called you.”

Although police did not discount
the possibility that the full story of
Helen Penick’s disappearance had
not yet been told there was little
they could do about it at the time.

“We still didn’t have a, body or
even any tangible evidence that
Helen Penick had met with foul
play,” Kimbrell said. “As far as we
knew, the woman could have up and
left her husband because she was
afraid of him.”

But shortly after the BCI arrived
on the scene about eight-thirty that
night, police began uncovering hard
clues pointing to foul play.

“When the trunk of Penick’s car
was opened,” Kimbrell said, “we dis-
covered blood-soaked bed clothing
and there were traces of blood in the
front seat of the car.”

The BCI agents tagged a bed sheet
and blanket and placed them in plas=-
tic bags for later examination under
laboratory conditions, where they
would type the blood in an attempt
to link it to Penick’s missing spouse.
The technicians also obtained sam-
ples of fresh dirt and sand which
were embedded in the car’s under-
carriage, indicating it had recently
been bogged down. Plans were then
made to analyze the soil samples in
an attempt to find out where the ve-
hicle had got stuck.

Although police held little hope of
finding Mrs. Penick’s body on her
home premises in the event she had
met with foul play, the BCI agents
nevertheless searched every nook and
cranny in the (Continued on page 56)
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AXE-KILLER
LAY DOWN
TO SLEEP

IN HIS

VICTIM’S
BLOOD

by JOHN DUNNING

This was a case in which the strange slayer might well have gotten

away with murder, if investigators had not gotten interested

in a tired man who spent the night in a barn, some fabric

fibers found in dried blood, and a monumental‘ hangover

OHANNES UNTERBERGER

was a worried man. A sort of

milkman in reverse, he did

not distribute milk to his cus-

tomers; he collected it, but

for the past three days there had been
no milk to collect at Madlegg Farm.
As he Lknew that farmer Alois
Schiefer was the owner of ten cows,
this was strange enough in itself, but
even more alarming, he could hear

the cows mooing and bellowing from
the great, grim, fortress-like farm
house. They sounded very much as
if they had not had anything to eat
for some time.

Johannes Unterberger
from the high cab of the milk truck
and made a cautious circuit of the
building. There was no sign of
Schiefer or his wife. With the excep-
tion of the lowing of the animals, the

descended

place was as silent as a tomb. For
reasons which he could not clearly
define, the hairs at the nape of his
neck and along his spine suddenly .
rose and he gave a slight, involun-
tary shudder. In an abrupt surge of
panic, he turned .and almost ran to
the truck. A moment later, he was
bumping down the narrow, dirt road,
the milk cans clanging loudly in the
back of the truck and the wheels
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Aloisia Schiefer (inset left) could not hear her husband, Alois (inset right) being slain, because she

was deaf. She was also dumb and couldn’t even call out when the killer came at her with an axe

bounced in and out of the numerous
potholes.

Although the truck was not capa-

ble of much speed, it would not take
him long to reach the village of Seit-
enstetten. Madlegg Farm was a scant
half mile from the village, but in
Austria this was considered to be an
isolated farm. In Austria, as in most
other parts of Europe, farming de-
veloped according to a completely
different pattern than that found in
the United States. Isolated farm-
houses standing in the midst of their
fields are a rarity. When farming
first began, Europe was a dangerous
place and farmhouses huddled to-
gether in little, fortified villages
which could be easily defended by
the inhabitants. The fields lay around
the village and at some considerable
distance, an inconvenience for the
farmers, but one which they were

willing to accept in exchange for a
greater degree of personal safety.

The few farms which lay isolated
from the village were invariably
huge, stoutly built buildings which
looked more like fortresses than
farmhouses. Windows are small and,
whether in the village or out of it,
barns, stables and running quarters
usually form the sides of an enclosed
court. Not infrequently, all of the
farm buildings are incorporated into
one huge structure. This was the
case with Madlegg Farm.

A short fifteen minutes after leav-
ing the farm, milkman Johannes Un-
terberger was sitting in the tiny of-
fice of Sergeant Hans Gruber, the
local representative of the Austrian
National Gendarmerie in Seitenstet-
ten. “Alois Schiefer hasn’t set out
any milk for three days mow,” he
said bluntly and without preamble.

“I think there’s something wrong out
there at Madlegg Farm. The cattle
are all bellowing as if they hadn’t
had anything to eat for a week.”
Sergeant Gruber was a tall, dark
haired and dark complected young
man with a somewhat military bear-
ing who wore the uniform of the

. Austrian Gendarmerie with consid-

erable pride. He had only completed
his police training a year and a half
earlier and had been fortunate
enough to find himself assigned to
his own, native village. “Did you
look inside the house?” he asked.

“No,” said Unterberger, shaking
his head. “I wasn’t about to step foot
in that house without an invitation.
lYl?u’ know what Aloisia Schiefer’s
ike.”

“Mrs. Schiefer has a bad temper
alright,” said the sergeant in agree-
ment, “but, if you thought there was

35
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something seriously wrong, you still
should have gone on in. Why didn’t
you say something the first day that
they didn’t set the milk out?”

“Well, I thought they might be
using it themselves,” said Unterber-
ger. “Schiefer hasn’t been putting
out too much milk lately anyway. I
expect most of his cows are with
calves. I figured that they just didn’t
have enough to make it worthwhile
sending down to the creamery.”

“And the first day that they didn’t
set out any milk was. . . .?” asked
the sergeant.

“Last Friday,” said Unterberger.
“November 27th. Then there wasn't
any on Saturday or Sunday and now
there isn’t any today, Monday.”

“That makes four days in all,” ob-
served the sergeant. “Alright. You
come along with me and we'll go out
and take a look. It could be that the
Schiefers are sick.”

It was bitterly cold and the frozen
grass crackled slightly underfoot as
Sergeant Gruber and Johannes Un-
terberger approached the massive,
silent building known as Madlegg
House. Although it was nearly noon,
no glimpse of the sun could be seen
through the dense cloud of freezing
fog which had hung over the low-
lands around Seitenstetten for the
past five days. No snow had, as yet,
fallen and the frozen soil around the
farmhouse was exposed, raw as a
naked wound. The cattle had ceased
to bellow now and there were no
sounds except that of the men’s foot-
prints over the dead grass.

“Do you know how to get in
there?” asked the sergeant. He spoke
in a hushed voice as if he were
afraid of being heard.

“The front door is on the other
side of the building,” said Unterber-
ger in the same low tone. “They
never use it though and I think it's
barred shut. They always come into
the house through the kitchen from
the courtyard.” He led the way
around the corner of the house and
through the arched gateway into the
little  courtyard, completely sur-
rounded on all sides by the buildings
of the farm.

“You take a look in the stables
and see if there’s anybody there,”
said the sergeant. “I'll try the house.”

Johannes Unterberger shuffled his
feet nervously. “If it’s all the same
to you,” he said, “I'll just stay right
here in the courtyard. You're the
police officer. ’'m just a milkman and
this place gives me the willies.”

Sergeant Gruber did not reply but
walked stoutly over to the kitchen
door, rapped on it with his knuckles
and called out in a sharp voice, “Mr.
Schiefer!”

“If he’s not there, she won't hear
you,” remarked Unterberger. ‘“She’s
deaf and dumb, you know.”

The sergeant nodded his head. “I
know she’s deaf and dumb,” he said.
“When I was a boy, we used to come
out here to steal apples and we were
always scared to death of Aloisia

Technicians, going over the bloody scene at this isolated farmhouse, said there
was every indication that the slayer had slept like a babe in his victim’s blood

Schiefer. She’'d take after us with a
pitchfork if she caught us. She
couldn’t say anything, but she'd
make awful noises.”

There had been no reply to the
sergeant’s hail and he now called out
again, this time even louder. There
was still no answer and, after a mo-
ment’s hesitation, the sergeant said,
“I'm going to have to go in, I guess,
if the door isn’t locked.”

The door was not locked. It opened
easily when the sergeant turned the
handle and swung back, creaking
slightly. The sergeant put his head
inside. “Oh. Oh!” he said in a tone of
consternation and bewilderment.

Johannes  Unterberger  stepped
forward and peered over his shoul-
der. By the comparatively dim light
which filtered through the fog out-
side the little windows of the big
farm kitchen, he could see that the
room was in a state of complete dis-
order. Papers, cooking utensils, ar-
ticles of clothing and furniture were
strewn about the floor. In the midst
of it all lay the body of Alois
Schiefer. Around his head a large
pool of blood had dried into a black,
viscous sheet over the scrubbed
kitchen floor. There were smears
and splotches of the same black sub-
stance elsewhere and the kitchen
was deadly cold. It was obvious that
there was no fire in the house. “She’s
killed him!” said Unterberger in an
awe-struck voice.

The sergeant had by now some-
what recovered his wits and he
stepped through the kitchen door,
motioning to Unterberger to stay
back, and knelt beside the body. His
attempt to raise the arm to feel for a
pulse failed. The body was abso-
lutely rigid. “Well, he’s dead in any

case,” said the sergeant, standing up
and picking his way back to the door
through the furniture and objects
scattered about the floor. “Some-
body’s killed him. His head’s all
smashed in.”

“You going to look for her in the
stables?” asked Unterberger. He
spoke in such a low whisper that his
voice was scarcely audible at all. At
the same time, he began to edge in
the direction of the entrance to the
courtyard. Johannes Unterberger
was not a man who enjoyed the
prospect of violence.

“No,” said Sergeant Gruber, com-
ing out of the kitchen and closing
the door behind him. “This is a crim-
inal case and I'm not authorized to
deal with criminal cases. We're going
to have to go back to Seitenstetten
and T'll call headquarters at Anstet-
ten. They have people who are
trained to handle this sort of thing.
You stay here and see that no one
disturbs anything until I get back.”

“Not on your life!” said Unterber-
ger. “You think I'm going to stand
here and wait for old Aloisia Schief-
er to come around and bash my head
in too? You can stay here if you
want to. I'm going back to Seiten-
stetten.”

The sergeant did not pause to
argue, but silently led the way at a
run to the Gendarmerie car parked
at the edge of the road. Fifteen min-
utes later he was in his office in
Seitenstetten and was talking on the
telephone to Captain Harold Fried-
mann at Gendarmerie Headquarters
in Anstetten, some twenty miles to
the northeast. “I'll be down imme-
diately,” said the captain when he
had finished listening to Sergeant
Gruber’s report.



Although the road between Ans-
tetten and Seitenstetten is not par-
ticularly good, the captain arrived
at Sergearit Gruber’s little office in
something less than twenty-five
minutes. He was a square-faced,
stockily built man with long, black

sideburns. As a criminal investiga-.

tion’s officer, he was in plain clothes
and he was alone. The Austrian Na-
tional Gendarmerie is not over-
staffed.

“You're assigned to me until the
investigations here are completed,”
he told the sergeant. “We're a little
short handed up at Anstetten, but I
suppose that you won’t mind doing
a little criminal investigations work
for a change.”

The sergeant did not mind at all.
In Seitenstetten his duties largely
consisted of settling quarrels be-
tween farmers over strayed cows
and the occasional pursuit of a bi-
cycle thief. “I've been assembling a
little information while I was wait-
ing for you to arrive,” he said eager-
ly. “I thought that you might be able
to use it.”

“Good work,” said the captain ap-
provingly. “You can tell me what
you found out while we’re driving
out to the farm. We'll take my car,
but you drive. You know where the
place is.”

The sergeant took the wheel of
the captain’s car and the captain got
into the front seat next to him. “The
place we're going to is called Mad-
legg Farm,” said the sergeant. “The
owner, the man who was killed, is
named Alois Schiefer. He inherited
the farm from his father. Schiefer is
forty-three years old and his wife,
Aloisia, is forty-eight. She’s been
deaf and dumb since birth. As far as
I know, there’s never been any trou-
ble in the family, but Mrs. Schiefer
has a reputation for having a terrible
temper. When I was a boy, all the
kids were scared to death of her. I
never heard of her actually doing
anything to anyone, though.”

The sergeant brought the car to a
halt at some little distance from the
farmhouse. “We’ll have to walk in,”
he said. “The ground here is too
muddy for the car. It’s just frozen
on top.”

The captain looked up at the mas-
sive old building looming out of the
cold, clammy fog. It looked more
forbidding than ever and the cattle
had once again set up their deep,
eerie bellowing. “Whew!” said the
captain. “Whether it is or not, I've
never seen a place that looked like a
more ideal setting for a murder.”

The sergeant appeared to be in
complete agreement with this opin-
ion for he led the way silently and
gingerly into the courtyard. “The
kitchen door is over there,” he said,
indicating the direction with his fin-
ger but showing no inclination to
lead the way.

The captain was less timid. “You
check out the barn and the stables,”
he ordered briskly. “I'll take a look

at the body and, if it really is homi-
cide, we can use the radio in the car
to get the doctor down here from
Anstetten. We'll need an autopsy
and a medical opinion on the cause
of death and so on.”

The sergeant moved reluctantly in
the direction of the stables and the
captain walked over to the kitchen
door, opened it and stepped inside.
He crossed to the corpse, looking
carefully as to where he placed his
feet and trying not to disturb any-
thing on the floor. The inspection of
the body took only a few minutes
and he then turned his attention to

.the doors leading off from the kitch-

en. There were four of them. Con-
tinuing his careful progress across
the litter strewn room, he opened
the first door and stepped inside.

In the meantime, Sergeant Gruber
was progressing carefully through
the barn and stables, his drawn and
cocked pistol held firmly in his right
hand. The barns were very large and
there were hay mows and other
places where it would have been
easy for a.person to hide. In the end,
however, the sergeant came to the
conclusion that there was no one
there. v

The cattle had set up a tremen-
dous lowing at his appearance and,
being a former farm boy, he knew
exactly what to do. Dipping water
with a bucket from the tank at the
end of the stable, he began filling
the watering troughs and then went
up to the hay mow where he pitched
down enough hay to fill the feeders.
Gradually the hungry cries were re-
placed by a contented chewing and
munching sound as the starved an-
(iimals gratefully consumed the fod-
er.

Captain Friedmann was standing
in the door of the kitchen when the
sergeant emerged from the stables.
“You can stop looking for the wom-
an,” he called. “Come over here. I
want to show you something.”

The sergeant crossed the court-
yard and joined the captain in the
kitchen. “Be careful where you put
your feet,” cautioned the captain.
“This wasn’t a family quarrel. We're
going to have to have a full scale in-
vestigation.” He opened the first door
to the right of the back wall of the
kitchen and motioned to the ser-
geant. “Take a look in there.”

Sergeant Gruber stuck his head
into the room. It was even darker
than the kitchen, but there was
enough light for him to see Mrs. Al-
oisia Schiefer lying on the bed. The
covers had been turned back slight-
ly and the pillow and the woman’s
hair were crusted with the same
black substance he had seen on
the floor of the kitchen. Obviously,
Mrs. Schiefer was dead and, just as
obviously, she had died in the same
manner as her husband.

“Double murder,” said the cap-
tain, closing the bedroom door and
drawing the sergeant in the direc-
tion of the courtyard. “It looks to

me as if someone beat their brains
out with the butt of an axe. In any
case, there’s an axe lying on the
kitchen floor and there’s blood and
hair on the blunt end of it. There’s
no point in our looking for the mur-
derer here. He’s obviously gone.
These people have been dead for
several days at least.”

“And now?” asked the sergeant.
He was completely confused. Mur-
ders are not common in small Aus-
trian villages and he had never be-
fore had any contact with one.

“And now,” said the captain, “I’ll
go out to the car and call Anstetten.
We're going (Continued on page 64)

Suspect (without hat) told investigators
that he wanted to sleep “in the kitchen
where it was warm” but the farmer told
him, “the barn was good enough for me”
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The Deacon with his Bible was as

larcenous as a heister with a gun,

and just as effective, because he had a

prayer on tap to open and close all his

con games . . . The remarkable case of

THE "AMEN"

SWINDLER

by ALAN HYND

World’s Foremost Authority on Confidence Men & Swindlers

RED “The Deacon” Buckmin-

ster, who functioned as a con-

fidence man for a quarter of

a century—from 1915 to 1940

—occupied a niche of his own

in confidence circles because
he specialized, as nobody else has
ever done in the history of taking
suckers, in bilking crooked big shots.
Buckminster was, through the years,
like a big fish who swallowed smaller
fish who had first swallowed min-
nows. The bigger they came, the bet-
ter the Deacon liked him.

Buckminster was a big, shuffling
man with a well-nourished frame,
cherubic countenance, honest blue
eyes and a hearty chuckle. He usu-
ally played the part of a citizen from
the rural precincts, affecting baggy
gray suits and, in the summertime,
floppy Panama hats. He usually car-
ried a little Bible in his pocket and
frequently stopped to read it in the
middle of a swindle—a practice that
often had a profound effect on a vic-
tim, and one that prompted another
con man to give him the “Deacon”
label.

“Once in a while I'd take an honest
chump,” the Deacon told me one day
in 1942, a year before he checked
out at the age of 80, “but only when
I was badly in need of money. But
there was no kick in life for me like
fleecing the wise guys—the crooks
who had taken other people.”

Confidence men usually get going
on their chosen profession in their
late twenties or early thirties. The
Deacon, though, was unique: He was
52 before he entered the swindling
profession. He had previously put in
15 years with the Chicago Police De-
partment and had also served a term
in prison for a crime he didn’t com-
mit—an experience that so deeply
embittered him that, when released
from the Big House, he decided to
get even with society by bilking its
leading—if not necessarily most up-
right—citizens.

Through the years, Fred, like so
many leaders in his field, averaged
not less than 50 grand and some-
times twice that much per annum.
Of the three pleasures—wine, wom-
en and song—Fred preferred women.
He never married but there were
periods in his life, he told me, when
he was keeping six doxies in Chi-
cago alone.

“Tell a dame that you're crazy
about her and that she’s the most
attractive dish you've ever savored,
and follow that up by being a real
man in bed,” the Deacon explained,
“and you've got it made. Sure, buy
her nice things, and don’t be a skin-
flint while you're at it, but it’s how
you treat a woman, both vertically

_and horizontally, that really counts.”

The Deacon blew a ring of his
cigar smoke after enlightening me,

obviously reliving some of his past.
“T never,” he mused, “had any trou-
ble...”

Why, 1 asked Buckminster, had he
chosen to play the role of a church-
man in a great deal of his confidence
work. “Because,” he explained, “in
spite of the fact that some of the
biggest crooks in the land go to
church every Sunday-—and to prayer
meeting during the week if there is
one—everybody trusts a churchman.”

The Deacon did a lot more than
just carry the Bible and occasionally
read it some time during the course
of a swindle; he really knew the
Good Book and could, when the oc-
casion demanded, let go with an ap-
propriate quotation. When a sucker
had fallen for the bait, supremely
happy and excited as most marks are
at such a time, the Deacon would
usually come up with one or all three
of these sayings from the First Epis-
tle of Paul The Apostle To The
Thessalonians: Quench not the spirit,
Rejoice evermore and Pray without
ceasing. When in the midst of ex-
plaining to a takee how sure of a big
return his pitch was, the Deacon
would quote the 1lth verse of the
second chapter of Proverbs: Discre-
tion shall preserve thee, understand-
ing shall keep thee. Once in a while,
when Buckminster held a man he
was taking in such low regard that
he could hardly help himself, he’d let
go, with a devilishly pious face, this
first verse from the 27th chapter of
Proverbs: Boast mot thyself of to-
morrow; for thy knowest not what a
day may bring forth.

Fred was born on Chicago’s North
Side, one of a family of six, of good
old American stock, in the year 1863.
He was a hell-raiser in grammar
school, which is as far as he ever got,
but he was seldom suspected by the
teacher of making trouble because of
the innocent-looking blue eyes that
looked out unblinkingly from his
round, cherubic face.

Our boy was 18 when, already
having developed an antipathy for
the humdrum, he began to trade
horses with homesteaders on their
way West. He simply traded run-
down plugs, after disguising them,
for healthy beasts. It was while so
engaged that he came upon a great
truth that he was to use to the end
of his days: Look a man straight in
the eye, and don't blink while you're
telling him a whopper, and hell
swallow it every time.

After 12 years of horse trading, .
Fred, age 30, had a little bundle and
he returned to his native Chicago,
looking around for the next oppor-
tunity. The Chicago of 1891 was a
rip-roaring man’s town, bulging with
saloons and bawdy houses, and its
city administration was the crooked-
est in the country. The way to get a
share of the gravy, Fred learned, was .
to go into politics and the door to



politics was through the police de-
partment. So Fred paid a politician
a thousand clams—a real bundle in
those days—for an appointment to
the force. As a cop, he began collect-
ing graft for the politicians, his take
being 10 per cent.

Fred was “on the cops” for 15
years when, in 1906, at age 43, the
city administration fell into the hands
of honest men and people like Fred
on the police force found themselves
kicked into alleys. So Fred, although
he had put aside quite a bundle as a
graft collector, was suddenly out of
a job.

had made many friends. Now he

contacted two of them—highly-
respected businessmen—and the three
of them shelled out to form the Buck-
minster Can Company—tin cans,
bread boxes, kitchen cabinets and
postcard frames.

The business was a success, and so
was Fred’s sex life, what with four
kept women in different parts of the
city. But one of Fred’s two partners
—a man who never missed church
on Sunday or prayer meeting during
the week—didn’t think the profits
were high enough. So what did he do
one night—after the Buckminster
Can Company had been going for five
years—but set the place on fire to
collect insurance.

The cops scented something that
didn’t smell right about the fire and
arson was established. The Buckmin-
ster partner confessed—that Fred
had thought up and started the blaze.
Fred, because of his reputation and
on the testimony of his lying partner,
was convicted of the arson and given
five years in Joliet.

Buckminster grew increasingly bit-
ter as the time passed in Joliet. He
thought of little else than the part-
ner who had committed the crime
and put the blame on him. This man
was, to those who knew him, a para-
gon. of virtue. He didn’t use profan-
ity, he didn’t touch alcohol, he was
known as a faithful husband and was
apparently deeply religious. Now,
though, Fred knew that the arsonist
was dishonest all the way through
and that all of these alleged virtues
were simply put-ons.

Yet, Fred recalled, as he thought
about the jurors who had decided
that he was guilty, the lying partner
had made quite an impression on the
12 good men and true in the box.
Why? Because of his pious appear-
ance and mien, That was the begin-
ning. Fred was to tell me years later,
of his idea to pose as the Deacon in
his later confidence work. If people
liked to believe liars, he'd be one, by
God.

Fred had served two of his five
years in Joliet when the onetime

During his career on the cops, Fred

partner who had committed the ar- |

son job confessed the. crime, and ex-
onerated Fred on his deathbed. So
Fred was released—still very embit-
tered and pledged to bilk big shots.
There he was, then, our hero, at

age 52 in the year of 1915, all set for
a quarter of a century of confidence
game enterprise. Having made the
acquaintanceship of other con men in
Chicago during his police days, and
afterward, Fred contacted one of the
boys he had known and asked him
to dgo along with him on an idea he
ad.

The idea was to swindle a horse-
betting joint that was operating ille-
gally four miles from Joliet and
which catered only to Chicago big
shots who made the journey there
to plunge big sums on the bangtails.
The two characters who ran the bet-
ting parlor were a pair of well-
heeled muggs whom Fred had come
to dislike while on the police force.

The plot was to take the betting
joint just once—but with a big bun-
dle on an also-ran that came in first.
To do this it was going to be neces-
sary for Fred’s partner to get to the
betting place, which was too far in
the woods to have a telephone be-
fore a runner employed by the bet-
ting parlor arrived with results that
came in over the telegraph to the
Western Union office in Joliet. Then
Fred was to get the result of a race
in which the kind of a horse he
wanted came in first and get the re-
sult to his partner at the remote
betting place before the runner ar-
rived with the result, enabling the
partner to lay a bet and clean up.

“But how the hell,” asked the
other con man who was going into
the plot with Fred, “are you going to
lay hands on that race information
and then how will you get it to me
before the runner arrives and I can’t
bet anymore?”

Our boy simply smiled. “Don't
worry about the details,” he said, “T’ll
take care of them.

of such details as getting the race

information in the first place—
confidential stuff that came into
Western Union over a machine that
clicked Morse code? And, once in
possession of the information, how
would he beat the runner out to the
remote betting parlor?

Buckminster simply  mastered
Morse code so that, while sitting
around the Western Union office, he
could de-code the information that
was clicking in for the betting parlor.
And, once in possession of the infor-
mation, he simply got it to his con-
federate out there at the betting
joint by a simpler code that was
faster than the runner by a long shot.
This code was relayed from a rail-
road locomotive, the drunken engi-
neer of which lay over in Joliet be-
tween runs from Chicago and who
was more than happy to be cut in on
the plot. The engineer tooted the
code on the engine whistle and
Buck’s pal could hear the toots four
miles from town.

Thus it came to pass that one day
—and one day was all Buck asked
for—he heard just what he liked
clicking into the machine at Western

. A nd how did Buckminster take care

Union, then hustled out to the en-
gine. So the first thing his pal at the
parlor did when he heard the code
being tooted by the drunken engi-
neer was to get five grand down on
the horse that already came in at 15
to one.

“The trouble with the Joliet job,”
Fred told me, “was that it could be
pulled only once in the same place.
Betting parlors would be sure to
catch on to also-rans coming in first
after hearing that locomotive whistle.

And as far as pulling the same job -

elsewhere it was too difficult to find
a drunken engineer who was laying
over and where the parlor was so far
in the woods to have no phone.”

Fred Buckminster was the orig-
inator of fixing a fixed roulette
wheel. That is to say he hired a free-
lance inventor known as Kid Dimes
to come up with an invention that
would cancel out the machinations
of the crooked croupier, who made a
wheel stop at a certain number, and
make the wheel ignore the croupier’s
number and stop at one chosen by
the inventor—the number that would
pay off to the astonishment of the
crooked house.

Kid Dimes—a gnome-like little
man with bow legs, a shiny bald
head, a hawk nose and beady brown
eyes—addressed himself to the prob-
lem over a period of months. But
there was no hurry, said Fred, who
was financing the Kid, so long as
Dignes came up with perfection in the
end.

And don’t think Dimes didn’t. He
came up with a dazzlingly intricate
system of wires and batteries which,
when put into action by the pressing
of a small out-of-the-way button
under the bettors’ end of the table,
canceled out the system by which
the croupier buttoned the ball to
come up with a number other than
that chosen by the bettor. _

The problem with the fixed fixed
roulette wheel was installing that
winning system. It had to be done in
the early hours of the morning, when
nobody was around the building
housing the wheel, and many sessions
were required to get everything
right. “But Dimes and I didn’t mind
the work,” Buck told me. “I stood
watch while he installed the system.
And it sure as hell was worth it in
the end.”

the fixed crooked wheel at the
King George Club—a crooked
den in the heart of Chicago’s Loop.
Fred was, like most con men, a nat-
ural actor, and so when he put in his
appearance at the King George Club
he didn’t bear much of a resemblance
to his natural self. Qutfitted in boots
and a ten-gallon hat and speaking
with a Texas drawl, he posed as a
loudmouth who had just struck oil.
Fred could see the management of
the club—wise guys who were clip-
ping the suckers to a fair-thee-well—
laying plans to knock him for a big
loss at the (Continued on page 50)

B uckminster began operations with
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NORTHWEST'S CASE OF THE

"MONKEY-MA
GIRL-SLAYER

When all the facts were in, it was
clear to Washington probers

that Laura Lea’s love for animals
made her an unsuspecting

victim of a homicidal wolf

in sheep’s clothing . . .

all’ law enforcement officers throughout the country,
have grown accustomed to receiving numerous com-
plaints of “missing girls.” On the warm summer morn-
ing of July 2, 1970, in fact, they expected a barrage of
“missing” complaints, The Buffalo Party and Sky River
Rock Festival was about to begin in the county hamlet
of Eatonville and teenagers would be flocking to the area—
some with parental permission, but many without.
Still, when the first call came in to Detective Victor
Knabel of the Juvenile Division concerning the disap-
pearance of 13-year-old Laura Lea Burbank, he sensed at

T HE SHERIFF'S DETECTIVES of Pierce County, like

r

Thirteen-year-old Laura
Lea headed for pet shop,
vanished, and ended up the
victim of a callous killer

«

Slaying victim’s clothes were
unearthed from shallow grave

by ANDY STACK

once that this was not to be a simple runaway. There is a
pattern in missing complaints on teenagers—and Laura
Lea did not fit that pattern. The slim blonde girl had not
been seen since shortly after noon on July 1st. Her par-
ents had called the sheriff’s office at 10:30 p.m. and again
at midnight. At first, officers hoped she had decided to
spend the night with a friend—neglecting to call her
home—but when she had not returned home by 10 the
next morning, Knabel initiated a full-scale search for
Laura Lea. .

In talking with her relatives and friends, Detective
Knabel soon learned that Laura Lea was anything but a
precocious teenage type. Rather, she still clung to the
activities of childhood; she was not allowed to date, nor
did she show any interest in boys. Her principal love in
life was animals.

Knabel and Detective Henry Suprunowski spent the
afternoon of July 2nd. attempting to trace the child’s
movements of the day before. Questioning her mother
and three sisters at the family home on Steilacoom Boule-
vard S.W., they learned that Laura Lea had left home
about 12:30, saying she was headed for the pet shop lo-
cated in the B. & 1. market in a nearby shopping center.

“Had there been any arguments, any trouble that might
make her want to leave home?” Knabel asked.

“No . . . nothing,” her mother answered. “Laura Lea |
was in good spirits. She has always minded and always
been home- before dark. I've warned her over and over




about talking to strangers. Laura Lea has spent only a few
nights away from home and that was with girlfriends who
live just a few doors down the street from us. But she
loves to go over to the B. & I. Pet Shop and watch the an-
imals. usually with other girls but sometimes by herself.”

“When was the last time she went there?” Supru-
nowski asked.

“Let’s see—it must have been Monday. She walked over
alone to buy some shoes—but then she found she didn’t
have enough money so she went over to the pet shop in-
stead. There was one thing that kind of bothered me. At
the time, I didn’t think too much of it, but now—"

“Yes?" the officer encouraged. ‘

“Well. she told me she’d talked to an ‘older man’ in the
pet shop area, and that he’d driven her home in his truck.
I was home. but I didn’t see the truck. She told me that
the man told her if she wanted to come back Tuesday or
Wednesday he'd let her play with some of the animals.

“Later, she walked back to the store with Cindy Bowles
and bought the shoes. And then the girls walked home to-
gether. I think Cindy might have seen the man and the
truck that brought Laura Lea home. You might want
to ask her about it.”

One of the Burbank girls ran down the street and re-
turned with Cindy Bowles, who told the detectives:

“Yes, I saw a white pick-up truck with either a canopy
or one of those camper things on it driving away from in
front of Laura's house, but I didn’t actually see her get

out. Then Laura told me she met this man over by the pet
shop and that he told her he would let her play with
the animals some day.”

Cindy could not describe the man.

“Cindy,” Knabel asked, “when Laura Lea walks to the
B. &I, do you know which route she takes?”

“Well, there are two ways. When she goes alone, she
walks down Steilacoom Boulevard and then cuts through
the pasture to the rear of the Mountain View Cemetery.
She walks through there, crosses the railroad tracks and
comes out near the bakery next to the B. & I. When we
go with her, we walk along Steilacoom all the way to the
main entrance of the cemetery and then cross the rail-
road tracks.”

Riding with the detectives, Cindy pointed out the routes
Laura Lea probably had traveled the day before. As the of-
ficers retraced the routes, their eyes searched the under-
brush for some sign of the missing girl but they found
nothing.

It was shortly after 6 p.m. when the two detectives
arrived at the residence of Arthur Olson, the owner of the
B. & I. According to information gleaned at the shopping
center, one of Olson’s employes, a man named David
Fisher, was supposed to be living with the shop owner.
Fisher was said to be in his late twenties.

Knabel and Suprunowski noted a late model yellow
Chevrolet pick-up truck parked in front of the house with
“B. & I. Pet Shop” inscriptions. painted on the doors of the

When the slain girl’s woodland grave was uncovered, the first article of clothing visible was her blue jeans
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This truck was allegedly used to take victim into woods

vehicle. Mrs. Olson came to the door and invited the offi-
cers inside. Asked about David Fisher, she said they
would find him in the back yard where he was setting up
a barbecue. The bearded, handsome Fisher greeted the
detectives and suggested that they move to the front yard
to avoid the late afternoon sun which still blazed down.

Told that they were looking for Laura Lea Burbank and
shown her picture, Fisher said that he had seen her.
“Sunday or Monday, she was hitchhiking on Steilacoom
Boulevard and I gave her a ride home.”

“You mean she was actually thumbing a ride?”

Fisher said that she had been. After picking her up, he
recognized her as the girl who had come into the pet shop
on three occasions. “I often pick up hitchhikers—it doesn’t
matter who they are,” he said.

“Did you see Laura Burbank on the afternoon of July
1st?” Suprunowski asked.

“No, I definitely haven’t seen her since I gave her a
ride home.”

In explaining his own activities on July 1st, Fisher told
the detective he had worked in the pet shop with Olson
until about 4:30 and that he had not left the shop at all
during that time. Asked about his background, Fisher told
the officers he was born in Portland, Oregon in 1941 and
that his principal employment was in door-to-door book
sales. Although he helped Olson in the pet shop, he was
not actually working there he explained.. Asked if he had
any criminal record, Fisher said only for a reckless driving
charge in Seattle in 1965. He had been in the Navy at one

time and had been discharged in 1961.

“Have you ever lived in Sumner or on Sixth Avenue in
Tacoma or sold shoes at the Tacoma Mall?” Suprunowski
asked him. The question was prompted by a check
through Pierce County files which had turned up the
name of a David Fisher connected with unsolved child
molestation and attempted rape cases. :

“No, before I came here, I spent about five months in
Oakland, California,” was the reply.

Throughout the conversation, David Fisher remained
calm and cooperative. When asked if he would be willing
to take a polygraph examination—on questions regarding
the disappearance of Laura Lea Burbank only—he
agreed readily.

“What do you think?” Knabel asked his partner as they
left the Olson home.

Suprunowski shrugged. “He didn’t seem shaken up, did
he? Let’s go talk to Arthur Olson at the pet shop and see
what he says about the afternoon of July 1st.”

“Yeah, Dave and his wife live with us,” Olson respond-
ed to the officers’ first question. “They’ve been with us
about a month; he helps out some in the shop and I give
them free board and room—they’re expecting a baby and

I know he doesn’t have much money. He bought a mon-

key from me and came into the shop a lot and we got
to be friends.”

“Do you happen to remember if he worked here on
Wednesday?” Knabel asked casually.

“Yes . . . he came down about noon—and he worked
until about two or two-thirty. Then he asked me for the
keys to the pick-up—said he had to contact somebody.
He brought the truck back around 6:30.”

“You're sure about the times?”

“Well, I didn’t jot them down or anything, but that’s
just about right.”

It had been a long day for the two detectives but they
had a premonition they were working against time. With
every passing hour, Laura Lea’s disappearance became
more ominous. Leaving the pet shop, they drove back to
the Burbank residence. Mrs. Burbank said that her hus-
band was out looking for Laura Lea; they had had no word
of her at all since last talking to sheriff’s officers. A teen-
age girl sat with Mrs. Burbank, who told the officers:

“This girl has been at the pet shop with Laura a few
times.”

Il{nabel and Suprunowski questioned the 14-year-old
girl,
h“Have you ever met a man named Dave at the pet
shop?”

“Him? Yeah, I've met him. He's about 25 to 29, long
dark hair and sideburns? We were looking at the mon-
keys and he came over and asked us if we liked animals.

*

Overall supervision of the murder investigation was in hands
of Detective Chief Janovich (left) and Detective Capt. Keck
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He talked to us for about a half an hour and said if we
came back on a Monday or a Wednesday he'd let us walk
them. Then he asked us if we'd like to go for a ride with
him sometime to Steilacoom and he’d show us where he
took them out to exercise them. Laura was all excited
about it but I figured he was just on the make for me. I
never went back there again, but Laura talked about
him and the animals a lot.” :

“How would you describe Laura Lea?”’ Knabel asked.

“Well, she’s real shy, you know. She'd never get in a car
with anyone. One time my neighbor offered her a ride—
and she knew him—but she wouldn’t getin .. ."”

Checking in to the detective unit the next morning at
8:30, the officers learned that Laura Lea was still missing.

“He asked the girls to go to Steilacoom with him to
exercise the animals and one of the neighbor kids says
that he promised Laura he’d show her some raccoons and
kittens. The only place around here that would have
animals like that would be the Phillips Game Farm,”
Suprunowski commented. “Let’s take a run out there and
see if any of the employes remember seeing a B. & I. Pet
Shop truck around there on Wednesday.” )

But game farm employes could not remember seeing
either the truck or Fisher and the girl. The two officers
next talked to every shop owner in the vicinity of Laura
Lea’s path to the pet store but she had vanished \yithout
being seen as if she had been swallowed up into the air.

“She may be hurt or ill some place around that pasture
shortcut or cemetery. We've checked it every way we can
—except with dogs,” Knabel commented. A call was put
in at once to Deputy Jack McDonald who is active in
handling the Search and Rescue Dogs. McDonald, assigned
temporarily to handle the teeming thousands of young
people at the rock festival in Eatonville, was located and
called back to say he would alert members of Search and
Rescue Dogs group (a largely civilian unit) and arrange
for a search.

At 6 pm., eight Search and Rescue volunteers and
their highly trained dogs arrived at the cemetery and
Flett’s pasture. For five long hours, the dogs, working grid
patterns, moved silently between the grave stones and
through the wooded meadow. Finally, the detec‘uveg a}nd
dog-handlers were satisfied that, wherever the missing
teenager was, she was not lying wounded—or dead—
along the trail she had taken on July 1st.

During the evening, a call had come in from Laura
Lea’s father saying he had heard that a junior high school
teacher had talked to Laura Lea on the afternoon of July

Juvenile Division Defecﬁves Knabel (left) and
Suprunowski were credited with solving mystery

Ist. This man, located at Clover Park High School where
he was teaching summer classes in Driver’s Education,
proved an excellent source of information.

“I left home about 2:30 that afternoon,” he said, “riding
my daughter’s horse across the pasture and up behind the
cemetery. As I crossed the railroad tracks, I noticed a
young girl sitting on the ground next to the path. I said,
‘Come on, Bobbie, let’s go!’ to the horse and the girl stood
up and told me she knew a girl who had a horse named
Bobbie. I told her that was my daughter. I asked her what
she was doing sitting there on the edge of the tracks and
she told me, ‘I'm waiting for a friend to take me to see
some raccoons and her kittens.’”

The teacher said he rode on by, talked to a friend for
about five minutes, and rode back across the tracks about
15 minutes later. The little girl was gone.

The days crept by and still Laura Lea Burbank did not
return. Her picture was flashed across television screens
in the Seattle-Tacoma area and newspapers publicized
her disappearance, but no one came forward with in-
formation,

David Fisher’'s movements were watched carefully by
Detectives Suprunowski and Knabel, but it was a frus-
trating time for them. Working day and night to locate the
missing girl, her clouded path always led back to the
B. & I. Pet Shop. If she was dead—as they now feared—
her body was hidden, and, without a body, they could
not bring charges. . \

Following up on prior morals cases in which a suspect,
never apprehended, reportedly had been named David
Fisher, they found the victims positive that the David
Fisher in the picture of him which had been obtained by
Knabel and Suprunowski was not the man who had
attacked them . ..

And then Eric Olson told the detectives something in-
teresting. Eric, the son of the owner of the pet shop, said
he had seen a friend who asked him, “What were you
doing out on the Fort Lewis Reservation the other day?”
Eric had not been there, he told his friend, but the friend
insisted he had seen the pet shop’s pick-up truck parked
along a lonely road.

The officers contacted the friend, who recalled that he
had seen the truck parked on the Reservation on June
25th. “As far as we know, the only person who had the
truck on that day was David Fisher,” Suprunowski com-
mented. “He wasn’t there with Laura Lea on that day—but
T'd like to know what he was doing out there. We'll ask
him about it when the time is right.”

Officers searched the yellow pick-up truck, with Arthur
Olson’s cooperation, but found nothing that would indi-
cate Laura Lea had ridden in it; it was dirty and had
obviously not been cleaned for some time.

Detective Suprunowski placed a call to the Olson res-
idence early on the morning of July 7th. Fisher's 17-year-
old wife answered. Her husband was not at home, she
told the detective. She promised she would have her hus-
band call back as soon as he got home.

When Fisher called Supronowski back in five minutes,
the detective casually mentioned that Fisher had indi-
cated he would be willing to take a lie-detector test, and
one had been set up for Friday, July 8th at 1 p.m.

Fisher said he didn’t think he could make that appoint-
ment. “I have heart trouble—had rheumatic fever in 1957
and it’s left me with a heart condition. I'm supposed to see
my doctor on Friday.” Suprunowski asked the name of
the doctor and was given a name and telephone number
in suburban Tacoma. Calling the number, he found that
the doctor in question had not practiced in Tacoma or
its suburbs for some time.

The next morning, Fisher called Suprunowski and said
he had “just happened” to consult his attorney on some
other legal matter and mentioned the pending polygraph
exam and the attorney had advised him not to give a
statement or take a lie-detector test under any circum-
stances. However, he finally agreed to come into Pierce
County headquarters and talk to Detectives Knabel and
Suprunowski. .

Advised of his rights, Fisher reiterated that he had not
left the pet shop on the day of Laura Lea’s disappearance
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When children using this playhouse in woods came across
the young victim’s skull, it led homicide men to her grave

until 4:30 p.m. At that time, he said, he had borrowed the
keys to the yellow pick-up and had driven to see a man
in Lake City who owed him $15. He said he was back at
the pet shop by 7 p.m. and remained there until closing
when he went home with Arthur Olson.

Asked for the names of some of his associates in the
book-selling business, he gave the officers the name For-
rest Williams and his apartment address. When questioned
about the date he gave Laura Lea Burbank a ride home,
he now believed it had been somewhere around the
25th of June. ’

Detective Knabel contacted the suspect’s business asso-
ciate, Forrest Williams, at his residence. Williams said
that David Fisher had attempted to borrow not only his
car, but that of another friend, beginning on July 2nd.
Williams had finally let Fisher take his automobile on the
fifth of July. The suspect had taken the car about 4:30 in
the afternoon and had not returned it until almost 10 that
night. “He told me not to wonder if the car smelled bad—
he said he had run over a skunk. I didn’t notice any odor
because I had hayfever and couldn’t smell anything. He
also insisted that he would come over and wash my car
the next morning. He's borrowed it before and he’s never
offered to wash it ...”

Detective Knabel asked that sheriff’s officers be allowed
to check the V8 Rebel some place where the search would
not be observed by neighbors. Williams said that he would
take it into a service station for a lube job and officers
could check it there. The car was free of bloodstains or
bits of clothing or hair, but the trunk floor had pieces of
grass and a dry branch near the latch. With the car up on

the hoist, Knabel noted a great many strands of long grass
and grass seeds on its underbody; there were traces of
green bark scrapings on the gas tank bottom. Asked if he
had driven his car in a grassy or wooded area recently,
Williams was positive that he had not.

It was an upside-down sort of case. The officers felt sure
that they had a killer; yet they had no victim.

On July 10th, a Tacoma resident asked to see the offi=
cers working on the Burbank case. The informant, the
father of an eight-year-old girl, told Knabel that he didn’t
know if his information would be helpful or not but that
his daughter had been friendly with the man in the pet
shop and that he felt the “monkey-man” had shown undue
interest in the little girl.

Detective Knabel talked to the girl who said, “I was
looking at the monkeys and he talked to me for a long
time. Then he said that he often took the monkeys out in
back to exercise them and he would show me the place
where he took them. He told me it was a ‘secret place’ and
that I must not tell anyone about it. I finally said I'd go out
in back with him and he took me out the back door.

“We walked behind the lumber yard and across the
tracks into the woods. It was raining and I wanted to go
back because I was getting scared. He showed me a dead
limb up in a tree and he said he didn’t like dead limbs be-
cause they hurt the other trees and he wanted to hold me
up so I could get it down, but I wouldn’t let him. Then he
asked me if I ever played games like hide and seek but I
said I didn’t like to.play those games when it was raining.”

The child led Detective Knabel and her parents to the
area in question. She pointed out the tree limb and Kna-
bel noted that it could easily be reached by an adult of
normal height. Shown several pictures, the little girl at
once picked out one of David Fisher.

Knabel returned to the brushy and swampy cat trail
where Fisher had taken the child and searched it on foot
for two hours, wondering if perhaps he might find the
remains of Laura Lea Burbank. It was a fruitless search.
The only item of interest found was a woman’s white
blouse with green trim which did not match the clothing
Laura had last been seen wearing. '

On July 14th, Detectives Suprunowski and Knabel ar-
rived at the Olson residence and found David Fisher
home alone. They asked him to show them the route he
had driven on July 1st to try to establish a’time element
and a possible alibi for him. They drove from the B. & L
Pet Shop area at exactly 1:35 pm. and headed down
South Tacoma Way to Union Avenue and then turned
down the Spanaway Loop Road to Military Road and
onto the Mountain Highway.

Fisher directed them back and forth for about 40 min-
utes covering each street from 161st to 168th. He told
them he was searching for the customer’s house—the man
who owed him $15—but didn’t find it on the First. Knabel
asked him why, since he had had an address, he hadn’t
stopped at a post office or fire station which the trio had
passed several times and ask for directions instead of
wasting time and gas aimlessly driving back and forth.
Fisher said he had never thought of doing so.

Finally, the detectives halted the search and said, “Do
you mind if we take you for a short ride to look at some-
thing?” Fisher consented and they proceeded out to the
Pole Line Road and drove to the lonely road where wit-
nesses had spotted the B. & I. truck on June 25th. They
asked him if he had ever been there before and he said he
hadn’t. Then they asked him again. The suspect took a
long time to answer and finally said:

“Well—about three weeks ago, I drove a kid who works
in the shopping center out here with his girl friend. I
brought a bottle of wine for myself, but I didn’t give them
any. Then I sat by the truck and waited while they ‘took
a walk’ I think maybe the kids had intercourse—but I
didn’t touch the girl myself.”

Then Fisher directed the detectives further along the
circuitous route he claimed to have taken on July 1st. The
entire route described by Fisher—even with his getting
lost—took only one hour and 30 minutes to traverse.

Back at the shopping center, the detectives walked
Fisher into the area where he had taken the eight-year-



old girl. They asked him about taking a young blonde girl
for a walk and used the terms she had related to the offi-
cers. Fisher was visibly shaken but vehemently denied
that he had ever walked behind the pet shop with any
girls.

Driving home, the detective team confronted Fisher with
their suppositions that he knew what had happened to
Laura Lea Burbank. He refused to discuss her and told de-
tectives he would call them in the morning.

Like a house of cards, David Fisher’s alibis began to
crumble. Mrs. Arthur Olsen called detectives that after-
noon to say that at first she was not sure about what her
non-paying boarder had done on July 1st but that now
she was beginning to believe that he was somehow in-
volved in the disappearance of Laura Lea Burbank.

“He stayed at the store with us that evening until after
9, and we all went home together,” she said. “Dave’s wife
had prepared an especially nice dinner but he refused to
eat anything; he always has been a heavy eater before
and never skipped a meal. During the rest of the evening
and the next day, he was upset, rude and abusive to his
wife and talked very little. In the
morning, he insisted that his wife
wash the trousers that he’d worn the
day before—even though always be-
fore he’d sent all his clothes to the
dry cleaners, .even wash-and-wear
items.”

Farly the morning of July 15th,
Mrs. Olson and the suspect’s wife ar-
rived at sheriff's headquarters for
an interview with Detective Supru-
nowski. Gently questioning the very
expectant Mrs. Fisher, Suprunowski
learned that Fisher had refused to
accompany the two women to head-
quarters.

Mrs. Fisher said that she realized
that her husband probably had some
sexual abnormalities, saying that he
often brought home pornographic
films and magazines. She said that
she thought he was a sick man, and
had become very seclusive, hiding
money from her and lying.

Detectives Knabel and Suprunow-
ski next called on the youth Fisher
said had accompanied him and the
young girl friend to the parking spot
on Pole Line Road. The teenager
said he didn’t want to get anyone in
trouble, but the officers advised him
they were working on a very seri-
ous case. At first, he denied being
with Fisher, but then admitted that
the suspect had asked him many
times if he knew any girls they could
take out. The boy had arranged a
double-date but the girl who had been meant for Fisher
refused to go at the last minute. So the three of them had
driven to the Army Reservation and gotten drunk on wine
Fisher had purchased. The youth admitted having inter-
course with the girl but said Fisher had not participated.
After that, Fisher had taken the boy home first and then
said he would drive the girl home. Reluctantly, the youth
gave the officers the girl’s name.

“Yes,” the 17-year-old girl admitted, “I went out to the
Reservation with my friend and a man about 29. We—my
friend and I—made love while Dave waited by the truck.
When we came back, the man tried to get me to work as a
prostitute for him. He said he’d pay me $100 a week and
would get me a place to stay, five days a week and we
would split the money. He kept asking but I told him no.
After he took my friend home, we drove out Pacific Av-
enue to Spanaway Park and he pulled off and parked by
the creek. He kissed me a few times but I told him I had
to get home so he drove me directly home. I got out and
he said, ‘T might see you again. You can call me at the
pet shop.””

A warrant was issued for David Fisher on charges of
soliciting prostitution for a minor girl under 18.

But David Fisher had disappeared . ..

Later, Detectives Knabel and Suprunowski went to the
Olson home and picked up a pair of panties which had
been found there. They then contacted Laura Lea’s par-
ents and reluctantly told them that things looked bad
for their missing daughter. Viewing the lace panties, the
missing girl’s mother and sisters recognized them. The
mother said she recalled having laundered them only a
few weeks before and pointed out a spot where the lace
had been torn. She added that the panties had not been
seen in the house since Laura Lea left.

“If we could place Laura Lea in the pick-up truck. on
July 1st,” Suprunowski murmured, “we’d have more le-
verage in questioning Fisher when he turns up.”

The two officers, aware that Fisher often used the Fort
Lewis Reservation area for his private pursuits, asked
Army personnel to notify all servicemen on the base about
the missing girl and the description of the pick-up truck
in an effort to place the distinctive yellow vehicle in the

David Fisher, shown with and without beard, was questioned in the probe

area. In response to the request, an Army trainee came
forward and said that he had seen the truck directly in
front of his barracks on July 1st, and added:

“I used to be a truck driver myself and T hope to get a
pickup truck so I noticed this one. The girl in the truck
seemed to be about fifteen years old and had long hair—
the driver was older. I know it was the first of July be-
cause I was standing in the phone booth in front of the
barracks trying to call my mother in California. She had
just switched to an unlisted number on that date and I
had a lot of trouble getting through to her.”

For the detectives, the methodical investigation had
ground to a frustrating halt. Laura Lea was inexplicably
gone. They felt sure that David Fisher knew where she
was but he was gone too. Teletypes were sent throughout
the Western states in an effort to trace him. On July 22,
1970, David Fisher, with his attorney, surrendered on the
soliciting charge. However, he refused to discuss Laura
Lea Burbank and was bailed out of jail at once. There was
nothing more Pierce County sheriff’s detectives could do.

The weeks passed. Laura Lea’s (Continued on page 62)
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DEATH TRAP DECOY FOR
THE BLONDE OHIO GOED

by CHARLES O'BANION

Under other circumstances, the
vivacious teenager could never
have been deceived, but either
through grimly ironic luck

or diabolical design, her
murderer fooled her with
precisely the right choice of

time, place and approach . . .

T HAS BEEN NOTED many times by police who
have had cogent reasons to give the matter some
thought, that young girls who normally would know
better, occasionally display a capability for injudi-
cious behavior that can and does lead to tragic con-
sequences.
And all too plainly apparent, side by side with a
contemplation of that unfortunate capability, can be found

unmistakable evidence that this feminine failing has not’

escaped the notice of that special breed of male monster
who preys on the weaknesses of the weaker sex. Curious-
ly enough, in matters of this sort, sex criminals, not other-
wise distinguished for their mental accomplishments, dis-
play a native canniness which is nothing short of
remarkable.

In most instances when they are successful in their
bestial designs, it is due to an interlocking combination of
time, place, circumstances and approach. All of these
elements figured in the entrapment of a vivacious blonde
Ohio coed named Judy Sooy.

At the age of 18, Judy was as bright as they come. She
had completed her freshman year at Kent State College
with honors. She had acquired that protective veneer of
sophistication common to young girls of her generation
which gives them built-in alarms that set off bells in their
pretty heads when they sense danger from the male an-
imal. And for the most part, they display a truly uncanny
perceptiveness in their evaluation of men of any age.

How, then, can girls like this be deceived?

We come back to the elements stated before: time,
place, circumstances and approach. If Judy had been away
from home when she received that fateful call, it is a vir-
tual certainty that her reaction would have been different.
She would have inquired at greater length and demanded
details which, in all likelihood, would have scared the man
off, or, in his attempts to answer them, would have be-
trayed him as an impostor.

If it had not been close to the beginning of colleges’ fall
terms, she would have asked more questions. But that was
a time of year when going-away parties, or farewell-to-
summer parties, were a common enough circumstance.

That was the approach used by the young man who had
sinister designs on the pretty girl from Cuyahoga Falls,
Ohio, a suburb of Akron, who would soon be returning to
Kent State to begin her sophomore year.

Judy may have been surprised when the telephone call
came that Sunday inviting her to an impromptu get-
together, but only mildly. True, Mike Dorrance had never
called her before, but that didn't really mean anything;
she was a good-looking girl, and there was no reason he
shouldn’t have developed an interest in her, even if he
was a couple of years older. Girls grew up, boys noticed
that, and there had to be a first time.

And Mike was a handsome guy who had everything
going for him. The son of a well-to-do family, he lived in
a beautiful home in the most exclusive residential suburb
north of Akron. He had been a couple of years ahead of
Judy in school, but everybody knew Mike Dorrance, one
of the most popular guys in the area. He was a topnotch
football star, for one thing.

It was ages since Judy Sooy had seen Mike, except from
a distance, but apparently he had seen her. After an ex-
change of small talk when he called that Sunday, he told
Judy that a bunch of other fellows and girls were coming
over for a sort of farewell-to-summer party which would
be the usual thing—records, dancing and refreshments.

So Judy agreed to go, but she told Mike in advance that
she didn’t want to stay out late; she had already planned
a very full day for Monday, when she was going to start
getting ready to go back to school in earnest.

That seemed to be all right with Mike. There was a little
discussion about how she would get to the party, and
when that was straightened out, Judy hung up.

This part of the telephone conversation Judy had with
her caller would become a pivotal point in the police in-
vestigation that would get under way in all too short a
time. And in the final analysis, it turned out to be one of
those things which might have sounded strange to an
adult, but which was a very usual, commonplace thing
among teenagers of Judy Sooy’s generation. And again, a
combination of factors lulled her into a false sense of
security.

If she had experienced even a twinge of doubt, which
was questionable under the circumstances, she probably
said to herself, what can happen to me in my home town?

In any case, Judy rushed around getting ready for the
party, then, breathlessly as she was going out the door,
she called back, “I'll be home before midnight—I've got a
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Pretty Judy had plenty of dates but was delighted to get a
party invitation from caller she thought was football hero
a couple years her senior, It was an invitation to murder . . .

million things to do tomorrow.”

Now there was one thing about Judy that never varied.
When she said she was going to be home—or any other
place—at a certain time, she meant exactly what she said.
She had a thing about never being late. She always kept
appointments on the dot, or a few minutes early.

But on that Sunday night of September 3, 1961, Judy
was not home at midnight. Nor was she there by 12:15.
When she still had not returned by half-past twelve, there
was cause for concern. With another girl, a half hour’s
tardiness might have been considered of little conse-
quence, but not with a girl of Judy’s known promptness.

Concern turned to undisguised alarm when a call was
made to the home of her host, Mike Dorrance. For now
some frightening truths emerged . . .

Judy Sooy was not at the Dorrance residence. She had
not been there at any time that evening. Neither, for that

matter, had the handsome youth who was supposed to be
hosting a party there that night to which the Sooy girl
had been invited.

* “There must be some mistake,” the servant at the Dor-
rance home said. “There’s been no party here tonight.”

What about Mike Dorrance? Where could he be
reached?

That was hard to say, exactly, He might be at his frater-
nity house. He had left home the day before to return to
his eastern university to begin his senior year.

“Someone must have been playing a practical joke,”
the servant said.

If it was indeed a practical joke, it was a grim one,
Detective Captain John Stewart of the Cuyahoga Falls
Police Department thought when he arrived at Judy
Sooy’s home a little later in response to the repory of
the girl’s strange absence.

When he was told about the telephone call which had
lured the pretty blonde coed from her home, the detective
chief, who had had a Iot of experience with teenage antics,
mildly suggested that possibly Judy herself had been a
party to a prearranged scheme to deceive her family,

Teenagers frequently employed such ruses to keep

5

After talking to coed’s parents, Capt. Stewart (I.) told Det.
Zentz (r), “This is either an abducdtion, or something worse”
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adults from learning too much about
their affairs, Captain Stewart point-
ed out. .

The captain’s suggestion was
promptly refuted. Judy simply was
not that kind of a girl. There would
have been no reason to lie about the
identity of her caller. She was a
thoroughly dependable and self-pos-
sessed young lady who enjoyed the
complete trust of her parents and
knew they would have no objection
to her spending the evening with
friends.

Captain Stewart was impressed,
and explained that he had offered
the suggestion not to impugn the
missing girl’s character, but because
more often than not in cases of this
type, one form or another of youth-
ful deception proved to be behind
the missing person’s absence.

“I'd like to ask a few questions
about Judy now,” he said, “because
if she is actually missing and not
just late, the more we know about
her, the easier it may be for us to
find her.”

In the interview that followed, the
captain’s questions elicited answers
which impressed him even more with the character of the
missing girl, and gradually he began to have the uneasy
feeling that the situation might well be something far
more serious than thoughtless or ill-considered teenage
behavior.

Before her graduation from the local high school a year
ago the past June, Judy Sooy had been a member of the
National Honor Society as well as half a dozen other stu-
dent groups. She had always been a serious student but
despite that, she was more than just a “bookworm.” Nat-
urally outgoing and vivacious, she partook in many other
extra-curricular activities and was popular with her
classmates. She dated and went to dances, but she had no
steady boy friend. It was rare for her to go out on a date
without other couples being along.

College had not brought about any great change in the
pattern of her social activities, it seemed. Judy continued
to live at home, commuting to Kent State College nearby.
For that reason, she took little interest in campus social
activities. Just about all of her close friends lived right
there in Cuyahoga Falls.

To help finance her education, Judy had obtained a job
as a secretary for a local employment agency when her
college year ended in June and had worked for this firm
all summer. She planned to quit the job soon, however,
because she had to return to classes in two weeks.

Judy had been a little surprised when the call came
from Mike Dorrance to attend a back to school party that
night. She was just finishing her freshman year when the
popular young football star graduated from Cuyahoga
high school and went on to a college in the east.

Judy had known Mike, of course, but in a casual way,
and after the call came that night, she’d said it was the
first time he had ever called her. She had made sure
there were going to be other girls present. She inquired
twice about that before she asked permission to go to the
party and agreeing to meet another guest at the shopping
center near her home,

“What’s this about meeting another guest?” Captain
Stewart asked. “Why didn’t the fellow who invited her

>

Youth (r.) told Chief Coleman, “| did not intend to rape the
girl. | just wanted to undress her and look at her nude body”

Ohio’s Governor, James Rhodes, heard
the final appeal of killer of a popular
blonde coed, then decided youth’s fate

to the party call for her?”

The explanation for that was a
logical one, as Judy had explained
it. Her host was “up to his neck” in
last-minute arrangements for the
impromptu party. A pal of his who
lived in the same neighborhood was
coming to the party and would pick
her up a few blocks from her home.
It would be simpler for his friend to
find her at the shopping center, a
popular rendezvous for local teen-
agers, because he might have diffi-
culty finding her home.

Judy had left the house about an
hour after receiving the telephoned
invitation. It was only five short
blocks to the shopping center at
State Road and the Portage Trail.
She should have arrived there in
plenty of time for the 9:30 appoint-
ment to meet the other guest who
would take her to the party.

This, then, was the background for
the still unexplained absence of Judy
Sooy. Before leaving the girl’s home,
Captain Stewart telephoned police
headquarters and made arrange-
ments for detectives to go to the
shopping center at once. If someone
had used young Dorrance’s name as a ruse to get the girl
out of her home, that person’s meeting with the pretty
girl might have been witnessed. Judging from her picture,
Captain Stewart believed that Judy Sooy was the type of
girl people turned around to get a better look at.

“I can’t go along with the idea that this is merely some
prank pulled by some of the girl’s friends,” Captain Stew-
art told Detectives Doran Hammack and Bernie Zents.

“And I'm convinced that the girl wasn’t trying to pull
the wool over her family’s eyes, when she left for her
meeting with the fellow who was supposed to pick her up.”

“You think it’s that serious?” asked Detective Zents.

“lI do,” Stewart replied. “This is either an abduction,
or something worse.”




The captain then drove out to the Dorrance home,
where he was happy to find lights still burning. The rea-
son became apparent when Stewart apologized for calling
at that late hour.

“T'd have waited until morning,” he told Mr. Dorrance,
“if the matter wasn’t so urgent.”

Dorrance assured him no apology was necessary. He
said he didn’t know what was going on, but that when he
heard about the girl who was supposed to have attended
a party given by his son that night, he was anxious to do
whatever he could to clear up the misunderstanding, or
whatever it was.

Then he told Captain Stewart that he had already tele-
phoned his son at college to talk to him about it.

“Good,” the captain said. “What did he say?”

The youth’s father shrugged in bafflement, then said,
“Mike tells me he barely remembers the Sooy girl. He
says they spoke when meeting on the street, but that was
all. He said he didnt even see her once while he was
home this summer.” '

At the detective captain’s request, Mr. Dorrance put
through a second long distance call to his son at college.
After the connection was made, the father explained to
Mike that Captain Stewart was at their home and would
like to ask him some questions, then handed the phone
to the officer.

Without preliminary, Stewart asked, “Have you any
idea who might have used your name to lure this girl
from her home.”

“Neither who, nor why,” young Dorrance replied
straightforwardly. “I hardly know the girl. She goes with
a much younger crowd, and it wouldn’t have occurred to
me to try to date her, although she’s certainly a pretty
girl and very popular.”

“To your knowledge,” the captain then asked, “have
any of your pals ever used your name before in trying
to get dates?”

“No,” Mike declared promptly, “and if anyone had, the
police would have heard about it.”

Returning to headquarters, Captain Stewart found his
aides waiting to report. A dozen persons who lived along
the route Judy presumably would have walked to the
shopping center had been awakened and questioned. All
had been at home and awake between 9:30 and 10 the
previous evening. One couple who had been sitting on
their porch said they had seen the girl.

Judy, a familiar figure in the neighborhood had strolled
by in the direction of the shopping center, they recalled.
She had been alone and seemed to be in a hurry.

At the shopping center,- the two detectives had found
the vast parking lot deserted, illuminated only by the
flashing headlights of passing cars. Persons who lived in
the immediate area had neither seen nor heard anything
to arouse their curiosity during the period in question.
Several, however, volunteered that teenage boys of the
neighborhood often met their dates in the parking Iot,
after the stores beyond it were closed for the night.

In the missing persons alert broadcast at -daybreak,
Judy Sooy was described as 5 feet 6 inches tall, with a
shapely, well-matured figure and regular features. With
blue-gray eyes and silvery blonde hair arranged softly
above her ears, Judy was wearing a dark knitted dress,
low-heeled slippers and red anklets. She carried a white
leather handbag containing cosmetics and a leather wal-
let. In the wallet was about $10 in cash and an oil com-
pany credit card.

The description, along with a plea for anyone who had
seen her to come forward, was published in news-
papers throughout Monday, Labor Day. Among those who
heard one of the late broadcasts that evening were Mr.
and Mrs. Morgan Ekson as they were returning to their
home after a weekend visit with friends in southern Ohio,
Their home was less than a mile from the residence of the
missing girl. They heard the report as they pulled into the
driveway of their home, which was six blocks from the
State Road Shopping Center, shortly before 10 p.m.

Mr. Ekson, the first to enter the house, went in through

For two and a half years, the teenager convicted of luring a
pretty girl to her death, lived in the shadow of electric chair

to the basement, intending to get some food from the re-
frigerator there for a snack before retiring. Mrs. Ekson
was setting the table in the kitchen when her husband
appeared at the head of the stairway from the basement a
few minutes later. His face was ashen.

“There’s a dead girl down there!” he exclaimed. “She
—she’s been murdered!”

He then said at once that the dead girl fitted the de-
scription of the teenager about whom they had just heard
the missing person report on the car radio. He said that as
he stepped around behind the furnace toward the base-
ment refrigerator, he almost stumbled over her fully
clothed, blood-spattered body where it lay face up on
the concrete basement floor.

A dozen local and county officers arrived at the house
minutes later in answer to Ekson’s call. Among them were
Captain Stewart and Summit County Coroner William
Pittenger. The latter two went directly to the body while
the other officers questioned Mr. Ekson, after ascertain-
ing that nothing had been disturbed on the floor below.

In the basement, meanwhile, (Continued on page 53)
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The ‘Amen’’
Swindler

(Continued from page 39)

proper moment. So he began bet-
ting comparatively small sums. He was
well aware that the house was playing
against him when he began winning
quite regularly. And he was doubly as-
sured that the house’s system of steer-
ing the ball was very much in order
when the croupier said to Fred:

“You're doing pretty well tonight, sir.
Why don’t you take advantage of your
luck and put down a big sum?”

“Do you think I should?” asked Buck-
minster, “Do you really think I should?”

The conversation attragted the atten-
tion of other bettors—some of them
lured to the place by con men who went
out and brought them in for a cut of the
take. Fred made sure of this because
when he pressed the button that would
cancel out the house’s control of the
wheel he wanted so many people to see
him winning that the house wouldn’t
dare question it for its own good.

So Fred said: “All right, I think I'll
bet ten thousand.”

Fred put the bundle on Number Eight.
And wﬁat happened?: Leaning against
the table, Fred simply pressed the out-
of-the-way button that canceled out the
croupier’s mechanism to stop the wheel
at anything but eight and so the wheel
came in at eight—and Fred Buckmin-
ster simply stood there and collected a
small fortune.

In the years that lay ahead, Fred
Buckminster and Kid Dimes were to
travel around the country, between
Fred’s other cons, sneaking into gam-
bling joints under cover of night, fixing
wheels, and subsequently cleaning up.
“Fixing a fixed wheel,” Fred told me,
“was practically like an annuity—a sort
of shelter against a rainy day.”

It was during the early days of the
fixed wheel that Fred took on the guise
of the Deacon. Nobody questioned a
man of the cloth, he had decided. Not
only that, but Fred was blessed with a
round cherubic countenance and a big
loose-jointed body that somehow made
him lock just like a minister when he
donned black attire and a turned-around
collar. Added to that was his voice. It
was high and querulous and that of a
man who didn’t know many of the an-
swers and who was in need of guidance.

And what was a minister doing in a
gambling joint? The characters who ran
the joints, Fred had found, didn’t give
one good or bad damn about who they
took, just so money resulted. Fred’s pitch
as a minister in a gambling den—a man
who didn’t know the first thing about a
roulette wheel-—was that his church had
burned down and that he was badly in
need of funds with which to rebuild it.
His favorite piece of acting after hitting
a jackpot with the fixed wheel, just so
his hosts wouldn't get suspicious before
he got away with the loot, was to raise
his eyes heavenward, blink them soul-
fully, and utter just four words: “Thank
you, oh Lord. ...”

Fred, who liked to travel between
cons, was, in New Orleans, trying the
dishes and the drinks and the dolls,
when he heard about a sharp citizen
outside of the town of New Iberia who
was trying to palm off, on whoever was
stupid enough to buy it, a salt mine that
wasn’t producing. Our man boned up on
salt mines, something he had never be-
fore heard of. He learned that the way

salt was brought to the surface was by
pumping distilled water down into a
subterranean layer of salt through a
pipe, melting the salt, pumping the salt
water to the surface, then evaporating
the water, leaving only the salt. A salt
mine that was producing was worth a
small fortune.

So Fred went to New Iberia, carrying
his Bible and wearing his turned-
around collar, and bought the bad salt
mine for a song—for his flock’s future,
as he explained things to the owner. On
all sides of him were the derricks of the
mines that were paying off handsomely.

Fred went to Chicago, in search. of
operators he would need to help him in
this one. He first contacted a con man
named Frank Tarbeau, a very shady
operator who was known to his friends
as Indian Frank despite the fact that he
had no Indian blood. In some swindles,
Tarbeau played the part of a Pawnee
prince with oil lands in Oklahoma and
he knew practically everything there
was to know about mining.

Filling Tarbeau in on the non-produc-
ing salt mine he had just bought, the
Deacon explained what he wanted In-
dian Frank to do: “Simply get a sucker
—a banker if possible—and tell him
you've found out about this parson down
in New Iberia who has this salt mine.
Tell him that the mine is worth at least
a quarter of a million but that the man
who owns it is a religious nut and will
let it go for a song to somebody who
goes to church regularly.”

“How have you fixed the mine to fool
whoever I get, Fred?” Indian Frank
wanted to know.

“I've sprinkled so many goddamned
bags of salt all around that mine and
into it that it can’t miss looking like the
real thing during the brief time it'll
take to unload it.”

“And what else are you doing?”

“T figure on getting Jimmy Walsh—or
somebody like him if I can’t get him—
to appear in the state geologist’s: office
in Baton Rouge with a glowing state
report for the sucker on the property.”

Indian Frank rubbed his chin and
chuckled. “It sounds great,” he said.
“And I wouldn’t be surprised if I have
just the man we need already lined up.”

Indian Frank, who had been posing in
the Windy City as a pigeon who flew

aaround the country smelling out big

opportunities for Chicagoans and lead-
ing them to them for a commission, had
been in contact with one T. Ellsworth
Ravenwood, the president of a thriving
bank in a suburb of Chicago. Raven-
wood was a tight-lipped, flinty-eyed
character in a neat blue serge suit—a
typical banker of the era.

So while Indian Frank set out to
spring the good news to the banker
about the bargain in New Iberia being
offered by the “religious nut,” our man
set out to find Jimmy Walsh. Walsh, a
very hard drinker who sometimes van-
ished for weeks at a time, was a tanned,
outdoor type who looked just like a civil
engineer when he put on a khaki shirt
and puttees. Fred was lucky. Walsh was
between benders and would be glad to
get into the Louisiana deal.

“You say this man’s a sort of religious
nut?” the banker asked Indian Frank
after the con man had explained the
opportunity in New Iberia.

“He thinks of nothing but the Bible.”

The banker chortled. “This’'ll be
great,” he said. “I teach Sunday School
myself and we should get along just
great.”

It was a great scene in New Iberia
when Indian Frank arrived with T.
Ellsworth Ravenwood. The air was alive

with quotes from the Good Book on
both sides. “God has called me and I
won’t be here long,” our man told the
Illinois banker after the initial blessings
had been bestowed, “and I have no liv-
ing relatives to leave money to. All I
want is enough to leave to some
churches.”

Fred let the banker taste some of the
planted salt that was coming up from
the fixed mine—and salt is salt. How
much, the banker wanted to know,
would Fred want for the mine?

Fred shrugged. “Like I said.” he re-
plied, “money isn’t everything. The fact
that you are religious is what is impor-
tant.” Fred stroked his chin and looked
off into space. “Let’s say this: I'll take
half of what the state geologist’s office
says it’s worth. And may God bless us
both.”

So off they went—the banker-sucker
and Indian Frank to the State House in
Baton Rouge. There, while the banker
waited outside, Indian Frank went into
the state geologist’s office where Jimmy
Walsh, all decked out in his surveying
costume, was waiting. Walsh sure looked
like the real thing to the banker when
he came out with Tarbeau. He was car-
rying a fictitious document, carefully
prepared by our man beforehand, that,
like all fictitious stuff the con men use,
looked more real than the real thing. It
broke down, in dollars and cents, the
result of a survey that the state geolo-
gist allegedly had recently made of the
salt mine being offered for sale.

T. Ellsworth Ravenwood read the
document, then questioned Walsh, who
was palming himself off as the geologist
who had made the survey of the salt
mine. “What would you say, sir,” asked
the greedy banker of the phony geolo-
gist, “that this mine is worth?”

“T couldn’t give you an exact figure,
sir,” said Walsh, speaking words sup-
plied by Buckminster for the occasion,
“put I'd say not less than a quarter of a
million. You see, that’s one of the best
mines in New Iberia and the minister
who owns it doesn’t know its real
worth.”

“What do you think the minister
thinks it’s worth?” Indian Frank cut in
to ask the other con man.

Walsh shrugged. “That minister’s kind
of touched in the head, in my opinion,”
answered Walsh. “I think if he got fifty
thousand he’d be very happy.” )

Now the banker, back in New, Iberia
talking to our man, showed himself in
his true colors. “The state geologist’s of~
fice says your mine is worth forty thou-
sand dollars,” he said to Fred. “I'm not
only going to give you the full price of
your mine, although you agreed you'd
take half, but I'm going to add ten thou-
sand extra for your wonderful religious
work.”

The banker at this point, Fred was
later to tell me, put on a little act by
raising his eyes heavenward, uttering a
little prayer, and sighing. “Tarbeau and
1,” Fred told me, “damned near blew the
job at that point because we had such a
hard time keeping from busting out
laughing.”

So Fred got the 50 grand, cutting In-
dian Frank and Jimmy Walsh in for
some of it, and T. Ellsworth Ravenwood
got the saltless salt mine.

After pulling a job, Buckminster usu-
ally departed from a singularly posh
apartment on the Windy City’s Lake
Shore for a trip to Europe. Accompany-
ing him abroad was a broad—his favor-~
ite doll of the moment. “I liked three
kinds of dolls,” Buck told me. “I was
crazy about brunettes, wild about red-
heads and nuts about blondes.”



Never a man to let the grass grow
under his feet, Fred, even though he
traveled the luxury liners as “The Dea-
con”—sometimes posing as a minister,
sometimes simply as a church leader—
made his passage money in card games.
Letting himself get lured into games run
by con men working the ships, he pulled
the same thing on them as he pulled in
the gambling houses—feigning innocence
when the pot was small and then, when
he had what seemed to be his life’s sav-
ings on the table, dealing ’em off the
. bottom to take the sharpies.

Confidence men have sold or leased
the Brooklyn Bridge, New York sky-
scrapers and the information bootn in
New York’s Grand Central Terminal as
a fruit stand. Fred was among those
who leased the Eiffel Tower in Paris.

The idea to put the Eiffel Tower on a
paying basis came to our man through
an item in the Paris edition of the New
York Herald-Tribune. The item stated
that the French government was play-
ing with the idea of tearing down the
tower, which had originally been put
up only as an attraction of the Paris
Exposition of 1889, because repair costs
were so high.

Fred ran an ad in the Paris edition of
the Manhattan paper under the name of
Reverend Harry Collingwood, suggesting
that visiting Americans interested in
making a financial killing communicate
with him at the Crillon Hotel—then and
now one of the lushest hostelries on
the globe. He drew just one reply—but
one, as it was to turn out, was enough,

The man who answered the ad was a
farmer from Illinois who was vacation-
ing in Paris with his wife and daughter.
His name was Henry H. T. Leach, and
he had, Fred was quick to learn, cleaned
up in Midwest real estate.

“You look like a religious man,” our
man said to the potential sucker.

Leach allowed that he was.

“That is all to the good,” said the
Deacon. “Then we can pray.”

It wasn’t until after a short prayer
that Fred got to the point. He had just
learned, he said, after going to a local
sawbones to find out why he was having
stomach pains, that he had an incurable
disease and had but a few months to
live. “But before I go,” he said, “I want
some good Christian American to take
advantage of what I have.”

And what did the Reverend Harry
Collingwood have? He produced papers
—authentic-looking counterfeits—on the
stationary of the Commission that was
in charge of the Eiffel Tower. The papers
gave the Reverend Collingwood, In re-
turn for an investment of his, rights to
the fiscal returns of the Tower for five
years.

And what were the fiscal returns?
Why, the dough paid by the countless
tourists who took the ride in the eleva-
tors up to the top of the Tower to look
at the enchanting scenery that lay on all
sides.

It sounded fascinating to the sucker.
He had just two questions to ask: How
much had the Reverend Colingwood
paid to the Eiffel Tower Commission for
his five-year lease and why, if he didn’t
find it now feasible to take advantage
of the agreement, didn’t he simply get
his money back from the Commission?

Our man smiled sadly. He had, he
said, paid $50,000 for the five-year lease
—10 thousand a year in advance of
money raised by his parishioners. Of
course, he could return the contract and
get his money back but, as a true Chris-
tian, he much preferred to see some
other true Christian, such as Mr. Leach,
take advantage of the contract.

So the man from the Midwest actually
forked over 50 grand, after several de-
lightful sessions with our man, to take
charge of the Eiffel Tower the first day
of the following month—July.

“I wasn't, of course, anywhere near
the Eiffel Tower, or France, for that
matter, when that chump arrived to take
over the tower at nine o’clock on July
First. But I can imagine that he gave the
gendarmes a rough time when they ar-
rived and tried to explain to him that he
had been taken.” Fred explained.

As the years passed, the Deacon be-
came a well-known figure in confidence
circles. He continued to rely, basically,
on three of his original cons—roulette
wheels fixed by Kid Dimes, the no-salt
salt mine in Louisiana and getting some-
one to take over his Eiffel Tower lease.

Having earned the respect of other con
men, Fred became something of an un-
derworld Bernard Baruch (the banker
who dispensed advice to all and sun-
dry). When younger bilk artists had
problems they came to Buckminster
with them and Fred dispensed to them,
for a cut of a take, the wisdom of the
years.

Fred was never without his Bible.
Sometimes he posed as a minister, some-
times simply as a deeply religious man.
But the Bible was always an asset. It
sure as hell helped him with big shots
who never missed church Sundays and
who gave the fiscal business to their
friends weekdays. And when Fred was
dealing with somebody to whom the
Good Book meant nothing, it at least
made him appear to be a strictly honest
man. In the words of Fred: “The Good
Booyl;: sure as hell was a good book to
me.

As time passed, Fred, much to his ad-
vantage, looked more and more like
somebody from the rural precincts. So
he laid it on thick, with baggy pants,
oversized jackets and shirts that were
several sizes too large for him. Added
to all that, he had a way of opening his
blue eyes so wide that he looked like
somebody who hardly knew how to read
a clock.

When he was pretty well along in his
career, Fred, like most con men, con-
tinued to find himself short at the pock-
ets. That was because, like his colleagues
in the profession, he was himself a suck-
er for chances of cleaning up quick—
like betting on long shots or buying bad
stuff in the stock market. Thus he was
constantly either trying to think up new
dupes, which was hard in itself, or play-
ing the old games, which were getting
to be pretty well known.

It was now, in the Twenties, that Fred
originated the dead-prizefighter gim-
mick. He got it going while attending
the Iowa State Fair, wearing his baggy

clothes and floppy Panama hat, but still
a man with a Bible. He struck up the
acquaintanceship of a rich farmer named
Harry Spink, and learned that Spink was
a man who liked to bet on a sure thing.

Our man told Spink he had just the
thing for him because he was going into
it himself. And what was that? Spink
wanted to know, It was a fixed prize-
fight to be staged by a private club in
Chicago. A couple of lightweights named
Kid Royal and Kid Dynamite were going
to go 10 rounds and while Kid Royal
was the big favorite he was going to
take a dive in the fourth round.

“How much are you going to bet?”
Spink asked our man.

“About fifty thousand,” said Fred.

“What are the odds going to be, do
you know?”

Fred didn’t know, but he guessed
about two to one.

Spink said he wanted some of that
dough. So the rich farmer and the con-
fidence man went to Chicago. There
Fred had really arranged things. He had
hired a barn on the outskirts of the city,
in the name of a real private club, half
a dozen con men and a hundred other
sharpies who were to pose as rich bet-
tors—plus two real lightweights who
were to stage the fight. In the centre of
the barn was a real ring.

On the day of the fight, Fred took
Spink out to the barn. It sure looked
and smelled like the genuine article, A
con man acting as the betting commis-
sioner walked around through the cigar
smoke, taking bets in large bundles of
stage money from other actors.

Fred summoned the betting man. “I
want to place this fifty thousand,” he
said, handing the other con man real
money, “on Kid Dynamite.”

Getting a receipt for the money, Fred
turned to Spink. “Now it’s your turn,”
he said. And Spink handed the fake
fommissioner another 50 grand of real
oot.

The fight started and everybody acted
very much on edge. The first, second
and third rounds went by, with Kid
Royal, the better of the two fighters,
holding an edge. Then came the fourth
round, when Kid Royal was to take the
dive.

The first minute passed, with Royal in
there punching and no sign of a dive.
The second minute passed, with the bet-
ter fighter still holding the edge. Now
Kid Royal, the fighter on whom Spink
had bet his 50 grand, let go with a hay-
maker and Kid Dynamite hit the can-
vas.

-The referee counted 10, with Dyna-
mite still on the canvas, apparently out
cold. A couple of minutes passed and
Dynamite was still lying there. The
phony referee leaned down and listened
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to Dynamite’s heart. Then he stood up
and yelled: “Is there a doctor in- the
house?”

Our man had thought of everything,
including a phony doctor, complete with
stethoscope. The doctor climbed into the
ring, leaned down and listened to Dyna-
mite’s heart. “This man,” the fake saw-
bhones said to the fake referee, “is dead.”

Buckminster stiffened and nudged
Spink, “Let’s get out of here—fast,” he
said. Nothing was said on the way back
to Chicago. Arriving there, Fred said:
“Gee, but that was close! We could of
been pinched as witnesses to a murder.”

“What should I do?” Spink asked our
man. “T've lost fifty thousand dollars.”

“Count your blessings,” said Fred,
“and get back to Iowa as fast as you
can.”

Fred worked the dead-fighter dodge
for years and all went well until the con
man he hired as the betting commis-
sioner pulled a boner. This particular
con man hated suckers with an all-con-
suming hatred and he had heard about
Dapper .Don Collins, another swindler,
calling his victims and uttering just two

~ words into a phone: “Hello, sucker.” So

this helper of Fred’s called the latest
chump who had been taken in the dead-
fighter dodge and said: “Hello, sucker.”

This latest sucker was so enraged that
he left his home in the rural precincts,
returned to Chicago and made a call on
Detective William B. Shoemaker, a
sleuth who hated confidence men. All
Shoemaker did was to walk around Chi-
cago for a couple of weeks with this
latest Buckminster sucker, telling the
man to let him know when he saw Fred.

Fred was coming out of the Black-
stone Hotel with a broad late ode after-
noon when his victim saw him. Fred
couldn’t buy out the detective and, since
he wouldn’t return any of the loot, he
was convicted of grand larceny and sen-
tenced to Joliet—the prison where he
had done the time for a crime he didn’t
commit—for three years.

Out of the Big House in 1930, and
broke at the age of 67, Fred had prob-
lems. His virility had run down on him.
And he had no money. But he had that
scheming brain—and that all-consuming
hatred for big shots. So he borrowed
dough from friends to get going again.

Now Fred opened a store—a fake bro-
kerage office in two rooms of a building
on Dearborn Street. He called his store
Frederick Q. Buckley, Incorporated. It
looked more real than the real thing—
fake ticker tape, a battery of fake tele-
phones and a stocck company of phonies
whose job it was, when a chump ap-
peared, to sit around yelling buy and
sell orders. Fred had an office just off the
room where all the action took place.

After opening the store, Fred went to
Indianapolis and placed an ad in one of
the papers saying he had come to town
to buy a factory. He got a nibble from a
man named Oscar Scriggins, who had a
factory for sale on the outskirts of town.

Scriggins was a wizened little man
with crafty eyes and a fine set of yellow
false teeth. He was greatly impressed
when Fred pulled a Bible from his
pocket and read a few lines. “I'm a
leader in my church,” he said. “I'm glad
to see that you carry the Good Book.”

Scriggins took Fred out to look at the
factory he had for sale. With his knowl-
edge of the human animal, Fred knew
that Scriggins was basically dishonest—
just the kind of a man he loved to take.

Fred said he liked the factory and
asked what the price was. “Twenty-five
thousand,” said Scriggins.

Now ‘Fred let Scriggins in on a little
secret. He wasn’t buying the factory for

himself, he divulged, but for Mr. Mor-

gan.

“Not J. P. Morgan?” said Scriggins.

Fred simply smiled and nodded.

“I wish I'd known that before I told
you the price,” said Scriggins.

“It’'s not too late to change the price
now,” said Fred, in a conspiratorial
tone. “Mr. Morgan has plenty of money.”

Scriggins quickly entered into a deal
with Fred. He would raise the price of
the factory to oné hundred grand and
cut Fred in for a third of the price. So
the churchman and the con man shook
hands on the deal.

It would be necessary, Fred now di-
vulged, for Scriggins to accompany him
to Chicago, where he ran a brokerage
office when not scouting around for J. P.
Morgan, while details of the hundred-
grand deal were put on paper.

Once in that fake brokerage office,
Scriggins was really hooked. The ticker
tape was going, the phones were ringing
and the actors were at their best. In
our man’s private office, where Scriggins
was nursing a drink, the phone rang.
Fred buzzed for a secretary and when
she came in from the other room, he
asked her to take the phone on an ex-
tension and see who was calling,

The girl came back with the word:
“It’s Mr. Morgan, sir. Mr. J. P. Morgan,”

While Scriggins listened, naturally,
our man had quite a conversation with
Morgan. “I've bought just the factory you
need outside of Indianapolis, J. P.,” he
said. “And I got it for one hundred
thousand—a real bargain.” At this point
Buckminster winked at Scriggins.

“Oh, fine, J. P. I knew you’d approve.
Then you say you’ll be sending a check
direct to Mr. Scriggins on the fifteenth?
Fine, J. P. Fine.”

Following the end of the conversation
with the fictitious J. P. Morgan, another
fake secretary came into our man’s pri-
vate sanctum, with Scriggins all ears.
“It’s about that Bolivian matter, sir,” she
said to Fred. -

“What about it?”

“The Pinkerton Detective Agency has
completed its investigation for you, sir,
and wishes to advise you that you are in
sole possession of the names of all the
stockholders.”

“Wonderful,” said Fred, breaking into
a big smile. “Wonderful,” He reached
for a pencil and began to scratch some
figures on a pad. “Let’s see,” he said,
talking to himself, but loud enough for
Scriggins to hear him. “Twenty thou-
sand dollars at two dollars a share is
forty thousand dollars. Twenty thousand
shares at two hundred dollars a share is
four million dollars.”

Fred put down the pencil and apolo-
gized to the money-hungry Scriggins for
the interruption,

“What’s going on?” Scriggins wanted
to know. g

“Oh, Pve got hold of something really
big. A New York firm sold twenty
thousand shares in a Bolivian tin mine
last year at two dollars a share. Now
I've just got a tip that nobody knows
who all the stockholders are except me.”

“Has the stock gone up?”

“Up? I'll say it has! They've struck
tin down there. I'll show you the geolo~
gist’s report.”

The fake report made each two-dollar
share worth two hundred dollars and
indicated an additional jump as time
went on. Fred could see the Hoosier’s
mouth starting to water.

- The days passed, with Scriggins stay-
ing in the Windy City while his Mor-
gan contract was being worked out with
the lawyers., And all the while he was
wondering how to get in on that Bo-

livian stock,” which was still selling at
only two bucks a share since Fred’s
brokerage outfit, which was in control
of things, hadn’t let the news out.

Late one afternoon, Scriggins was sit-
ting in Fred’s office, while Fred was
reading the Bible. Suddenly, Fred looked
up. “Brother Scriggins,” he said, “I have
just had a message from Heaven—and
it concerns you.”

“Really!” )

“Yes.” The message was that Fred was
going to arrange things so that Scrig-
gins could get in on that Bolivian stock
that was going to rise to four million
dollars once the news got out.

“Great!” said Seriggins. “How?”

Fred said he’d attend to the details
and that Scriggins needn’t bother about
them. All he would need would be
$100,000 and Scriggins would double the
money in 10 days. That was a lot of
money, but Fred, alias Frederick Q.
Buckley, had made a stunning impres-
sion on the money-hungry hoosier by
getting a hundred-grand from Morgan—
or so it seemed—for a 25-grand factory.

A few days later there took place one
of those scenes that made truth seem
stranger than fiction. Scriggins had gone
to Indianapolis, borrowed a hundred
grand from his bank, and came to Chi-
cago with it in the form of a certified
check made out to Frederick Q. Buckley,
Incorporated. All Fred did was cash the
check, pay his helpers, and leave town.

When the truth dawned on Scriggins,
he eventually found himself in the of-
fice of Detective Shoemaker. After lis-
tening to the Hoosier’s story, and get-
ting a description of Frederick Q. Buck-
ley, Shoemaker got right to the point:
“It’s that bum Buckminster.”

Shoemaker’s trouble was that Buck-
minster had left town. He opened an-
other fake brokerage house in Detroit,
where he and the boys took a business-
man with the Bolivian story. Then they
moved to Milwaukee and did the same
thing. Then to Los Angeles.

But Fred loved Chicago. So he re-
turned, only to be picked up for the
Scriggins job, almost immediately, and
sent to Joliet for the third time.

Fred got out of durance vile in 1939,
at the age of 76—a remarkably spry old
fellow with twinkling eyes and a pot
belly. He opened a little hotel on Chi-
cago’s South Side. It quickly became a
hot hostelry in more ways than one. One
entire floor was taken up by B-girls
who brought their clients to their rooms,
Another floor was inhabited almost en-
tirely by criminals on the lam. But Fred,
just to make appearances deceiving,
populated the lobby with fake ministers,
sitting around reading their Bibles. Con
men from all parts of the country made
for that hotel of Fred’s, to seek the ad-
vice of the master.

Fred had been running the hotel only
a year when his health suddenly
cracked and he sold the joint. He took a
small apartment and lived all alone. I
felt kind of sad when, in 1943, Fred
Buckminster kicked off at the age of 80,
from the infirmities of the years. There
was nobody in the ranks of the con men
to fill in Fred’s shoes—to take those who
take others. XX}

Ebrtor’s NoOTE:

T. Ellsworth Ravenwood, Henry H.
T. Leach, Harry Spink and Oscar
Scriggins are not the real names of
thé persons so named in the foregoing
story. Because there is no reason for
public interest in the identity of these
persons, fictitious mames have been
used.




Death Trap

(Continued from page 49)

Captain Stewart and the coroner noted
that a length of stout clothesline had been
knotted tightly about the vicim’s neck.
Judy Sooy’s short blond hair was matted
with blood and it was apparent that she
had been struck a number of crushing
blows with a heavy blunt instrument.

As the coroner examined the corpse,
other officers found a bloodstained me-
chanic’s hammer in a pile of rubbish
several yards away. There was no sign
of the victim’s purse.

Death, the coroner said, had occurred
many hours earlier, probably sometime
before midnight Sunday.

Captain Stewart returned to the first
floor, where Mr. Ekson and his wife
were being questioned by other detec-
tives. “Recognize either of these?” he
asked, showing them the hammer and
the three-foot length of rope which had
been bound around the girl’s throat.

“Not the rope,” Mr. Ekson replied.
“The hammer is similar to one I carry
in mv car. I believe there’s another one
like it in my stepson’s car.”

The stepson, questioning disclosed,
had been left at home when the couple
departed for southern Ohio two days
before. He was 17-year-old Richard
John Stewart—Mrs. Ekson’s son by a
previous marriage.

“Rick’s been working in a neighbor-
hood drug store during the summer,”
the man said. “We asked him to go with
us on our trip, but he said he planned
to have a buddy over to the house and
preferred to stay home.”

Ekson said his stepson apparently
hadn’t yet returned from work that eve-
ning. He named the drugstore where
the youth was employed and said Rick
usually returned home in his old Chevy
sedan at about 6:30 p.m. The house was
dark when they got home, however, so
it .was evident Rick had not gotten
home yet. That wasn’t unusual, though,
because he often ate out and went to a
movie before cominghome,

Captain Don Brown and two  uni-
formed officers started for the all-night
-neighborhood drugstore as other officers
continued to question the couple who
had moved into the house only a few
months before.

As far as they knew, young Stewart
—no relation to Captain John Stew-
art—had' not been on friendly terms
with either Judy Sooy or young Mike
Dorrance, Richard, a junior at Cuyaho-
ga Falls high school, may have been at
least casually acquainted with the girl,
a graduate of a year ago. Dorrance,
however, had left the local high school
before Stewart became ‘a freshman
there.

An examination of Richard’s room re-

vealed none of his clothing missing, ex-"

cept those he was presumably wearing
when he went to work that morning.
The boy had beer: paid on Friday night,
and probably carried most of his $30
weekly pay on his person.

Before the police left, they learned
that a .22 caliber rifle was missing from

the house. Doubt was expressed that .

Richard, a quiet boy who never had
shown any interest in hunting and ab-
horred any form of violence, would have
taken the weapon. -

Captain Stewart telephoned the home
of the pal who was supposed to have
stayed with Richard over the weekend
and, in response to a question, the
youth said: “Rick promised to stop by

my place in his old Chevy last Saturday
night. I waited for him till nearly three
o’clock Sunday morning, but he never
showed up. I called his house, but got
no answer.”

Richard’s friend added that he had
tried to locate his pal again on Sunday,
but again received no answer when he
phoned the Ekson home. Under further
questioning, he said he knew nothing
about a party for Cuyahoga Falls High
Scheool graduates the previous night,
and doubted very much that Rick would
have been invited to one at Mike Dor-
rance’s home.

Soon after this conversation, Captain
Brown called back to reveal that Rich-
ard had not reported for work at the
drugstore that morning. None of his fel-
low employes had seen him since he
quit work at 6 o’clock Saturday night.
He hadn’t mentioned to anyone how or
\évhere he planned to spend the next

ay.

A tri-state alert was immediately
broadcast for young Stewart as officers
spread throughout the neighborhood to
question his schoolmates -and others who
might have seen or heard something to
throw light on his disappearance, Mean-
while, Judy Sooy’s body was taken to
the county morgue at Akron, where an
autopsy was performed during the early
hours of Tuesday.

Neighbors who were questioned said
they had seen nothing untoward around
the Ekson home. So far as police could
learn, young Stewart’s battered sedan,
usually parked in the driveway beside
his home, had not been there since the
previous Friday night. No one could be
found who had seen any other car stop
at the place during the entire Labor
Day weekend.

At daylight, the coroner revealed that
Judy Sooy had died of strangulation.
Two crushing hammer blows on the
back of her head could have proved
fatal, had her slayer not tightened the

clothesline about her throat after felling
her, the autopsy surgeon reported.
Death was believed to have occurred
about 24 hours before the body was
found shortly after 10 p.m. on Monday.

The coroner added that there was no
evidence of sexual assault, although
broken fingernails on the victim’s right
hand indicated the girl had put up a
struggle against her assailant. And tiny
splinters of shattered glass were discov-
ered in the fabric of Judy’s clothing.

Nearly everyone questioned described
Richard “Rick” Stewart as a quiet, in-
dustrious boy who had never been in
serious trouble. In school he showed lit-
tle interest in extra-curricular activities,
although he was an enthusiastic foot-
ball fan and attended all local games.
His school record was below average,
but there was nothing in his back-
ground to hint at a potential emotional
explosion that might culminate in vi-
olence.

From questioning of Rick Stewart’s
schoolmates, however, a somewhat dif-
ferent picture of the young man began
to emerge. He was a strong, healthy
youth, but he took nothing more than
spectator interest in outdoor sports, ac-
cording to his classmates. Though “quite
good looking, except for facial blem-
ishes,” he had shown no interest at all
in girls. Several of his classmates de-
scribed the youth as “an introvert, shy
and unsure of himself with girls, and
extremely sensitive about his pimply
face.” ’ .

The slain girl’s friends told police that
Judy “didn’t know Stewart at all.”” She
was two years ahead of him in school
and socialized with a different group.
Both had attended the same party on a
recent occasion, however, and Judy’s
friends” thought it possible they might
have talked to each other there.

An all-points bulletin was flashed on
the youth and his old Chevrolet sedan
with a bashed-in right side and bearing
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Ohio license plates with the number
C-1142-W. For the next 48 hours, Stew-
art remained unreported. On Thursday,
George Pappas, assistant county pros-
ecutor, obtained a fugitive warrant from
U.S. Commissioner William Curtice
charging flight to avoid prosecution for
a criminal offense. The FBI entered the
case at 11 o’clock that morning, and ex-
actly an hour later local police got their
first break in the case.

Word came in that Stewart’s car had
been found in a vacant lot near Carlisle,
Pennsylvania, apparently abandoned
with a flat tire three day before.

Detectives Hammack and Ed ' Jones
were sent to Carlisle to check the car
out.

In the meantime, tips that the fugitive
might have contacted acquaintances in
Indiana and Florida were pursued, but
with negative results. Hammack and
Jones searched Stewart’s car on their
arrival in Pennsylvania, but the results
of this search were not announced. They
also had it thoroughly dusted for finger-
prints. In the meantime, Pennsylvania
state police found Judy Sooy’s white
leather handbag in a patch of weeds less
than 100 yards from where the car had
been abandoned.

It still contained the girl’'s cosmetics
and an oil company credit card, but the
money was missing.

During the next few weeks, Ohio of-
ficers ran down more than a score of
tips that the young fugitive had been
sighted. They came from widely sep-
arated cities, but in each case, after
careful checking they led nowhere.

The manhunt would not reach its cli-
max until four weeks, to the day, af-
ter the brutal murder of pretty Judy
Sooy. The scene was a long, long way
from where that happened.

Out in California, on the night of
Sunday, October 1st, Lieutenant Ray War-
ner, of the Monterey Park Police De-
partment, was driving north on the San
Bernardino Freeway, seven miles from
downtown Los Angeles, when he spot-
ted a youth attempting to hitch a ride.
He stopped and picked up the youth,
then asked him if he knew it was against
the law to hitchhike on the freeway.

The youth flashed a sullen look and
retorted, “How is a stranger supposed to
know that?”

The lieutenant didn’t like his tone.
Warner, wearing civilian clothes, iden-
tified himself as a police officer and told
the young guy he was taking him in for
investigation. The youth made no move
to resist. He just lapsed into sullen
silence.

At the station, a search showed the
young fellow had only 17 cents onhim,
and no identification papers. He was
locked up.

The following morning, Police Chief
William Coleman questioned the prison-
er. Suspecting the young guy might be
wanted by the law somewhere, the chief
advised him that he could be sentenced
to a long term at the county work farm
for vagrancy.

“That will give us plenty of time to
check you out,” Coleman added.

The tall youth, unkempt, badly in
need of a shave and haircut, and wear-
ing soiled, rumpled clothes, was
thoughtful for a moment, then said:

“Pll save you the trouble. The police
back in my home town, Cuyahoga Falls,
Ohio, have been looking for me for a
month.

“They want to question me about a
girl who was murdered back there four
weeks ago.”

The prisoner now gave his name as
Richard John Stewart and his age as 17.

He said he’d been “on the road” since
the day after Judy Sooy’s murder. He
also said that after he abandoned his
car in Pennsylvania, he had hitchhiked
to the West Coast, then back to Ohio,
and then back to California again for
the second time in a month,

Rick Stewart told Chief Coleman he
would waive extradition. When this news
was relayed to Ohio, authorities there
sent Assistant Prosecutor Pappas and
Detectives Hammack and Zents to Cal-
ifornia to bring the prisoner back.

Upon their arrival on the Coast, Chief
Coleman told them that the suspect had
signed a seven-page statement in which
he admitted having killed the pretty
blonde coed after enticing her to the
basement of his home.

“I did not intend to rape the girl”
Stewart’s statement was quoted. “I just
wanted to undress her and look at her
nude body.

Rick’s first request after being re-
turned to Ohio and locked up in the
Summit County Juvenile Detention
center was for a peanut butter sand-
wich and a glass of milk.

“I haven’t had a peanut butter sand-
wich in a long time,” he said. He talked
freely to officers about the tragic events
of the night of September 3rd.

“Stewart got a hammer from the gar-
age of his home and put it in his car,”
Captain Stewart later told reporters.
“He also took a three-foot length of
rope and stowed it in his basement. He
knew Judy Sooy slightly—only "enough
to say ‘Hi’ if he passed her on the
street. He never had dated her.”

As Captain Stewart reconstructed the
sequence of events leading to the slay-
ing, Rick, posing as the former high
school football star, telephoned Judy
Sooy about 8:30 with the fabricated
story of the impromptu party. Judy ac-
cepted the invitation. He told her he'd
be busy with last-minute arrangements
and couldn’t pick her up personally,
but .he would send -a “friend,” Rick
Stewart. Rick picked her up at 9:30 at
the shopping center parking lot, mid-
way between their two homes.

“We drove back to my place and I
told her I had to pick up a record play-
er inside,” the captain quoted Rick’s
statement. “She left her purse in the car
and we went in. I had the hammer, car-
rying it down by my side so she
wouldn’t see it.

“T told her the record player was in
the basement, so we went down there.
When she turned her back, I hit her
twice with the hammer. This knocked
her down—but it didn’t knock her out.

“She screamed and raised up to a sit-
ting position and swung at me, knock-
ing off my glasses. I decided to kill her
then. I hit her about seven or eight
times with the hammer. I then attempt-
ed to strangle her with my hands, but I
didn’t have enough strength, So I took
the rope and put it around her neck to
strangle her that way. I knotted the rope
around her neck and when her body
went limp I knew she was dead.”

According to the detective captain,
the youth then forgot why he had lured
the girl to her doom. As soon as she was
dead, he went upstairs.

“T took a bath, wiped the blood oft
my shoes, got in my car and headed
toward the Pennsylvania Turnpike,”
Rick Stewart was quoted.

The confessed killer was tried and

‘convicted of the murder of the pretty -

blonde coed, and a sentence of death in
the electric chair was imposed upon
him. But for 30 months, his attorneys
fought the verdict and sentence through

a long succession of court maneuvers.

In January of 1965, however, théy had
exhausted all avenues open to them
under the law, and the only chance re-
maining that Rick Stewart’s life might
be spared hinged on the governor’s re-
action to a report on the case by the
Pardon and Parole Commission.

For two and a half years, since he
first entered the Death House, Stewart
had sweated in an agony of suspense
while his lawyers tried everything in
the legal books to save him from the
electric chair. His execution had been
scheduled for February 11th. But now,
at long last, he knew that on January 21,
1965, the governor would announce his
decision, a decision which would deter-
mine whether the killer of an innocent
young girl should live or die.

On that morning of January 21st, they
brought breakfast to Stewart in his
Death House cell, but he barely touched
it. All morning long he paced the floor
erratically, back and forth, across, from
one corner to another. Sometimes he
would just stand by the door and lean
his face against the bars. He lay down
on his bunk, but he couldn’t stand the
inactivity. He got up and resumed his
pacing. Lunchtime came, and again he
had no appetite for food. Finally, early
in the afternoon, the suspense ended for
Richard J. Stewart.

The warden entered the area and
came to his cell. Stewart’s knuckles
were white as he clutched the bars and
waited for the warden to speak.

Then came the words the condemned
man had prayed for ...

“The governor has commuted your
sentence to life.”

In a statement accompanying his de-
cision, Governor James A. Rhodes noted
that Stewart was “a deeply disturbed
boy of seventeen” at the time he com-
mitted his crime. The governor had act-
ed on the recommendation of the Par-
don and Parole Commission, which
voted unanimously for clemency.

“Although legally sane at the time of
his crime,” Governor Rhodes’ statement
said, “the inmate was a deeply disturbed
boy of seventeen. To let the death sen-
tence stand in this case would go con-
trary to the legislative ihtent with re-
spect to juveniles and contrary to the
Juvenile Court having original juris-
diction.

“No risk to the public is involved, as
the inmate cannot be released on parole
without further commutation.”

The Pardon and Parole Commission
noted that psychiatrists who had exam-
ined Stewart agreed that he required
long psychotherapy and must of neces-
sity be confined during such treatment.

In July of 1968, Rick Stewart was
transferred to the Marion Correctional
Institution at Marion, Ohio. Before his
case can be reviewed by the parole
board for the first time, he must serve
12 years of his sentence. He will have
served that much time in June, 1974.
But this procedure will be simply a re-
view of his record in prison, not a con-
sideration of parole. His first hearing
before the board for that purpose will
be in April, 1982. Parole for prisoners
under life sentence is rarely granted on
the first hearing. X X 2

Mike Dorrance, Mr. and Mrs. Mor-
gan Ekson are not the real names of
the persons so named in the foregoing
story. Because there is no reason for
public interest in the identity of these
pe‘rfions, fictitious names have been
used.
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‘7] Found a
Murdered Woman’/

(Continued from page 33)

tiny house and scanned the yard and
surrounding properties for signs of a
freshly dug grave. Since the state in-
vestigative agency was unable to get to
New Miami until after dark, huge port-
able flood lights were pressed into ser-
vice and the remainder of the night was
spent searching the immediate areas for
clues to the missing woman.

“Considerable time was taken by the
agents digging spent slugs from the floor
and walls of Penick’s house,” Assistant
Police Chief Kimbrell said later. “The
technicians concentrated first’ on prob-
ing the bullet holes which looked the
freshest and were the nearest to the
blood stains we found on the floor and
wall near the bed.”

Even though numerous chunks of lead
were salvaged, Kimbrell said, most of
them were badly damaged and the
agents held little hope in matching them
to a weapon if and when a gun was re-
covered. Special attention was paid to
one particular bullet hole in the wall
closest to the bed, since tiny splinters
detected on the floor indicated that the
damage was more recent than most of
the others. Although the slug pried out
of the wood and plaster was badly dis-
figured and the lab men doubted that
they could get any decent riflings from
it, they had aspirations of locating a
cartridge which hopefully would con-
tain tracings of matching metals and
gun powder.

Sleuths searching the Penick yard
under the blazing floodlights were un-
able to locate any clues or evidence con-
sidered pertinent to the mysterious dis-
appearance of Helen Penick. But in the
meantime detectives in the house re-
covered a pistol.

It was a .38 Special, found tucked be-
tween the mattress and the springs of
the bed near the blood stains, according
to police. The heavy revolver was in a
leather holster and contained a pair of
spent cartridges, which would later play
an important role in the investigation.,

Throughout the remainder of the
night police conducted a house-to-
house canvass searching for persons who
may have seen Helen Penick, or may
have heard through the grapevine where
she—or her corpse—might be located.

Working on the premise that the gore-
soaked bedclothing found in the trunk
of Penick’s car was stained with the
blood of his missing wife, police re-
questioned the woman who first brought
the mystery to their attention. The
probers were trying to establish the
hour of night at which Mrs. Penick was
removed from her home. After question-
ing the woman, who admitted to police
that she had something going on the sly
with Theotis Penick for several months,
the investigators theorized that whatever
happened to Helen occurred between 9
p.m., when the Penicks’ guests left, and
about 2 a.m. when the obliging neigh-
bor lady came visiting for a few hours.

The assumption was based on the
woman’s testimony that she 'saw no
blood around the bed when she was
there and that the sheets and blankets
were missing from the mattress when
it was “used.”

Although police could not be certain
that the young wife’s bleeding body was
not stuffed in the trunk of her cheating
husband’s car while he reportedly dal-

lied with one of Helen’s “friends,” in-
vestigators surmised that the missing
woman had been delivered elsewhere
by the time the hanky-panky was tak-
ing place.

Even though police did not rule out
the possibility that Penick had just re-
turned from hiding his wife’s body
when he was arrested by Chief Kim-
brell for drunken driving, they leaned
toward a theory that the missing woman
was removed from the house about 1
am. The assumption was based on the
testimony of a neighbor who said he
saw Penick driving away at about that
hour of the morning. According to the
witness, Penick was alone at the time.

Try as they would, police were un-
able to find anyone who saw Theotis
carrying or dragging anything to his
Cadillac during the night. Since they
were also unable to establish Penick’s
presence at any after-hours joints be-
tween one and two o’clock in the morn-
ing, police leaned even more heavily
toward the theory that Helen was taken
from the house between one and two
a.m.

The theory was strengthened when
investigators were able to trace Penick’s
movements from the time he got up
Monday morning until he drove home
in the afternoon and was nailed on the
driving violation in front of his house
by Officer Kimbrell.

While police were trying to determine
the fate of Helen Penick Monday night,
BCI lab technicians established the fact
that the blood on the bedclothes found
in the trunk of her husband’s car was
human and that one of the slugs dug
out of the wall by the bed had been
fired by the .38 Special found under the
mattress. Tests also indicated that the
weapon had been fired in the past 24 to
36 hours.

Police and legal heads out of the
prosecutor’s office quickly huddled to
determine whether or not they could
legally test Penick’s hands for traces of
gunpowder without the defense chal-
lenging the constitutionality of the ex-
amination on the grounds that the pris-
oner was being held on a traffic viola-
tion, not a gun charge. In the mean-
time, Assistant Chief Kimbrell made a
futile attempt to question Penick in the
Butler County Jail at Hamilton.

“But it was no use,” the policeman
said. “He was hung over and sick and
refused to talk. All he would say was
that he didn't know what happened
Sunday night. I didn't press him too
much or tell him exactly what we’d found
or what he was suspected of at the time.
I didn’t want to tip our hand too much
until he was in a condition to talk with a
clear head.”

After checking with the area hos-
pitals the next morning and learning
that no woman fitting Mrs. Penick’s de-
scription had been brought in for knife
or gun wounds, Kimbrell took another
stab at talking to Theotis Penick in con-
nection with the disappearance of his
38-year-old wife.

The prisoner’s head had cleared con-
siderably, but he again flatly refused to
admit that he knew what had happened

to Helen. According to Kimbrell, all he
would say was that he’d been drinking
all night and most of the day on which
he was arrested and he “guessed” that
Helen had “just packed up and left.”

Finally advised of the bloodstained
bedclothing found in the trunk of his
Cadillac, Penick said that didn’t prove
he’d done anything to his wife because
“people” were always using his belong-
ings, including his car. He said he didn’t
recall loaning his car to anyone Sunday
night “but that don’t mean they didn’t
... the keys are always in it.”

Getting nowhere with a man who was
suspected of something—police weren’t
sure of just what—Assistant Chief Kim-
brell left the jail, resigned to the knowl-

" edge that there was little left to be done

until he got word from the BCI and the
prosecutor’s office advising him and the
other investigators what their next step
should be.

Although the blood specimens taken
from Penick’s house, the bedclothing in
his car and the bloody hair roller found
in the yard had been typed and deter-
mined to have come from the same per-
son, police were unable at the time to
locate official records showing what
type and classification of blood Mrs.
Penick had. When Kimbrell left the
county jail about 8:30 a.m., he learned
from the BCI laboratory that the inves-
tigation was at a standstill until the
missing woman’s blood type was deter-
mined and chemists had finished analyz-
ing the dirt samples taken from Penick’s
car.

Weary from a long day and night of
working on the puzzling case with little
sleep, Assistant Chief Kimbrell returned
home for a few hours rest before offi-
cially returning to duty that night. But
the adrenalin was rushing through his
veins from the momentum that had
been built up in the probe and he found
it impossible to relax. ‘

“T was too keyed up to sleep and de-
cided to unwind with a round of golf,
since it was a dry balmy day for No-
vember,” Kimbrell said later.

The young officer changed into slacks,
turtle-neck sweater and an old white
golf hat and was heading out the door
of his home when his wife called him
to the phone. When Ximbrell fin-
ished the telephone conversation he ad-
vised his wife that his golf plans had
been changed and that he probably
wouldn’t be home for lunch. He didn’t
bother to change back into his uniform
before leaving the house.

“The man on the other end of the line
said he had some information about
Penick’s activities Sunday night,” the
soft-spoken officer said later, “and I
wanted to get to him before he changed
his mind about talking.”

According to the New Miami officer,
the caller identified himself as a co-
worker of Penick’s and said he lived
near the Miami Cement Products Com-
pany, where both of the men were em-
ploved.

“Now what is it that you wanted to
tell me about Mr. Penick?” Kimbrell
asked the cement worker.

“Well, I don’t want to get Theo in no
trouble, but I've heard his wife is miss-
ing and if he’s done something bad I
want to help. Folks tell me there was
blood in the house and in Theo’s car,”
the man was quoted as saying.

“We don’t know what’s happened,”
Kimbrell told the man. “All we know
is that Mrs, Penick is gone and we’re try-
ing to find her. That’s about all I can tell
you. Now what is it you wanted to talk
to me about?” (Continued on page 58)
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(Continued from page 56)

“Well, it was about 1:30 Monday
morning when I heard a car that sounded
like it was stuck. Since it was dry out
and no snow or anything, I got curious
and looked out the window. I couldn’t
see anything but the noise sounded like
it was coming from over by American
Materials.

“] figured some darn kids had got
stuck back there in the sand—they’re
always takin’ girls back there and
drinking—so I just went back to bed.
Then in a few minutes I heard some-
body knocking on the door and it was
Theo. He said he was stuck and wanted
me to help him.”

“What time did you say this was?”
Kimbrell asked the witness.

“'Bout 1:30. Matter of fact it was ex-
actly 1:30, 'cause I looked at the clock
when I got up.”

“So what did you do then?” Kimbrell
asked.

“Well, I got my car and chains out
and helped Theo, of course. Like I say,
he’s a friend of mine. But I ain’t want-
ing to help somebody who’s breaking
the law, mister. This ain't gonna get me
in no trouble is it?”

“No, of course not. You did the right
thing by calling me. Like I said, we
don’t know if Mr. Penick has done any-
thing wrong. We're just trying to find
out what became of his wife,” Kimbrell
replied.

He then asked the informant to show
him where Penick’s car was stuck two
nights before. The man guided the
policeman to an area between the Miami
Cement Products Company and the
American Materials Corporation, where
the latter firm stockpiled huge amounts
of construction sand.

Pointing to auto tracks in the other-
wise smooth sand, the police informant
said, “Right there, Officer, that’s where
1 pulled Theo out. You can see up ahead
there where he was bogged down to the
axle. Thought I'd never get him out.”

“Did Mr. Penick say what he was
doing back here at that hour of the
night?” Kimbrell wanted to know.

“Nope, and I didn’t ask. Like I say,
this has become a parking place for
drinkers and lovers, but long as they
don’t bother me, I don’t bother them. I
could tell Theo had been drinking and
I just figured he’d come back here to
turn around or something and got hung
u .”

r2‘Was anyone with him at the time?”
Kimbrell asked the cement worker.

“Nope, not that I could see anyways,”
the man replied.

Being careful not to disturb the tire
tracks in the soft sand, Chief Kimbrell
followed their trail to the spot where
the 1964 Cadillac had obviously been
bogged down Sunday night. But what
the officer was more interested in was a
spot in the sand some 30 or 40 feet away
from where the car had been stuck.

“Tt was a grave-shaped spot that stood
out from the rest of the sand because
it was darker in color, due to being
damp,” Kimbrell related. “An attempt
had been made to level the spot out but
the dark color and numerous footprints
around it were dead giveaways that
something had been buried there re-
cently.

“T4 didn’t take any great deduction to
tell me that Helen Penick’s body was
buried there,” Chief Kimbrell later said
wryly.

After advising his prize informant to
stand by, Kimbrell secured the sus-
pected burial plot with a length of rope
from his car and radioed for assistance.
Arriving shortly on the scene were As-
sistant Butler County Prosecuting At-

torney John Holcomb, St. Clair Town-~
ship Police Chief Darrell (Jake) Col-
lins, Hamilton Police Department De-
tective Sergeant Glenn Ebbing and his
boss, Lieutenant Paul Timmer, chief of
detectives, Patrolman Darrell Payne, St.
Clair Township Police Department,
Hamilton Detective Sergeant Charles
Reid and Sheriff’s Detectives Harold
May and Larry Castator.

But within minutes after Chief Col-
lins had sunk a scoop shovel into the
soft sand, a radio request was made for
the appearance of the BCI and County
Coroner Dr. Garret J. Boone.

“Tess than a foot under the sand we
found a woman’s body wrapped in a

‘light green, blood-stained blanket,” As-

sistant Chief Kimbrell said later.

The policeman said the discovery was
made at 9:40 am. and that by 10:00 he
had filed first-degree murder charges
against Theotis Penick in Hamilton
Municipal Court.

The corpse was identified as that of
Helen Penick when it was observed by
relatives at the county morgue, where
BCI technicians obtained blood speci-~
mens, hair samples and fingernail scrap-
ings before the body was X-rayed and
the autopsy was performed.

According to Dr. Boone’s post mortem
report, the woman died from a single
.38-caliber slug which smashed into her
brain at close range.

After Penick was indicted a few weeks
later for murder in the first degree, he
signed a waiver relinquishing his right
to a jury trial and requested that his
case be heard by a three-judge panel.
The request was granted by Common
Pleas Court Judge Fred B. Cramer, who
assigned himself and Judges Arthur J.
Fiehrer and Robert L. Marrs to hear the
testimony.

When the panel was agreed upon by
the state and the defense, Judge Cramer
was named presiding judge to hear the
trial’s testimony, which got underway
on April 20, 1970.

In his opening statement, Prosecutor
Richard J. Wessel said the state would
prove beyond a reasonable doubt that
Helen Penick’s murder was premedi-
tated by her accused husband.

Surprisingly enough, the defense did
not deny in its opening statement that
the defendant killed his wife. Instead,
Defense Attorney George Elliott, a Mid-
dletown lawyer who was assisted by
Hamilton Attorney Jackson Bosch, said
that “if” Theosit Penick did indeed mur-
der his wife, “it was without criminal
intent because he had been drinking

heavily.”
From the tone and tenure of the de-
fense’s opening statements, veteran

newspaper crime reporters and court-
room observers speculated that Penick’s
lawyers had little hope of getting their
client off scot free, but would make
every attempt to keep him out of the
electric chair; the three judges had pre-
viously said upon questioning that they
were not unalterably opposed to capital
punishment. The judges then visited the
defendant’s house and the sand lot
where Helen Penick’s body was dug up.

Among those testifying for the state,
besides the investigating officers and
doctors who testified as to Penick’s san-
ity, were the people who said they wit-
nessed the defendant slug his wife dur-
ing the card party and threaten to kill
her with a knife; the neighbor lady who
testified that Penick told her that he did
his wife in the night that she spent
“some time” in bed with him, and the
cement worker who said he towed the
defendant’s car out of the sand only
feet away from where the body was
buried. (Continued on page 60)
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(Continued from page 58)

New Miami Assistant Chief Kimbrell
testified that Penick admitted to him
after Helen’s body was found that he
buried the remains in the sand on the
American Materials Corporation prop-
erty.

“Did Mr. Penick ever admit to you
that he shot his wife?” the defense de-
manded during cross-examination of the
officer.

“No, sir,” Kimbrell replied.

In re-direct examination of Kimbrell
by the prosecution, he was asked:

“What was Mr. Penick’s answer when
you asked him about the shooting, Offi-
cer?”

“He said he was too drunk to remem-
ber what happened,” Kimbrell replied.

“But he did remember cleaning up the
blood, he did remember carrying the
woman’s body to the car, and he did
remember burying her body—is that
correct?” the state asked.

“Yes sir. The only thing he didn’t re-
member was shooting her.”

“That is all, Officer,” the prosecutor
said.

BCI agents taking the stand testified
that Mrs. Penick was killed with the gun
found under Penick’s mattress and that
clothing, identified as belonging to the

defendant, contained bloodstains match-
ing the dead woman’s type. The lab
technicians said that the footprints found
around Helen’s makeshift grave were
made by the shoes that Penick was
wearing the day he was arrested. The
agents also testified that the defendant’s
shoes bore traces of blood “which was
the same type as that of the deceased.”
When the defense took over, it made
every attempt to show that Theosit
Penick was not responsible for his ac-
tions because he was highly intoxicated
most of Sunday night and all day Mon-
day, until he was arrested for drunken
driving. The defense cross-examined the
people at the card party, the woman who
reported Helen missing and the man
who towed Penick’s car out of the sand;
all agreed that the defendant was drink-
ing the night Mrs. Penick was murdered.
When Penick took the stand, he said
he passed out shortly after the card
players left and he didn’t know what
happened between that time and about
midnight, when he woke up and found
his wife sitting on the edge of the bed.
“Her head was up against the wall,”
Penick said, “and I thought she’d just
passed out that way. Then I saw all that
blood and I knew she was dead. She
was bleeding so bad I could hear it drip-
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ping on the floor.”

Penick said he got scared and took
his gun out of its holster, thinking a
killer was still in the house. He said he
owned the pistol for “protection” and
that he always kept it under his mat-
tress. Because he was scared and
thought he could not satisfactorily ex-
plain to police how his wife was shot,
Penick said he cleaned up the blood
and decided to bury the body. He said
that explained how he got Helen’s blood
on his clothes.

Under direct questioning by his de-
fense counsel, Penick repeatedly denied
that he shot his wife, yet on cross-
examination he said he was so drunk
that he didn’t remember anything.

The main thrust of the defense
throughout most of the trial was an at-
tempt to show that Penick’s state of
drunkenness obscured his sense of re-
sponsibility for an act he “may or may
not have committed,” that he did not
have sufficient presence of mind to know
right from wrong and he was without
mental capacity at the time to form any
criminal intent.

The state countered by saying that in
the first place, drinking did not give a
man a license to go around killing
people, and in the second place, Theosit
Penick was not on trial for intoxication.

“The defendant is on trial for mur-
der,” the prosecution declared, “and it
is irrelevant whether he was stone
sober, mildly intoxicated, or falling-
down drunk when the crime was com-
mitted. The state has proved unequi-
vocally that this man is guilty of murder
in the first degree.”

The prosecutor argued that Penick’s
earlier threats with a knife on his wife
proved that the slaying was premedi-
tated, “as opposed to a sudden fit of
anger.”

As for the defense’s contention that
Penick was ' without presence of mind
to know right from wrong and that he
did not have the mental capacity to form
criminal intent, the prosecution re-
minded the three judges that Penick
admittedly cleaned up his wife’s gore,
wrapped her dead body in a blanket
and buried it in the sand pile.

“Oh, he knew right from wrong all
right,” the prosecutor said sarcastically,
“otherwise he would have had no rea-
son to hide the corpse. The defendant
knew full well that he had committed a
crime and he had the presence of mind
to do something to cover it up, as
botched up as the job was.”

The state found it “interesting” that
although the defendant said he was too
drunk to remember what happened, he
did remember what his reactions were
and what he did “so soon after the
cold-blooded murder that he could hear
her blood dripping on the floor.” The
prosecution said the defendant remem-
bered everything except the one act
which could put him in the electric
chair, pulling the trigger on the .38
Special.

At the conclusion of the three-day
trial, the three leading judges found
Theosit Penick guilty of murder, but
they agreed with the defense that the
slaying did not fall within the realms of
premeditation, as defined by law.

Judges Cramer, Fiehrer and Marrs
ruled the slaying second-degree mur-
der and on April 22, 1970, they sen-
tenced Theosit Penick to serve a life
term in the Ohio Penitentiary.

Penick later filed a motion for a new
trial but it was denied. At this writing,
he was paying his debt to society be-
hind the ancient gray walls of the state
prison at Columbus. X X
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Bank Robbery

(Continued from page 25)

There was no place to go. Police cars
were behind and more police cars flanked
Rush’s and Darling’s cruiser.

The bandit in the back seat grabbed
Miss Patten’s shoulder and snarled:

“Go tell those cops that they've got
to clear out and let us through
If they don’t were gonna kill your
friends here.”

Then he opened the door and pushed
Miss Patten out. The terrified teller
raced to the nearest car, which was the
cruiser bearing Sergeant White and De-
tectives Miller and Sullivan. She re-
layed the message.

White responded by grabbing Miss
Patten and pushing her protectively be-
hind the police car. Then he signalled
the small army of patrolmen in blue
and detectives in street clothes.

“Let’s move in!” he shouted.

From all directions the force of law-
men converged on the fugitives and
their hostages. The bandits froze in the

car like marble statues. They had no’

escape route left—not even on foot.

Policemen flung open the doors of the
car and yanked the three bandits out,
so unceremoniously in the case of the
suspect later identified as Lee I. John-
son, 43, that he was dragged out feet
first and in the process hit the pavement
with the back of his head. And this
caused an injury that required a brief
stop at Wyckoff Heights Hospital.

His two accomplices, identified as Pe-
ter Durant, 36, a self-employed painter
of 390 Madison Street, Brooklyn, and
Moncure Fautner, 28, a truck driver, of
116-43 134th Street, South Ozone Park,
Queens, were quickly packed into a
police cruiser for the trip to police head-
quarters in Mineola. ’

In the wake of this electrifying end-
ing to the bungled bank heist, it should
be noted that the police recovered the
green duffel bag and when the loot was
counted back at headquarters it
amounted to exactly $18,752.51.

Some hours after Johnson, Durant,
and Fautner were booked in Mineola,
detectives went to 42 13th Street in Lo-
cust Valley, introduced themselves to
Luther Jackson, 32 and placed him under
arrest. Authorities said he was the na-
tive who cased the newly-opened branch
of the Nassau Trust Co. and alerted
the others that it was an ‘“easy hit.”

The reason that Jackson was not with
the trio in the bank was the nature of
his assignment—he allegedly was the
lookout and the driver of the getaway
car, which was outside the bank, but
he reportedly made tracks on his own
when Patrolmen Leitner and McLean
arrived in response to the silent alarm.

On January 18th, the evidence in the
case was presented to the Nassau Coun-
ty grand jury by Assistant District At-
torney John R. Lewis. The prosecutor
was so convincing in his presentation
that it took the panel mere minutes to
return indictments against all four sus-
pects, charging them with kidnaping in
the second degree (three counts, one for
each of the victims), robbery in the first
degree, grand larceny in the second de-
gree, possession of weapons as a felony,
burglary in the third degree, and pos-
session of burglar’s tools.

If the three men are convicted of
these crimes they can each receive a
maximum prison sentence of 122 years.
But until they are found guilty by a
jury of their peers they must be consid-
ered innocent of all the charges. ¢ ¢ ¢
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Northwest’s
Case...

(Continued from page 45)

sister and friends returned to school,
but any hope that she might have been a
summer runaway who would return for
fall school sessions was dashed by a ma-
cabre discovery made in Lacey, Wash-
ington in Thurston County (adjoining
Pierce County).

On September 12th, three children
who lived in a trailer park near Lacey
came across a human skull in the wood-
ed area near a gravel pit which was a
favorite play area for them. Unaware of
the significance of the find, they had
removed the skull to a ramshackle play-
house nearby. The children found sev-
eral other bones and decided they
should report the matter to their par-
ents.

Thurston County Sheriffs deputies
arrived at the secluded scene and began
a foot-by-foot search. They located a
shallow grave, which had obviously
been disturbed by wild animals, and,
working carefully on their onerous task,
unearthed a lower jawbone; a scalp
with long, dark blonde hair; blue jeans;
white tennis shoes and a woman’s swim
suit.

The bones found in the grave, along
with those located widely scattered over
the area, were sent at once to FBI
headquarters for testing. However, the
first impressions by the officers about
the remains in the shallow grave were
that they belonged to a woman between
25 and 35 who probably had been bur-
ied for up to 10 years.

Detective Knabel heard a radio com-
munication concerning the grim find
and noted, with sinking heart, that the
dead woman had been wearing blue
jeans and tennis shoes—clothes such as
Laura Lea Burbank had worn when she
walked away from home for the last
time. He contacted the chief criminal
deputy of Thurston County, Harold
Bade, for a more complete description
of the clothing. He learned that a blue
and white polka-dot swimming suit had
also been found. Bade informed Knabel
that a local dentist was in the process of
making a dental chart of the victim’s
lower teeth.

Suprunowski and Knabel arranged to
pick up dental charts of Laura Lea’s
teeth and went at once to Olympia
where they compared the two charts.
They were identical. The detective team
called their Chief, George Janovich, and
Chief Deputy Prosecutor Olson and ar-
ranged for a meeting.

The next morning, the officers drove
with Mrs. Burbank to Olympia, where
Coroner Hollis Fultz had spread out the
victim’s clothing on a table. The
broken-hearted mother identified the
blue jeans and the bathing suit. She
pointed out paint spots on the tennis
shoes, remarking that they had come
from a painting job the family had done
earlier in the summer.

Laura Lea Burbank had been found.

A warrant charging David Harry
Fisher with first degree murder was is-
sued at once. But the elusive Fisher did
not want to talk to the sheriff's deputies.
Although his wife still lived with the
Olson family, Fisher himself had been
denied residency there. He was thought
to be living with relatives in suburban
Tacoma and a stake-out was placed on
that home. Deputies spotted a man en-
tering the home, but, when they

knocked on the door, they were told
that no one but a female resident was
home; the officers felt that the suspect
had run out the back door while they
entered the front.

Teletype wires hummed with an all-
points bulletin on David Fisher but he
managed to evade officers for days.
Then, on September 28, 1970, David
Fisher surrendered to sheriff's detec-
tives. He appeared in stocking feet. Upon
seeing Suprunowski and Knabel, he mut-
tered bitterly, “Well, you finally won,
didn’t you?”

A week after Fisher was booked, a
jailer called Suprunowski and told him
that a prisoner in the same tank with
Fisher wanted to talk with him about
things that Fisher had been saying.

The prisoner remarked, “I can hardly
stand to be around him because of what
he’s in jail for—I want to get out of
that tank before I do something drastic
to him!” Suprunowski made arrange-
ments to meet with Perrin in the back
of a jail panel truck used to transport
prisoners to the hospital so that Fisher
would not be suspicious. As the panel
truck drove around Tacoma’s streets,
Suprunowski listened to the prisoner’s
story:

“Im satisfied he did it—killed the
Burbank girl—and I hate his guts for it.
He told me that he strangled her after
she got scared and tried to leave. He
said, ‘They're saying I went out on this

Sunday afternoon and picked up a body

that had been out in the sun for two
weeks” He told me he borrowed Wil-
liams’ car and told him he had hit a
dead skunk. He said he used a shovel to
bury her. Then he said, ‘They’re prob-
ably going to say I raped her.” I asked
him how and he said, ‘They’ll figure it
out.””

The prisoner was returned to the tank
with Fisher but was later removed be-
cause Fisher had threatened to kill him,
suspecting that his cellmate was talking
to the officers.

On October 23, 1970, a report came
back from the FBI Laboratory that the
victim had probably succumbed as the
result of a blow from a blunt instrument
which had crushed her skull. There
were no signs of gunpowder on any of
the victim’s clothes or on any of the
bones examined.

A December trial date was set for
David Harry Fisher. This was postponed
to February lst, 1971. However, before
that date Fisher pleaded guilty to man-
slaughter and was sentenced to 20 years
in prison—full sentence to be served
without parole. .

For Detectives Suprunowski and Kna-
bel, it had been a long, hard case. Had
Fisher buried his victim deeper be-
neath the surface of the desolate gravel
pit, the remains of the freckle-faced
child who loved animals might never
have been found. As it was the ravages
of heat and coyotes possibly had de-
stroyed evidence without which a first-
degree murder conviction would have
been impossible to obtain.

Suprunowski says, “We think we
know what happened. We think he took
her from the B. & I. Pet Shop to the
reservation and killed her there. Then,
when he got nervous, he borrowed his
friend’s car and moved her body out to
Lacey, where he buried it. We think he
strangled her. But a skeletonized body
hides a lot of secrets. He won't talk to
us now, but we think some day he will
—and then we’ll know the complete
story . . .” X X )

Eorror’s NoTE:

Cindy Bowles, Arthur Olson, Eric
Olson and Forrest Williams are not
the real names of the persons so
named in the foregoing story. Because
there is no reason for public interest
in the identity of these persons, fic-
titious names have been used.

“If you had legs too, I'd marry you.”

TRUE DETECTIVE




The Fish Lure Guaranteed to Catch Fish...or it costs you nothing!

WORKS WHERE
OTHER LURES FAIL!

EMILE PLANES

By EMILE PLANES
(AS TOLD TO PAUL STAG)

Here is how I catch more fish than
I ever caught in my life before
... More fish than I ever dreamed of
—and BIGGER fish than I ever sus-
pected possible. Here is how you can
catch bass, pike, perch, bream, trout,
salmon, crappie, pickerel, walleyes and
many, many other kinds of fresh water
game and pan fish plus many salt
water fish ... the same way I do.

Since I invented my fishing lure, I
catch so many fish, such BIG fish, and
catch them so FAST, people gather to
watch me. I've been followed FOUR
TIMES in ONE day by a fish -warden
to find out if my methods are legal.
But my entire secret is my fishing lure
that’s GUARANTEED to CATCH
FISH — or it costs you nothing. Yes,
GUARANTEED to catch fish even
when other lures or even live bait
fails or no cost.

My lure works in lakes, ponds,
streams, salt water, saves you time,
work, money and disappointment, is
ideal for amateurs, experts, trollers,
casters, shore fishermen. My lure
catches fish differently from anything
you've ever seen before in fresh and
salt water. Even veteran U, S. fishing
guides have been surprised at its as-
tonishing catches. And the French
government itself has certified my lure
by actual patent as UNIQUE.

An Underwater Discovery

I am a Frenchman, a science teacher,
a skin diver and I have fished all my
life. For years I have studied fish
underwater — WHILE FISHERMEN
ABOVE WATER were trying to catch
them. What I discovered changed
every idea T ever had about fishing
and fish lures.

ACTUAL PHOTOS LIKE THESE PROVE VIVIF CATCH
LIKE CRAZY ... OVER 3,000,000 SOLD WORLD WIDE!

What it Does For You!

® Catches More Fish

® Catches Almost All Kinds of Fish

® Saves You Money on Other Plugs, Bait
and Lures

® Saves You Work of Catching Minnows

@ Catches the Fish that won't Bite on
Worms, Bugs, Plugs, Spoons, Canned
Bait, Flies, Cut Bait or Spinners!

Lures Can Frighten Fish Away

I watched UNDERWATER exactly
how fish reacted to every lure, live
bait, every fishing maneuver and trick
used to catch them. I watched fish ap-
proach even the best performing lures,
seem ABOUT TO STRIKE — then
suddenly TURN AWAY. Something
about even the best performing lures
was obviously often KEEPING
THEM FROM CATCHING fish. As
for the average lure, mostly they
seemed actually to BORE the fish —
as though they looked to the fish as
they looked to me UNDERWATER
— shiny, painted bits of metal, plastic
and wood. I saw live bait after it was
cast turn white and die before my eyes
—and saw fish often approach, pre-
pare to strike-THEN TURN AWAY.

Minnows Irresistible

Then I saw the same fish approach
actual live swimming minnows and
without caution or suspicion STRIKE

RAVENOUSLY. I saw the same fish -

that rejected the lures again and again
attack without caution LIVE SWIM-
MING MINNOWS. In fact, these lit-
tle minnows seemed to DRAW many
fish from a distance — even before
being seen.

Why Lures Often Fail

My talks with fish scientists and my
own studies convinced me it was the
swimming motion of minnows, partic-
ularly the swishing tail that attracted
many fish. I concluded that no lure 1
had ever used had SUFFICIENTLY
duplicated the living minnow and its
motion.

How, I asked myself, could a fish
lure be created that would attract fish
just as the actual living  swimming
minnows did — and that once attracted
would get the same ravenous STRIKE
as live minnows—WITHOUT the hesi-
tation, suspicion and FEAR aroused
by the lures I saw used?

e h)

FISH GRAB MY HOOK WITHOUT CAUTION— Attack Ravenously!

ously!

My Secret is My French, Patented Lure That Works
in Lakes, Ponds, Streams, Salt Waters, Saves You
Time, Work, Money and Disappointment

Perfect for Amateurs, Experts, Trollers, Coasters, Shore Fisherman,
All Kinds of Fresh Water Game and Pan Fish Plus Salt Water Fish]

My Man-Made “Minnow”

After 19 years of study and testing,
I have finally created such a man-
made ‘“‘minnow,” so like a living,
swimming minnow in shape, form, tex-
ture and motion that fish ravenously
STRIKE — without caution — and I
catch more fish, bigger fish — faster
than ever before in my life.

Because my man-made “fish” looks,
darts, wiggles, even ‘‘feels” like a
minnow . . . bass, pickerel. pike, perch,
trout, and many other kinds of fresh
and salt water fish attack voraciously
— without suspicion or fear — even
when they’re not biting for another
fisherman on the lake.

Astonishing Catches Reported

I call my lure VIVIF. Once I per-
fected VIVIF 1 started selling them
to other fishermen. Soon news of as-
tonishing catches came in—first France
—then from other countries.

Yes, from all over come reports of
amazing catches — of fish biting where
other Jures failed — of the sureness,
the simplicity, the effectiveness of this
VIVIF lure. And what does this mean
to you?

Simply this. Now YOU can get more
out of fishing than ever before. Now
YOU can catch more fish, bigger fish
than ever in your life. It is GUARAN-
TEED — or you pay not one penny.
It means now no longer need you
come back with an empty creel from a
long day’s fishing. It means no longer
need you spend hours of work digging
worms or catching minnows or other
bait. It means you can save the end-
less expense of continually buying ex-
pensive spinners, flies, plugs, bait and
lures. It means you can often catch

the fish that are not biting on worms, _

bugs, plugs, spoons, canned bait, flies,
cut bait or spinners or no cost. It
means you can troll, cast, or shore fish
with my lure with equal success. It
means you can go out after and come
btack with large mouth bass, small
mouth bass, pike, pickerel, perch,
bream, trout, walleyes, salmon, red
tuna, striped bass, blue fish, weak fish
and do it time and again — or your
money will be refunded at any time.
VIVIF is catching fish in 25 countries
for delighted fishermen. 3,000,000
VIVIF’s have been grabbed up. Al-
ready reports from U.S. fishermen say
VIVIF is the greatest lure they have
ever used. I predict VIVIF will be the
world’s fastest selling fish Jure. But
test the magic power of VIVIF your-
self without risking a penny.

I $3.98 ($4.65 valuel

SOUND WAVE MINNOW!

Living action! Attracts by its Vibrating tail.
World's most lifelike lure in water. Fish can't
resist. When they grab ture it "“feels” lifelike
~~doesn't warn them to spit il out before
hook sinks in,

Fishermen Say . . .

_“The 1st day caught 25" Musky and 4
nice Northerns, Vivif surprised my guide.”
L.K., Chicago, tl.
“With Vivif | caught plenty of Bass.”
S.F.. Pittsburgh, Pa.
“‘Amazing! Caught 6 Bass, then 4 North-
erns 24” to 31"—in 1 day.”
R.C., Waukegan, il
“Trolling Vivif | landed 15 Yellowtails
and 2 Bonito—out of 19 starts.”
C.C.S.. Encinita, Calif.
Caught 31 Ib. Pike, 40 b, Salmon, 30
Ib. Rock Sturgeon, limits of Walleye, Pick-
erel. Magic with Perch, Striped Bass, Biue
Fish, Weak Fish.

] PAYMENT ENCLOSED ($3.98 cash, check or M.O.) Ship me set
of 3 VIVIFS ( #0115) postpaid. | save all C.0.D. charges.

SUPPLIES are LIMITED

To get your VIVIF now, mail Amaz-
ing Trial Coupon. U.S. supplies are
still limited. Order now to be sure
yow’ll have your VIVIF in time for
your next fishing trip. Only if you act
at once can we guarantee to fill your
order immediately.

AMAZING TRIAL OFFER

It took me 19 years of hard work de-
veloping, improving, and perfecting
VIVIF to achieve my final result. But
You can test the magic power of
VIVIF yourself without risking a
penny. VIVIF takes the luck out of
fishing, lets you have more fun out of
fishing—because you catch more fish.

All you do is mail the no-risk trial
coupon below. When you receive your
VIVIF, use it anywhere you like . ..to
prove its fantastic catching powers.
Use it to catch bass, trout, perch,
pickerel, pike, walleyes . . . any sport
or pan fish you like to catch.

Put VIVIF to every test. If you don’t
agree it is the finest lure you've ever
used . . . if it doesn’t catch more fish
and bigger fish, you have used it en-
tirely free. It won’t cost you a penny.
Read amazing trial offer below.

Over 3,000,000 Amazing VIVIF’s Al-
ready Sold Throughout The World.
Be The First In Your Area To Own

One,
©G.S. 19703

— = MAIL AMAZING 6 MONTH TRIAL COUPON TODAY——-i

| GIFT HOUSE, Dept. 4878
| 4500 N-W. 135th Street, Miami, Fla. 33054 |

t accept your GUARANTEE that VIVIFS will catch for me more fish, bigger fish and

Iﬁsh when they are not biting for others—even with live bait—or that otherwise | can
return VIVIFS within 6 months for full refund. I

l Send me—at no risk—set of three different VIVIF lures in world’s most life like tex-
ture and fish tested color combinations—with Magic Mation Vibrating tails—all for I

% - I [J $1 DEPOSIT ENCLOSED. Ship C.0.D. I'if pay postman $2.98 plus C.0.D. charges.
S FISH RS
 AooRESS
J city STATE 2P
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Instant Backache Relief

for _ GEE
Sacroiliac
Strains

postage

Send me

Enclosed is (

Name

Piper Brace Co., Dept. 6D-51BE

811 Wyandotte, Kansas City, Mo. 64105
BACK-EASERS at $6.95 pilus 45¢ postage. 1 under-
stand this entire amount will be refunded if | am not entirely
satisfied with the Back-Easer and return it postpaid within 30 days.
Measure around my hips is —— . i
) Money Order (

PATENTED ®

ER

For men and women. Relieves minor aches & pains caused
by back strain, makes you appear inches slimmer, improves
posture, helps relieve tensed sacroiliac nerves. Strong, form-
fitting, washable. Snap front. Encircling pull straps for easy
adjustment and instant relief. Large foam rubber pad holds,
massages back—stimulates circulation. Prescribed by doctors.
No fitting. Money-back guarantee. You must get the relief
you're seeking or you may return the garment postpaid within
30 days for full refund. Send hip measurement.

Piper Brace Co., Dept. OD-51BE, 811 Wyandotte, Kansas City, Mo. 64105

ORDER NOW

inches.
) Check for $

Address.

City

State

TRIM THAT WAISTLINE!!!
The STA-TRIM waist belt is a ruggedly constructed non:
porous belt that covers the entire waist area, causing
it to perspire with the slightest exertion. Exercise
program & Instructions included. Send $3.98 & present
waist size to:

STA-TRIM INC. Suite 1204-0FD-24
28 East Jackson Bivd. - Chicago, 11, 60604

SET TO MUSIC
See how your words can be turned Into a song. Songs
recorded, phonograph records made, Send your best
poems or songs for prompt FREE information.
CROWN MUSIC CO.
49 West 32 St. Studio E-10 New York 10001

HEARING AIDS

Huge savings -on tiny, all-in-
the-ear, behind the ear, eye-
glass and body models. New
space age models are so tiny
and well concealed your clos-
est friends may never even
notice. FREE HOME TRIAL.
No down payment. Low as $10
monthly. Money back guaran-
tee. Order direct and save. Gliew
Write today for free catalog and confidential bookiet.

SNV IS SELLS
| 22 SIGHT!

SELL new lifetime, Golden Metal

Social Security Plates in spare time for

BIG PROFITS. Millions waiting to buy.
or obligotion wh

No i
SEND FOR FREE SAMPLE AND
COMPLETE .SALES KIT NOwW/
RUSSELL PRODUCTS CO.
P.0. BOX 296-0DG, PULASKI, TENN. 38478

LEARN

AREAL ESTATE
- ! AT HOME
Get your license, Study to Become a Salesman or

Broker. Approved for Veterans. Accredited by

NHSC. Write for Catalog.
NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF REAL ESTATE, INC.
3330-X Peachtree Rd., Atlanta, Ga. 30326

PRESTIGE, Dept.D-126 , Box 10947, Houston, Tex. 77018.
EARCHERS

TALENT $*4%<"55S ..o

INVITE YOU TO SEND YOUR SONGS OR SONG_POEMS
& wd FOR FREE EXAMINATION & ADVICE. WE NEED
8 £ FRESH NEW TALENT WITH FRESH NEW IDEAS. On
8 @ SELECTED MATERIAL WE GUARANTEE TO SECURE
& PUBLISHING CONTRACT, Senp Your
E VERY BEST TO T ALENT SeArRcHERrs, DerT. A.D,,
6311 Yucca Ave., HouLywooo, CaL. 90028
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P /
<7 FINGERPRINTING

\\\ and IDENTIFICATION
QR eosily af home. Big opporiunities,
NS Diplomas awarded, Details free. Write
ALABAMA SCHOOL OF
Z2==—"C rINGERPRINTING & DETECTIVE TRAINING
T=Z@&==  Box 1851, Fairfield, Ala, 35064

The Axe-Killer

(Continued from page 37)

to need the doctor and some men from
the police laboratory who are trained
in detection techniques. We are also go-
ing to need equipment. In all that mess
in there the murderer must have left
some clues. We're going to have to try to
d.etef,mine what they are and then trace

“And what can I do?” said the ser-
geant.

“Youre a local man and you know
this district,” said the captain. “I want
you to get out and start asking ques-
ions of everyone around Seitenstetten.
Find out if the Schiefers had any en-
emies or if they had had any trouble re-
cently with anyone living around here.
See if you can locate any reports of
strangers in the area within the past
four or five days. See if you can find
anyone who knows whether the Schief-
ers kept large amounts of money in the
house or not. Make note of everything
that you hear and report back to me as
soon as you have something interesting.
If you don’t find anything of interest,
report that back to me also. I'll be here
at the farm.”

The sergeant set off at a dog trot in
the direction of Seitenstetten and the
captain went to the car to call head-
quarters at Anstetfen over the police
radio. He then sat down in the car,
started the motor and turned on the
heater. He had just managed to become
comfortably warm when the police am-
bulance and a squad car arrived from
Anstetten.

“Where are they?” asked Doctor Karl
Niel, the Gendarmerie medical officer,
coming over to the captain’s car. He was
short, plump and was wearing a thick
fur coat which made him look almost
spherical, Despite a fur cap which he
wore pulled down over his ears, his
round, cheerful race was quite red with
the cold.

“Pll show you,” said the captain, get-
ting out of the car. “You men from the
laboratory, bring your equipment and
come on into the house. I want every-
thing examined and a report as soon as
you can give it to me.”

He led the way in through the court-
vard to the kitchen door. “Just look at
the bodies and try and give me an esti-
mate of how long they've been dead and
what the cause of death was,” he said
to the doctor. “Don’t disturb them just
yet. I'd like the men from the laborato-
ry to finish their investigation before we
take the bodies down to the morgue.
Later on, Ill want an autopsy of
course.”

The captain stood in the door of the
kitchen watching while the doctor and
the four technicians threaded their way
through the debris of the kitchen to
where the body of Alois Schiefer lay.
The two stretcher bearers from the am-
bulance were standing in the courtyard
with their stretcher and stamping their
feet against the cold. “You might as
well go sit in the ambulance,” said the
captain. “It'll be a little while before
you can bring the bodies out.”

The investigation proceeded deliber-
ately and with precision, but, by six
oclock that evening, the bodies had
been removed to the police morgue in
Anstetten where Doctor Niel was be-
ginning his autopsy. The technicians
had concluded their search of the prem-
ises and were now presenting their re-
port to Captain Friedmann in Sergeant
Gruber’s little office. The sergeant him-
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self had still not returned.

“The axe was the murder weapon,”
said the senior of the technicians. He
was a tall, dark man with a lean face
and a hooked nose. “Apparently, the
man was Kkilled first. His skull was com-
pletely smashed in with blows from the
butt of the axe. The woman must have
been sleeping in the room next to the
kitchen while this was going on and
there’s no explanation as to why she
didn’t notice anything. There must have
been a certain amount of noise,”

“She was deaf and dumb,” explained
the captain.

“That explains that then,” said the
technician, “Following the murder of
the husband, the person must have en-
tered the bedroom and killed the wom-
an in her sleep in the same manner.
Her head is also completely crushed. He
then returned to the kitchen and thor-
oughly searched it. If there was any
money there, he found it and took it
away with him. There is none there
now. We didn’t find any money any-
where else in the house and that might
be an indication that the murderer
knew that the money was kept in the
kitchen but not precisely where. He
didn’t bother to search any of the other
rooms.”

“Any indication as to who he was?”
asked the captain.

“Someone who knew the Schiefers”,
replied the technician. “There were two
dirty wine glasses in the kitchen. It
would seem that Alois Schiefer was
drinking wine with the murderer and
that Mrs. Schiefer had gone to bed. A
quarrel arose and the stranger killed
Schiefer. He then went in and killed
Mrs. Schiefer in her bed. Afterwards,
he came back out, searched the kitchen
and, presumably, found whatever mon-
ey there was. He then continued to sit
in the kitchen and drink wine and
eventually lay down on the floor beside
the body of his victim and went to
sleep. He must have slept all night, lit-
erally in Schiefer’s blood, and left the
next morning.”

“How in heaven’s name could you de-
termine that?” asked the captain,

“By the amount of wood ash in the
stove,” said the technician. “That’s a
wood burning stove and someone had
to feed it with wood all night long. In
addition, there are fibers from the man’s
clothing stuck in the blood on the floor
and there are even imprints to show
where he laid. Oddly enough, we didn’t
find a single fingerprint other than
those of Mr. and Mrs. Schiefer. Either
the fellow was wearing gloves or he
was terribly careful or terribly lucky.”

“And that’s all?” questioned the cap-

tain,
“For the moment, yes,” said the tech-
nician. “Dr. Niel may be able to give
you something more from his examina-
tion of the body, but I'm inclined to
doubt it. Can we go back to Anstetten
now?”

“Yes,” said the captain. “Ill be re-
maining here in Seitenstetten until this
thing is cleared up. If you turn up any-
thing else, let me know.

The technicians returned to head-
quarters and an hour later Sergeant
Gruber reported in to the little office
where the captain was still waiting,

“I have a number of interesting things
to report,” began the sergeant. “There
was a strange man seen here in Seiten-
stetten last week. Nobody knows who
he was and he’s gone now. The other
thing is that Schiefer told one of the
neighbors last week that he was expect-
ing a visitor. He didn’t say who was
coming. I wasn’t able to find out wheth-
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Lose 10 Tbs.
n 10 Days on
Grapetruit Diet

HOLLYWOOD, CALIF. (Special) — This is
the revolutionary grapefruit diet that
everyone is suddenly talking about. It
has made people slim, attractive and feel
young again. Literally thousands upon
thousands of copies have been passed
from hand to hand in factories and of-
fices throughout the U.S.

Word of its success has spread like wild-
fire. This is the diet that really works. No
pills or drugs. We have testimonials in our.
files reporting on its success. If you follow
it exactly, you should lose 10 pounds in 10
days. There will be no weight loss in the first
4 days, but you will suddenly drop 5 pounds
on the 5th day. Thereafter you wilt lose one
pound a day until the 10th day. Then you will
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juicy steaks, roast or fried chicken, rich
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secret behind this new “quick weight loss”
diet is simple. Fat does not form fat. The
grapefruit acts as a catalyst (the “trigger”)
to start the fat burning process. You eat as
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listed in the diet plan, and still lose unsightly
fat and excess body fluids. When the fat and
bloat are gone your weight will remain con-
stant. A copy of this very successful diet plan
including suggested menus can be obtained
by sending $2 to Grapefruit Diet. MONEY
BACK GUARANTEE. If after diligently trying
the diet plan you have not lost 7 pounds in
the first 7 days and 1% pounds every two
days thereafter, simply return the diet plan
and your $2 will be refunded promptly and
without argument. Fill out the coupon, mail
it today, and you will receive your diet rush
via first class mail. Decide now to regain the
trim, attractive figure of your youth, while
enjoy«i?ng hearty breakfasts, lunches and din-
ners.
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er the visitor has already got here or
not. Schiefer didn’t say when he was
coming.”

“Well, that’s the most promising thing
that I've heard today,” said the captain.
He quickly outlined to the sergeant the
results of the technician’s investigation

and concluded, “Dr. Niel is working on

the autopsies right now. He should have
a report for us tomorrow morning and,
although I don’t think that he’ll be able
to give us any clues to the identity of
the murderer, he may be able to give
us a reasonably exact time as to when
it took place. That could be useful.”

The sergeant had obtained a descrip-
tion of the strange man who had been
seen in the neighborhood the week
previous and the captain immediately
called Anstetten and asked for a general
alarm to be put out for the man’s ap-
prehension. There was no indication as
to which direction he might have taken
on leaving Seitenstetten. This conclud-
ed, the captain went down to Seiten-
stetten’s sole inn where he booked a
room for an indefinite period, had his
dinner and then went to bed.

The following morning at quarter to
eight he was back in the sergeant’s of-
fice where he found the sergeant al-
ready on duty and talking on the tele-
phone to Dr. Niel in Anstetten. The
doctor had completed his autopsies and
gave, as his opinion, the evening of No-
vember 27, 1970, as the date of the mur-
ders. The skulls of both victims had
been crushed with repeated blows by
the butt of the axe found in the kitchen.
?side from this, there was no informa-
ion.

The sergeant went off to continue his
questioning and, at ten o’clock, there
was a call from headquarters at Anstet-
ten to report that a man answering to
the description of the stranger seen in
the neighborhood of Seitenstetten dur-
ing ‘the week in which the Schiefers
were murdered had been located in the
town of Enns, nearly fifty miles to the
northwest of the village. He was a sales-
man named Jules Krach who special-
ized in selling fire extinguishers to
farmers, A preliminary check had, how-
ever, shown that the equipment was
worthless and that Krach was a swin-
dler who was already the subject of
numerous complaints filed with the Gen-
darmerie. He admitted to being in Seit-
enstetten at the time of the murders,
but denied that he had called on the
Schiefers or had had anything to do
with the crime. He was now being re-
turned to Anstetten under police guard.

“It looks as if you may have solved
your first case,” said the captain to
Sergeant Gruber as he returned to the
office at noon for lunch. “They’ve al-
ready picked up that stranger that you
reported here in the district. He hasn’t
confessed, but he sounds like a likely
suspect.”

The sergeant listened quietly to the
captain’s account of Jules Krach and his
activities in swindling farmers and then
said, “That’s good, but, in case Krach
isn’t guilty, I've been working on the
visitor that Schiefer said was coming to
see him. It seems that his name is Le-
opold Horak and he is a casual farm
laborer who worked for Schiefer at
one time. I know him by sight. He’s a
little younger than I am, about twenty-
three years old, and he was around
here for quite a while. He’s not a local
man though.”

“Did you find out if he’s already been
here?” asked the captain.

“Yes,” said the sergeant. “He spent
the night of the twenty-eighth in a
barn belonging to one of Schiefer’s

neighbors. He told the people there that
he came back to Seitenstetten to look
for work, but that it was too late and
he wanted some place to spend the
night. They knew him, so they let him
sleep in the barn.”

“Why not in the house?” asked the
capt’ain. “After all, if they knew him

“They thought he was a little funny
in the head,” said the sergeant. “A lot of
people did when he was around here
before. I don’t think that he’s too
bright.”

“Well, if no one knows where he is
now,” said the captain, “we’d better call
Anstetten and have them put out an
alarm for him too. You can call them
up and give them the description your-
self. While you're at it, ask them to
send Krach down here as soon as he ar-
rives in Anstetten. I want to talk to
him.”

Jules Krach was brought down to
Seitenstetten that same afternoon, but
the captain’s questioning evoked noth-
ing but denials. Krach, a. heavy set man
of forty-two, appeared to be badly
frightened and he freely admitted swin-
dling farmers with his worthless fire
extinguishers but denied vigorously
that he had ever seen the Schiefers or
had had anything to do with their
deaths.
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The captain ordered him returned to
Anstetten to be held for further ques-
tioning and by the following day was
gratified to learn that there was a new
suspect for questioning. Leopold Horak
had been picked up in the little town of
Melk, some twenty-five miles east of
Anstetten. He too denied any connec-
tion with the murders and was being
brought back to Seitenstetten for an
interview with the captain.

Horak, on his arrival, told an unlikely
story of having tramped all night on
the “evening of November 27th and all
of the following day. He had, he said,
arrived at the farm where he had spent
the night in the barn completely ex-
hausted. When asked why he had not
gone on to visit the Schiefers as they
had expected, he denied that he had
ever intended visiting them. He said
that he had worked for Schiefer, but
that Schiefer was a skin-flint and that
he wanted nothing to do with him. After
spending the night in the barn, he had
gone on in the direction of Melk where
he hoped to find work.

“I don’t think that you can believe a
word of that story, Captain,” said Ser-
geant Gruber after the prisoner had
been safely locked away in Seitenstet-
ten’s one cell jail. “The people where he
spent the night in the barn say that he
was suffering from a terrible hang-over.
They said you could smell the alcohol
on him from a distance of fifty feet. He
couldn’t have been tramping all night
and all day and getting drunk at the
same time.”

“There’s more than that,” said the
captain. “They took his clothes to the
laboratory up in Anstetten for exam-
ination and they say that there are
definite traces of human blood on them.
In addition, the fibers that were found
dried into the blood on the kitchen
floor appeared to match those from his
coat. The trouble is, there isn’t enough

concrete, physical evidence that we
could be sure of getting an indictment.
What we need is a confession.”

The following morning when the cap-
tain appeared at the little Gendarmerie
Station in Seitenstetten, Sergeant Gru-
ber was not there, but he turned up
forty-five minutes later. “I had an idea
last night, captain,” he said. “I don’t
know if this will get you your confes-
sion, but I think it's another piece of
physical evidence against Leopold Hor-
ak. It occurred to me, that if Schiefer
were expecting a visit from Horak, he
would have registered him with the lo-
cal residence registry office. It’s the law
and Schiefer was a very exact man. I've
been over there checking just now.
Schiefer filled out a residents form for
Leopold Horak for the week beginning
November 27th, Friday.”

“You know,” said the captain, “if you
keep up this sort of thing, I'm going to
ask to have you transferred to the
Criminal Investigations Department up
in Anstetten. Bring Horak in and let’s
see what he has to say to this.”

Horak’s reply was another denial, but
he was unable to keep up with his pro-
testations of innocence for very long.
The captain was now convinced that he
had the right man and he bore down re-
lentlessly. As the questioning continued,
Horak became more and more confused,
mixing up his answers and finally re-
fusing to answer at all. Oddly enough,
his confession only came when he was
finally taken before the examining
judge, who in Austria serves in the
place of a grand jury. His formal in-
dictment apparently convinced Horak
that there was no point in further
denial.

“It was over the bedroom,” said Hor-
ak. “We'd been drinking wine all eve-
ning and I wanted to sleep in the kitch-
en where it was warm. Old Schiefer
said that if he could sleep in a cold bed-
room, it was good enough for me too. I
told him that he had a woman in bed to
keep him warm, but that I had to sleep
all alone. He said that he didn't care
about that, that I was going to sleep in
the barn and that was the end of it.

“That made me so mad that I went
out to the shed and got the axe and
came back in and hit him over the head
with it. I kept on hitting him until I had
pounded his damned head right in.
Then, I was still so mad that I went into
the bedroom and killed the woman too.

“I came out and went through every-
thing in the kitchen. I knew that Schief-
er kept his money there, but I thought
there was more of it. All I got was
twenty-four dollars.

“T was tired then so I lay down on the
kitchen floor and went to sleep. I told old
Schiefer that I was going to sleep in that
kitchen and I did.”

Leopold Horak was examined by the
state psychologist who pronounced him
somewhat feeble-minded, but aware of
the consequences of his act and capable
of standing trial. He was formally in-
dicted for the first degree murder of
Alois and Aloisia Schiefer and ordered
held for trial. The trial will take place
sometime during 1971 and the State is
expected to press for life imprisonment,
the maximum penalty. X

EprTor’s NOTE:
In order to comply with Austrian

police regulations, the following
names, as used in the foregoing story,
are fictitious: Johannes Unterber-

ger, Sergeant Hans Gruber, Captain
Harold Friedmann, Dr. Karl Niel and
Jules Krach.




Sue Refused to Be
A Sex Slave ...

(Continued from page 15)

bank parking lot. The man who had
earlier asked her to dance and who gave
a statement to Sergeant Carruthers said
he saw her sitting alone at a table and
joined her.

After they had talked briefly, she said
she wanted to go to the Sand Box Bar.
He said he had heard this was a hangout
for members of the Pagan and Outlaws
motorcycle gangs and he tried to talk
her out of going, but she insisted, so he
accompanied her the short distance,
about 34 of a block south on Atlantic
Boulevard.

So far as the detectives later could de-
termine, there were 28 people in the
place at the time. Most of these were
members of the two motorcycle gangs.
The witness who had accompanied Sue
said he had never been in a place like
this before and he was quite taken with
it. -
He said in his statement that he struck
up conversations with some of the mo-
torcycle gang members and at the time,
he concluded that they were not as bad
as they were reputed to be.

Sue seemed to be acquainted with
some of the members and began talking
to them. She had attracted the attention
of the whole group, who were making
gestures to each other and then point-
ing at Sue.

They had given her nicknames and
referred to her as “Susie Cream Cheese”
and “Susie Cream Jeans.” The witness
said that she didn't seem to mind and
mingled with the group. This seemed to
agree with what the detectives had been
told by the manager of the brokerage
house where Susan had worked for
about 10 years. He had said she “had an
extremely outgoing personality. She
liked the whole world.”

Meanwhile, the man she had arrived
with had become involved in a pool
game with members of a motorcycle
gang and they were buying beer for one
another. He said he was getting along
with them quite well. This continued
until about five minutes before the 2
o’clock closing time. People began to
leave.

The man who had gone to the Sand
Box with Miss Bacon said that the last
he saw of her was when she got into a
Volkswagen with some members of one
of the gangs. The Volkswagen drove
away and was followed by more gang
members in a white 1965 Chevrolet and
more in a third car which the witness
said he remembered only as being of a
dark color.

At first, the witness said he didn’t re-
member or hear. any names. But he had
gotten the impression that there was
some hostility between the Pagans and
the Outlaws and noticed that members
of the two groups didn’t talk to each
other.

After some thought, he recalled two
nicknames, Striker T and Mendoa. They
were members of the QOutlaws gang., He
said the Pagans had left separately and
that the men in the three cars he had
noticed were members of the Outlaws.

Sergeant Carruthers knew that the
gangs had chapters in both Fort Lauder-
dale and Miami. The Pagans had orig-
inated in Virginia, but the Outlaws had
chapters in Chicago, Detroit and other
cities. Most of the members of the Fort
Lauderdale chapter were from Ohio.
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Some years before, a member of the
Outlaws had been involved in the mur-
der of an 1l-year-old girl and several
had participated in what came to be
known as the crucifixion of a teenager.
She had failed to obey orders to raise
money by prostitution and it had been
decided to discipline her. Her hands and
feet were nailed to a tree in the manner
of a crucifixion and she was forced to
stay there for some time. Then she was
taken to a West Palm Beach hospital for
treatment. The Outlaws members re-
sponsible were located, arrested, tried
and convicted.

As a result of these incidents, Sheriff
William Heidtman of Palm Beach Coun-
ty, Sheriff Stack of Broward County
and Sheriff E. Wilson Purdy of Dade
County had begun collecting mug shots
of gang members, with their right names
and all known nicknames. Every gang
member had one or more nicknames, a
device which made it difficult for law-
men trying to keep track of them.

The three sheriffs had kept pretty
constant surveillance on the activities of
the gang members and learned most of
the nicknames. When a member
changed his nickname, this usually be-
came known to the undercover deputies.
Also undercover men of the Fort Laud-
erdale police frequented the bars where
gang members were known to hang out.

Sergeant Carruthers and Detective
Bill Mix, who had helped in the inter-
views, began checking the files, but they
couldn’t find either Striker T or Mendoa
listed. They took mug shots of the mo-
torcycle gang members to the Sand Box
Bar. One employe said that Striker T
was a member of the chapter of the
Outlaws in Columbus, Ohio. He didn’t
know the man’s name, but said he had
been driving a 1965 white Chevrolet
with Ohio license plates.

The witness who had seen the three
cars driving away, with Sue Bacon in
the lead car, was contacted and he
agreed to try to help the detectives.
Sergeant Carruthers learned that the
Pagans were having a New Year’s Eve
party in Pompano Beach and he ar-
ranged to help them celebrate.

Sergeant Carruthers, Chief of Detec-
tives Danner, Detective Lieutenant Ed
Roland, Detective Sergeants Ed Werder
and John Ryan and numerous officers of
the uniform division, accompanied by
the witness who had been in the Sand
Box Bar, arrived at the place in Pom-
pano Beach where the Pagans were hav-
ing their party.

The officers joined in the celebration
and stayed almost until dawn to give
the witness an opportunity to look at
the different members. He had met some
of them in the bar on December 27th,
but the men he had known as Striker T
and Mendoa were not at the party.

The lawmen finished up their celebra-
tion at the sheriff’s office with pizza and
coffee, but they didn’t give up.

The witness was taken to a number of
other places where members of the Out-
laws hung out, but again he was unable
to identify any of them as Striker T or
Mendoa.

However, at the second stop, they lo-
cated a man named Eddie Lee Summers,
whose nickname was Grubby. The lo-
cation where they found Summers, who
assertedly had been at the Sand Box at
the same time as Sue Bacon, had been
under surveillance by the Fort Lauder-
dale police because neighbors had com-
plained of the character of the occu-
pants as well as the late hour noise.

“Have you seen Mendoa?” Sergeant
Carruthers asked Summers.

Summers replied that Mendoa had
gone out of town for the New Year's
week end, but he was expected back
IA/Ionday as he had to go to work that

ay.

Sergeant Carruthers didn’t ask Men-
doa’s right name then, because there
were numerous others at the place and
he didn't want to arouse suspicion.
However, he contacted the Fort Laud-
erdale police and learned that one of
their undercover men had been in the
Sand Box Bar the night Sue Bacon last
was seen alive.

This man had learned that Mendoa
was the nickname of Richard Crimmer,
who lived in the area. He was unable to
learn the name of Striker T, but he did
get the Ohio license number of the
1965 white Chevrolet.

During the next few days, Sheriff
Stack assigned Lieutenant Ed Roland to
help him coordinate the investigation
and he also assigned as many men as
he could spare from the vice and other
divisions. They worked with Sergeant
Carruthers and Detective de Salvo in-
terviewing people who had frequented
the Sand Box Bar and who had been
known acquaintances of Sue Bacon.

They learned that Sue had been in
the Sand Box several times before and

that she was acquainted with many

members of the Outlaws. Sergeant Car-
ruthers also learned that Sue had had
trouble with some members of the Out-

laws gang when she had been employed
at the restaurant during the summer.

In addition, the officers learned that
a man named Rudolph Lee Lunsford, 21,
was a member of the gang who had
been present in the Sand Box on the
fateful night and whose testimony might
be useful. Lunsford, however, was now
living in Brookville, Ohio, a small town
near Dayton.

Keeping members under surveillance,
Sergeant Carruthers and Detective de
Salvo were led to a body shop in Fort
Lauderdale where the gang had their
cycles and cars painted. Talking to the
owner, Sergeant Carruthers learned that
the 1965 white Chevrolet had been
brought to the shop and was presently
jacked up in the rear of the shop.

The body shop owner said that one of
the Outlaws, Grubby Summers, had
come back and exchanged the rear tires
on the Chevy. Although the license
plates had been removed, the VIN (ve-
hicle identification number) had not
been obliterated. Sergeant Carruthers
jotted it down and began a trace of
ownership through the manufacturer
and dealers.

The Chevrolet was impounded and a
search warrant was obtained. The car
was towed to headquarters, where it
was processed by Lieutenant Danijel
Hein, the sheriff's chief technician. The
car yielded one important clue—a torn
portion of a page from the Fort Lauder-

“A little tiff with the wife, huh?”

TRUE DETECTIVE




dale Sun-Sentingl for December 26,
1970, was found in the back seat.

Sergeant Carruthers and Lieutenant
Hein carefully placed it on a flat sur-
face and brought out the torn page
which had been preserved after it was
found near the girl's body. With ex-
treme care, they moved the jagged
edges of the two portions and they were
a perfect fit. They now were a complete
page from the newspaper.

Both sections were preserved as ev-
idence. It was one of those story-book
clues that Sergeant Carruthers had
never expected to find, although he had
kept trying. Sergeant Carruthers had
been in police work since June, 1963,
and all the intervening time has been
with the Broward County Sheriff’s De-
partment. He spent four months at the
Dade County Police Academy in Miami
and served his apprenticeship as a uni-
formed deputy before he was trans-
ferred to the detective bureau and the
homicide division. His job is non-polit-
ical and he has worked under a number
of sheriffs.

He has attended several schools to
learn more about law enforcement and
in 1970 attended the Southern Police In-
stitute in Louisville, Kentucky, where
he took a course in homicide investiga-
tion, adding to his already considerable
knowledge of that phase of law en-
forcement. Sergeant Carruthers is mar-
ried and the father of two daughters,
one a baby born in December, 1970.

Sergeant Carruthers, a thoroughgoing
professional himself, works with other
real pros. His boss, Chief of Detectives
Danner, is retired from the New York
City Police Department, where he was
a detective captain commanding a unit
of 140 men. Lieutenant Roland also is
retired from New York City, where he
was a detective lieutenant with a squad
of 20 detectives under his command.

These three men met with Sheriff
Stack, Lieutenant George, State Attor-
ney Shailer and his assistant, Barney
Lenahan, to discuss the latest develop-
ment. It was decided then to send Ser-
geant Eddie Werder to Brookville by
air to try to locate Rudolph Lunsford.

Sergeant Werder was met at the Day-
ton airport by a Brookville police officer
and the two worked together in trying
to run down Lunsford. They succeeded
in tracing him and found him in the
company of another young man, Eugene
Shockey. It was learned that both had
visited Florida, leaving Brookville on
December 22, 1970, and returning just
before New Year’s Day.

Sergeant Werder had been coached by
State Attorney Shailer on how to inter-
view Lunsford without violating his
rights. Werder interviewed both men
and he said they both implicated two
Florida men, James Walter “Blue” Star-
rett as the trigger man, and another
man as one of the principals in the slay-
ing of Sue Bacon. According to the po-
lice, Miss Bacon had been slain because
she resisted the sexual advances of a
number of the members of the Outlaws
gang.

According to statements attributed to
Lunsford and Shockey, Miss Bacon had
been beaten until she was groggy; this
occurred at the place where she had
gone with the men in the three cars.
Then she had been taken to the park
area near the Everglades, where she
had been shot.

On the basis of this information, both
Summers and Starrett, who had been
kept under surveillance for other of-
fenses, were arrested. Starrett made no
statement, but asked for his attorney.
He was held in Broward County jail.

“He has it pretty well down pat, he’s
been arrested several times and he
knows just what to do,” Sergeant Car-
ruthers commented.

Starrett was arrested on the night of
January 11, 1971, and Summers was
nabbed by Sergeant John Nolan the fol-
lowing morning, January 12th. Both
were charged with first-degree murder.

In Ohio, Lunsford and Shockey
waived extradition .and were returned
to Fort Lauderdale. Richard Crimmer,
the man known as Mendoa, gave himself
up. Because of other legal matters in-
volving the Outlaws, their attorneys had
been keeping in close touch with them
and they were readily available.

On Wednesday, January 13th, Starrett,
Summers, and Shockey, whose nick-
name is Shotgun, appeared before Cir-
cuit Judge Louis Wissing. He ruled
there was no probable cause to hold
Summers, but ordered Starrett and
Shockey held for grand jury action.

The Broward County grand jury
heard the evidence and on Friday, Jan-
uary 21st, indicted Starrett and Shockey
on first-degree murder charges. The
jury also indicted Summers as an ac-
cessory after the fact of first-degree
murder.

Shockey was arraigned on Friday,
January 22nd, and won a separate trial.
He pleaded not guilty and Circuit Judge
Arthur Franza tentatively set his trial
for March. Starrett was arraigned on
Friday, January 29th, and stood mute.
Presiding Circuit Judge Stewart F. La-
Motte entered a plea of not guilty.
When Starrett said he was indigent, the
judge appointed an attorney to repre-
sent him. No trial date has been set.

Nor has a date been set for the trial
of Summers.

As this was written, all three defen-
dants were held without bail in the
Broward County jail and further action
against them was pending. Lunsford was
not charged with a crime. Sheriff Stack
said he was being held as a material
witness. All of the  accused must be
presumed to be innocent, of course,
pending adjudication of the charges
against them,

When he was informed that the story
of the work done in the case would ap-
pear in this magazine, Sergeant Car-
ruthers said: “My wife thought I was
staying out to get away from the baby.
When she reads the story, maybe she’ll
know better.” X X
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“The Candy Man’’

(Continued from page 6)

ing in the classic manner—from pushers.
Sheriff Roy Nixon, who succeeded
Morris in early September after serving

six years as chief deputy, decided it was .

time for some drastic action—something
dramatic that would grab attention. He
called a conference of top aides, includ-
ing Chief Deputy Gerald Proctor and
Captain Joe Cox of his own depart-
ment’s narcotics squad.

The drastic action Nixon had in mind
was a strong drive against pushers, to
dry up some sources of supply, and to
throw fear into some of the more flag-
rant violators.

“The pushers are going to go where
the young people are,” sajd Sheriff Nix-
on. “I'm thinking in terms of putting
undercover agents on the scene and let-
ting the pushers come to them,” ‘

Other details of that conference are
immaterial. Important to our story, how-
ever, is the fact that a decision was
made to send one or more volunteers
into the drug underworld as undercover
agents.

Officer Lively, an ex-Marine with
three years service in the department,
was selected. There were several reasons
for the choice, in addition to the fact he
is a quick learner with a good memory
and well able to defend himself if neces-
sary.

Lively is originally from California.
He was not widely known in Memphis,
and most of his law enforcement career
had been spent riding squad cars outside
the city limits. Members of the drug
culture would not be likely to recognize
him, and his Marine Corps traihing
would stand him in good stead if he had
to defend himself.

There was one thing wrong with Rob-
ert Lively for the assignment. He knew
next to nothing about narcotics, had nev-
er associated with addicts, and knew
only a few of the pseudonyms for var-
ious drugs.

Which didn’t give him pause when the
assignment was outlined. He promptly
volunteered. Later, after his cover was
broken, he said: “Somebody had to do it.
I had an opportunity to get in with this
particular type of people, so I did.”

But before he could get in with them
there was a period of preparation. Dur-
ing that time he read voraciously on
drugs, drug addicts and their way of
life. He also listened to numerous infor-
mal lectures by more experienced nar-
cotics agents.

He learned that heroin is known as
snow, stuff, skag, smack or horse.

He learned that marijuana is referred
to as joints, sticks, reefers, weed, grass,
pot, muggles, mooters, hay, tea, loco-
weed, giggle-smoke, griffo, mobarky and
mary jane.

He learned that junkies use the word
“acid” to refer to hallucinogens, and
that barbiturates or “downers” are var-
iously called red birds, yellow jackets,
blue heavens and goof balls. Ampheta~
mines or “uppers,” are known as ben-
nies, co-pilots, pep pills, slenderizers,
hearts and footballs.

Codeine, Lively learned, is called
schoolboy, and cocaine is simply “the
leaf” until mixed with heroin, and it
then becomes snow or smack.

It was a concentrated education of
sorts that he got, an education in de-
pravity, to enable him to pass for a
pusher-addict among the people he

would walk and talk and traffic with in -

the world of the living dead.

He had to learn that OD’d meant be-
ing overdosed, and that to be OD'd was
to be burned. He learned, that a speed
freak can’t sit still, that a heroin addict
coughs frequently and sniffs as if he has
a cold, and that barbiturate users are
lethargic and often “go on the nod” after
dosing themselves.

Before plunging into the hippie world,
however, he had to do more than mem-
orize addict lingo and learn their code. He
had to be able to pass for one of them.

This involved growing more hair and
a beard. It involved getting mod clothes
—blue jeans, weathered shirts and a
soiled, floppy hat—and it involved ac-
quiring puncture scars and scabs to
simulate those of an addict’s phypodermic
needle.

Then more time touring the areas fre-
quented by users and pushers, just mak-
ing the scene to become known on sight,
trying to make initial contacts, and prov-
ing he was no pushover for bully boys of
the sub-culture.

“Three times I was jumped by addicts
and straights,” he remembers. In what
is probably an understatement, he adds,
“I managed to subdue them.

“The only excuse I got out of one of
them,” he says, “was that he wanted to
put me in the hospital.”

Still others, he says, “wanted to rip
me off.” In the down-under lingo, “rip-
ping off” means taking money, by what-
ever means necessary, frequently on the
false promise that drugs will be deliv-
ered later. :

Lively soon learned that when novices
try to buy narcotics for the first time it
is almost standard practice to “rip off”
their money and leave them with noth-
ing to show for it.

“There is no honor among pushers,”
he observes.

It was during his slow, gradual ini-
tiation into the fraternity of addicts that
Lively acquired the Candy Man sobri-
quet. Before long he was known by that
title even to pushers who sold him drugs
without ever knowing his real name.

Sister Elizabeth
KENNY
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Not that he gained full-fledged mem-
bership in the Memphis drug clan over-
night. He didn’t. It was a tedious and
sometimes dangerous process, compli-
cated by the suspicion with which push-
ers and users view each other and the
rest of humanity.

“I found most of them almost para-
noid in their view of society,” remem-
bers Lively. “Gaining their confidence
took time.”

Even when a potential buyer did win
a pusher’s confidence, he says, frequent-
ly he couldn’t make the first buy unless
he used the drug in the seller’s presence.
Without elaborating on now he did so,
he adds:

“I never actually took any drugs,
though I left the impression that I did.
There are ways to simulate or fake it.”

What he really faked was the behav-
ior pattern that users manifest after
swallowing, shooting or sniffing drugs.
He became proficient at “going on the
nod” to act the role of a barbiturate
user, or at feigning the rapid, excitable,
irritable mannerisms of a person taking
amphetamines. :

He soon learned to spot hallucinogen
users at a glance. One tipoff was their
tendency to see and hear things that
weren’t apparent to anybody else.

“I had one guy tell me he was being
attacked by an oak leaf, that it kept com-
ing at him,” Lively remembers. “He was
so convincing he had me looking for it.”

Shaking his head, he recalls another
acid user on a bad trip who thought he
was crawling alive with bugs. He
plucked at the imaginary vermin so vig-
olx{'ously that he drew blood from his own
skin.

As he got deeper into the realm ruled
by drugs, the Candy Man found invita-
tions plentiful to crash pads, the meet-
ing places for addicts where some of
them actually live.

“A crash pad is a handy place to go
when the user is coming down hard—
like somebody coming off a bummer (bad
trip) on LSD,” he says.

It was in such a pad, which also
served as the “tea room” for pot parties,
that Candy Man observed the fascina-
tion which bright lights and flickering
images have for many addicts.

The place was almost bare of furni-
ture. A motley collection of people
sprawled on the floor, some on ragged
blankets or quilts, others on the splin-
tered boards.

Some of the celebrants were popping
pills, washing them down with beer or
wine for a quicker charge. Others were
puffing pot, some in cigarettes, some in

pipes.

“Addicts don't go much for hard li-
quor,” says Candy Man. “It doesn’t do
what they want, but beer and wine are
cross-matches for the drugs. Some of
them even shoot up on it to make it work
faster. Wine, that is.”

Occasionally guests would leave the
pot party and go into a back room,
either alone or in pairs. The Candy Man
suspected they were users of hard stuff,
slipping away to shoot up on smack out
of sight of the beginners who thought
only a little “harmless marijuana” was
involved.

This, too, was part of the pusher’s
method. Get the neophytes started on
pot, wean them off to something more
addictive, then let them steal, rob or beg
to feed their new habit.

There was nothing new about it to
people knowledgeable of the drug cul-
ture. It was old hat to the junkies. But
each time Candy Man saw the process in
action he became more aware of the true
enormity of the narcotics menace.

Once, sitting in a corner, listening to
an acid head high on mescaline (peyote
cactus) try to describe “thé sound” of a
color, the undercover agent was ap-
proached by a shaggy type he took for
the host. He asked Candy Man where he
stayed. The officer noticed addicts never
used the word “lived.” It was always,
“stayed.”

“Around and about,” he said. “No spe-
cial place.”

“Like, man, you can stay here if you
got nowhere. It’s not fancy, but it’s
warm.”

The undercover agent gave his would-
be benefactor a slack-jawed grin,
shrugged noncommittally. Across the
room he could see an all-but-tame cock-
roach munching on a banana peel.

Later he was to say, “I wasn’t about to
stay overnight in that pad. I had big
enough bugs in my beard already.”

Then somebody turned the television,
the pad’s only notable piece of furni-
ture, to an educational channel and the
Sesame Street program so popular with
youngsters came on the screen.

Miraculously, the jabbering stopped.



All eyes turned toward the video tube,
even though Candy Man knew that many
were beyond focusing. It dawned on him
slowly that this was the hit TV show for
addicts feeling the rush of drugs.

“It really turned them on,” he ob-
served later. “It’s something about the
bright lights and the circular move-
ments.”

For similar reasons, he noticed, drug
addicts are often movie addicts, especi-
ally where old or poorly-made quickie
films are involved. Something psych-
edelic about the impact of flickering im-
ages gets to junkies.

But enough was enough, even for
Candy Man, and he got up and lurched
out of the crash pad, looking like a
genuine hippie floating on downers
headed somewhere to nod himself to
dreamland.

Real addicts in the pad would have
been aghast if they had seen him 30 min-
utes later, carefully writing down names,
dates, addresses and other tidbits of in-
formation that would come back to haunt
them in court.

For the most part, Candy Man oper-
ated around the intersection of Southern
and Highland Avenues in southeast Mem-
phis. It is an older, middle-class neigh-
borhood just off the Memphis State Uni-
versity campus, and it consists largely
of taverns, hash houses, small shops and
theatres.

Many young habitues of the area are
college students, but there are others
with no visible means of support who
never saw the front door of the regis-
trar’s office, much less the interior of a
classroom.

Yet, observed the undercover agent,
there is a terrible sort of sameness about
those on the make for drugs—students
and dropouts alike—and it’s more a mat-
ter of attitude than appearance.

There is their supercilious tolerance
of each other, their contemptuous disre-
gard for conventional morality. There is
the common lack of direction, as if they
have lost all ambition or desire to do
anything more than feed their habits
from day to day, and to hell with next
week or next year,

“When you stay around drug users a
while, you get the impression they’re
running from something,” Lively says.
“With some, it’s personal responsibility;
with others, it’s human relationships. But
they’re all running.”

Although they were more alike in out~
look than appearance, the young addicts
Candy Man came to know did go heav-
ily for outlandish garb. Long hair,
beards, love beads, peace symbols and
body odor. All these were very much on
the scene. :

But in the hippie world, as anywhere
else, appearances can be deceiving., The
undercover agent, who worked at look-
ing, as well as acting, his role, learned
that a bizarre appearance doesn’t neces-
sarily denote a junkie. A few of the ad-
dicts he came to know were immaculate.

“Long hair and beards are no mark-
ers,” he says. “Long hair may just be
some guy’s bag and have nothing to do
with taking drugs.”

By the same token, Candy Man found,
there is little or no correlation between
drug selling or usage and race, creed or
social status, The people involved came
from all walks of life, and not all of
them were young.

“I found a few middle-aged, well-to-do
adults making the drug scene,” says
Lively.

There seemed to be about as many fe-
males involved as males, he noticed, but
that could be traced to the fact that
some pushers, especially those who are
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pimps, concentrated on hooking young
girls in order to bend them to their will.

The old story of a young female turn-
ing to prostitution to obtain narcotics is
no melodramatic cliché, Candy Man dis-
covered. It is a grim tragedy that re-
peats itself time and time again.

Not all the addicts Lively came to
know turned to crime to feed the mon-
keys on their backs. Some were the off-
spring of indulgent parents who un-
knowingly fostered the drug trade by
doling out too-generous allowances.

Many dealers, he found, were users
intent chiefly on maintaining an ade-
quate supply for themselves, This was
even true with marijuana users whose
dependence was psychological rather
than physical, as it is with heroin ad-
dicts.

“I met one dealer who would buy a lid
(one ounce) of marijuana for $5, then
break it down in smaller portions and
resell them for around $15,” says Candy
Man. “By reinvesting and retailing
small portions, he stayed in business and
kept himself supplied.”

Slowly, methodically, Candy Man in-
creased his knowledge of drugs, and o
pushers and users on the Memphis
scene, until he knew over 100 on sight.
As time went by and his contacts in-
creased, he made more frequent and
larger buys of everything from heroin to
illicit presciption drugs.

Occasionally, he would venture out of
the primary trade area near Memphis
State University to other neighbor-
hoods where young people congregated
and where pushers operated. One such
place was Overton Park, a wooded hang-
out for the so-called flower children who
liked to loll in the leaves and grass on
balmy days.

By making such excursions, he broad-
ened his circle of contacts, sometimes by
persuasion, sometimes through an intro-
duction from a cultivated drug user or
pusher.

From time to time, arrests were made
as a result of information funneled to
the undercover agent’s superiors. But
Candy Man took no part in raids. He
continued to walk the streets playing his
role of a lone wolf addict-pusher.

1t was, of necessity, a lonely role. Only
Sheriff Nixon and a few top aides knew
of the operation. Even Lively’s former
squad car partner didn’t know where he
was or what he was doing. And city
cops who looked disdainfully at the
shuffling hippie apparently never dreamed
of his true identity.

Which was perfectly all right with
Candy Man. His cover was his main pro-
tection, even though he sometimes went
armed and once had to flash his weapon
to get out of a tight corner.

“It had nothing to do with my mis-
sion,” he says. “So I got by without
breaking cover.”

Even today some of the drug traffick-
ers who were “busted” because of his
efforts wouldn’t know Candy Man if they
met him on the street. For that reason
the only pictures published of him have
been those shot in such a way that he is
unrecognizable. .

The tight corner he had to get out of
by flashing his pistol wasn’t the only one
he found himself in while masquerading.
Once a tough pusher he followed into a
lounge took a swing at him. On another
occasion, a suspect who didn’t like him
]toljiled to run over him with an automo-

ile.

Such experiences disabused him of a
notion cultivated by some drug culture
apologists—that  junkies are usually
mild-mannered people who only harm
themselves. Some are. Some are not.

Many harm themselves and others.

‘Another common belief about the
drug traffic—that it is invariably domi-
nated by the Mafia or some other syn-
dicate—turned out to be a myth, as far
as the Memphis scene was concerned.

Which is not to say that syndicate
bosses didn’t profit—somewhere down
the line—from hard drugs sold in the
Bluff City, but they didn’t control dis-
tribution down to the retail pushers.

Some people in a position to know say
the acid, speed, uppers and downers sold
in Memphis isn’t even imported. After
all, it takes very little equipment and
space for a competent chemist to con-
coct pills to a known formula.

Regarding the origin of such drugs,

Candy Man cryptically remarks, “The
sources are not necessarily from out of
town.”
. As for marijuana, Candy Man learned,
there were dozens of people—some rank
amateurs, some more or less professional
—ready and willing to transport the stuft
for the fast money involved.

It all added up that on the retail level
the Memphis drug traffic came across as
a fragmented disorganized picture, and
it reflected dozens of independent sell-
ers, small-time entrepreneurs peddling
slow death for puny profits and kicks.

That didn’t make Candy Man’s assign-
ment any less hazardous. The more peo-
ple involved, the more danger that one
will stumble onto an agent’s identity.
Possession and sale of drugs are felonies.
Charges can be involved that many
people will try to avoid at any cost.

And a cop killed by a two-bit punk
with a matchbox full of pot in his pocket
is just as dead as one knocked off by
an international smuggler. As the days
grew shorter and chillier, Candy Man’s
superiors decided time was running out
for the operation.

Before they pulled him in from the
cold, however, he managed to set up a
really big buy from a wholesaler who
supplied many of the hip-pocket deal-
ers. And this was the fish he was really
angling for, one of the sharks.

With the financial backing of an I1li-
nois operator (actually another deputy)
he was supposed to buy $15,000 worth
of heroin and LSD tablets, plus 40 to 50
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pounds of marijuana. Delivery was to
be made at a motel on the outskirts of
Memphis.

A stakeout was set up at the motel,
where other officers rented a room for
Candy Man and his “mobster friend”
from Illinois.

In an adjoining room, Sheriff Nixon
and several deputies waited for the ac-
tion to begin. Other plainclothesmen were
strategically stationed to block all drive-
ways from the motel.

The appointed hour came and went,
but the wholesaler didn’t show. An hour
slid by, two hours, three. Still no knock
on the door, no telephone call. The
stakeout was called off.

_Next day Candy Man tried to set up
another buy, but the wholesaler was
vague, evasive. It was then that Sheriff
Nixon and Chief Deputy Proctor de-
cided to break Lively's cover. They felt
his masquerade was becoming too risky.

An indirect compliment to Candy
Man’s effectiveness as an actor was paid
him by a jail deputy an he shuffled to-
ward the sheriff's office to make his final
report. Not recognizing him in costume,
the other officer was ready to arrest
Lively as a suspicious person until he
identified himself.

By then, 14 persons had been jailed
and warrants issued for three others on
information developed by that ubiqui-
tous drug scene character, the Memphis
Candy Man, and 10 of those faced push-
er charges. Drugs confiscated included
heroin, LSD, marijuana, dilaudid, co-
caine, and a variety of “uppers” and
“downers.”

Two weeks later three men were ar-
rested with 200 pounds of marijuana,
worth approximately $200,000 at retail
prices, in the trunk of their car. Sherift
Nixon refused to say what connection,
if any, the raid had with Candy Man’s
operation, but he did say the suspects
had been under surveillance for several
months.

There have been other arrests that the
dealers attribute to Candy Man, but his
superiors - refuse to affirm or deny his
responsibility.

A month after he came back above
ground, shaved off his beard and put on
clean clothes, Patrolman Robert E.
Lively was promoted to Sergeant Lively.
At that time he turned in badge No. 13
and was issued badge No. 18.

Some of the security problems taken

" to protect him are still in effect. Noth-

ing has been published about his mari-
tal status or where he lives. And his
telephone is not listed in the Memphis
directory.

Does he fear reprisals? He says not,
adding, “There’s always the possibility,
but it would be foolhardy. After all, the
people I busted have already been ar-
rested and jailed.”

What effect has the operation had on
the Memphis drug traffic? The answer is
to slow it almost to a crawl, for a time,
and it was going at full gallop before.

“A lot of people are looking over their
shoulders now,” Candy Man says. Then
he grins and adds, “And that includes
me.”

Now that it's over, how did it feel to
be playing footsie for keeps with some
desperate characters, knowing very well
that help couldn’t come if things got
sticky?

“Ifs a difficult feeling to describe,”
says Candy Man. “But you know from
the start you're going to be out there
alone. The main thing is not to lose your
cool. Did I ever lose mine? I guess not—
they never found out about me.

“if they had, I might not be here
now.” 'YX X ]



Cop-Killing
(Continued from page 29)

tween the ages of 10 months and six
years when he was shot to death while
attempting to apprehend a suspected
felon.

Because the key to Jim Sackett's am~
bush slaying was the mysterious “Mrs.
Brown” who had lured police to the
Hague Avenue address, Homicide Detec-
tive Captain Williams’ investigators
concentrated their efforts on identifying
the woman. Although conventional, rou-
tine police procedures and informants
were also used in an attempt to uncover
the face behind the wvoice, detectives
leaned heavily on scientific electronic
technology to link the voice to a par-
ticular individual.

To this end, Bell Telephone technicians
brought in highly sophisticated elec-
tronic equipment which has been de-
signed in the computer age to classify
indisputable characteristics of the hu-
man voice, which are believed to be as
individual and foolproof as a person’s
fingerprints, But like the whorls and
loops of a tell-tale fingerprint, the elec-
tronically recorded traits of a human
voice which distinctively sepdrate them
from all other indivduals are useless
until they can be compared either to a
live voice or one which has previously
been recorded, classified and filed in the
brain of a computer.

The equipment has been used effec-
tively in ‘telephone harrassment and
crank call cases and police in the na-
tion visualize the voice-decipherer as
one of the most promising crime detec-
tion devices ever devised, even though
the equipment was not originally cre-
ated exclusively for that purpose. Ac-
cording to officials at Western Electric,
which makes communications equipment
for Bell Telephone, banks and large
credit card firms foresee the day when
a person’s voice classification code will
be imprinted on his credit card, which
would be fed into a computer at the
store of purchase to determine whether
the document was issued to the prospec-
tive buyer whose live voice could be re-
corded on the spot for comparison.

Electronic engineers claim that exten-
sive testing has shown that the ma-
chine will correctly match up  voice
sounds even though they are disguised
or distorted through other equipment,
such as amplifiers, phonograph records
and tapes.

But until massive code files are com-
piled at such central locations as state
police posts, the FBI in Washington,

C., and crime laboratories, in large
metropolitan police departments, identi-
fication technicians who presently have
the equipment available for their use
have to rely on the procedures used by
the St. Paul Police Department in the
investigation of Patrolman Sackett’s
murder.

The system began by classifying the
voice of “Mrs. Brown” from the tape
which routinely records every call com-
ing into the police dispatcher. After the
characteristics of the mystery voice were
analyzed and classified, technicians
spent countless hours feeding the sound
into the mechanism which compared it
to voices on the scores of tapes which
the identification bureau had filed over
the years.

Also fed into the electronic mechanism
during the weeks to follow were the
taped voices of several witnesses, sus-
pects, informants and other individuals
who were brought into headquarters for

questioning in the case. Since the mys-
tery voice was the single best clue which
police had to work with in the murder
probe, investigators reportedly taped the
voices of practically everybody ques-
tioned in all other types of crimes, just
in case “Mrs. Brown” happened to be
brought into custody on a different
charge.

But if police were getting anywhere
with the electronic crime fighter, they
weren’t talking about it. Homicide De-
tective Captain Williams even denied
having a suspect in the case the follow-
ing Sunday despite rumors which were
circulating around City Hall. According
to police reporters, they were tipped off
that at least three persons were being
considered as prime suspects and that
one woman was questioned at headquar-
ters Sunday night.

“We have had some leads,” Captain

" Williams was quoted as saying to the

press on May 26th, “but so far, they
have failed to progress the investiga-
tion, which is proceeding slowly at the
moment. But as far as having suspects
in mind, we have none, and nobody is
in custody.”

Police did admit, however, that they
had questioned numerous persons sus-
pected of being part of the “Kill the
Pigs” movement in the area, but main-
tained that the interrogations were “rou-
tine,” and did not mean they actually
suspected any of the persons as being
the triggerman. who shot Patrolman
Sackett in the back.

Although the homicide investigators
never announced voluntarily that they
were also questioning persons believed
to have knowledge about the numerous
fire-bombings of recent months, they ad-
mitted to newsmen that they were not
overlooking “anyone” in their quest for
Patrolman Sackett’s killer. Asked if he
had concluded that the officer was shot
by somebody hiding in the bushes on the
lawn of the Shiloh Baptist Church, Cap-
tain Williams said:

“We only know that the shot came
from that general direction and from
about that distance. As far as the foot-
prints found there, we have yet to match
them up with any person we've ques-
tioned.”

The painstaking homicide probe had
dragged on for two months when the
St. Paul City Council announced that
the dead officer’s widow and children had
been awarded workmen’s compensation
insurance totalling $25,000. According to
the council, Mrs. Sackett was to receive
$70 a week in monthly installments un-
til the figure of $25000 was reached,
which would be in about seven and a
half years, The young mother of four
children also received $750 from a spe-
cial city fund to go toward funeral ex-
penses.

But it was the compassion and gen-
erosity of the general public over a large
area which assured Mrs. Sackett that
her children would be fed, housed and
educated in the years to come. It was
tangibly demonstrated through dona-
tions to the James T. Sackett Memorial
Fund, which had reached more than
$63,000 in just two months. Bank offi-
cials in charge of the fund said dona-
tions came in from policeman and pri-
vate citizens throughout the country who
had read about the tragedy.

In thanking the City Council and the
public, Mrs., Sackett said, “This is a
tribute not only to my husband but to
every peace officer in the country.”

The peace officers who had worked
tirelessly and quietly on the case for five
solid months broke the case on October
30th, when headlines in the local press
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announced that a suspect in Sackett’s
slaying had been apprehended.

Charged with first-detree murder was
Constance Louise Trimble, an attractive
18-year-old St. Paul girl who was ar-
rested near her home at 1027 Fuller
Avenue.

According to Police Chief Rowan, the
girl was arrested by detectives out of
the homicide and intelligence divisions
after it was determined that Miss Trim-
ble had been identified as the mysterious
“Mrs. Brown” who allegedly set Patrol-
man Sackett up for the kill, Chief Row-
an said the arrest warrant charging the
pretty girl with murder was issued by
Municipal Court Judge J. Clifford Jones
on a complaint filed in the office of Ram-
sey County Attorney William Randall by
homicide’s Captain Williams.

Miss Trimble was taken to the St.
Paul Public Safety Building and booked
at 10:30 p.n. October 30th. Within
minutes Captain Williams, Lieutenant
John O'Neill, head of the intelligence
division, FBI agents and other top po-
lice' officers went into conference while
the suspect was being routinely pro-
cessed in the police department identifi-
cation division. Appearing at the safety
building shortly after the alleged mur-
deress was arrested was Attorney Neil
B. Dieterich, a prominent Minneapolis
defense lawyer who conferred briefly
with his client before she was trans-
ferred to the Ramsey County Jail at
11:15 pm.

Police declined to discuss with news-
men the details behind Miss Trimble’s
arrest, except to say that the apprehen-
sion and charges resulted from “lengthy
and intensive investigation by members
of the homicide and intelligence divi-
sions.”

But as it turned out there was much,
much more behind the girl’s arrest, de-
tails of which were later to come to the
surface and expose one of the most bi-
zarre criminal cases ever investigated
in the St. Paul-Minneapolis area. Al-
though many of the details were Ilit-
erally developing before the public’s eye
on the day on which the accused woman
was arrested, they were cloaked in other
felony cases which the average news-
paper reader could not recognize as be-
ing part of the Officer Sackett homi-
cide probe.

As a matter of fact, a couple of ar-
rests made on the day Connie Trimble
was taken into custody appeared to be
so far divorced from the cop-killing that
even the arresting officers didn’t know
at first just how big their prize actually
was. And it was not until after the
young Trimble woman was indicted that
the man on the street was able to piece
together the several baffling cases and
see what Minnesota police have called
one of the most potentially disastrous
crimes ever planned in the northern sec-
tion of the United States.

Two days before Miss Trimble’s case
was to be heard by the grand jury, her
attorney attempted to have the murder
charge against his client dismissed. In
making his appeal before Municipal
Court Judge James M. Lynch, Attorney
Dieterich claimed that the arrest war-
rant for Miss Trimble was issued with-
out sufficient probable cause and that it
was based on “incompetent evidence.”

After listening to Dieterich’s motion
to quash the charges, Judge Lynch ad-
vised the criminal lawyer that the ar-
rest warrant was issued by Judge James
after the jurist had conducted a prob-
able cause hearing with Captain Wil-
liams and had concluded that police had
enough evidence to warrant Miss Trim-
ble’s arrest.

“I might also point out,” Judge Lynch
said, “that a preliminary hearing for
your client has been set for November
27th, at which time you can again raise
the probable cause question.”

The jurist then closed the discussion
with his gavel and said, “Your motion
to dismiss the charges is hereby denied.”

Obviously disappointed by the ruling,
but apparently undiscouraged, Attorney
Dieterich made an unusual legal at-
tempt to prevent his client’s case from
going before the grand jury. On the
morning of the hearing, Dieterich filed
an injunction in District Court asking
that the state be prohibited from pro-
ceeding with the hearing, contending
that the evidence to be presented was
“incompetent and insufficient.”

District Court Judge Otis Godfrey Jr.
quickly denied the motion, advising the
lawyer that the court had no way of
knowing what evidence the state intend-
ed to offer the jurors.

And since the laws are very strict
about grand jury testimony being leaked
outside the hearing doors, the public
also had no way of knowing what evi-
dence the state presented. But whatever
it was, the jurors must have been sat-
isfied that it was sufficient; on the after-
noon of November 12th, they returned a
true bill indicting Constance Trimble for
the first-degree murder of Patrolman
Jim Sackett.

Following the indictment, County At-
torney Randall would only tell newsmen
that the true bill came after the testi-
mony of seven witnesses, “most of them
policemen who worked on the case.”

Asked if the jurors heard testimony

from electronic technologists who an-

alyzed the voice of “Mrs. Brown,” the
county attorney had a “no comment” an-
swer and said that everything which
was presented to the grand jury would
be introduced in court when the accused
went on trial.

Any likelihood of the evidence being
made public during Miss Trimble’s
scheduled hearing on November 27th
was voided with her indictment, since
under the Minnesota criminal statutes,
all proposed hearings on felonies are au-
tomatically cancelled upon an indictment
for the same charge.

Within the hour after Connie Trimble
was indicted, the Minneapolis Police De-
partment received a telephone call from
an informant in St. Paul, who gave the
intelligence division a tip which sounded
like something lifted from a James Bond
thriller. The information sounded so
patently incredible that police might
have discounted it as coming from some
kind of a nut had detectives not rec-
ognized the tipster as a highly reliable
source.

According to Minneapolis Deputy Po-
lice Chief Joseph Rusinko, the informant
warned police that a 20-year-old fugi-
tive from justice by the name of Robert
Reese planned to kidnap Governor Har-
old LaVander and St. Paul Council-
woman Rosalie Butler and hold them
hostage aboard an airliner, which he
and several ‘accomplices planned to hi-
jack at the Minneapolis-St. Paul Inter-
national Airport.

Chief Rusinko said later that accord-
ing to the information furnished police,
Reese planned to board a plane disguised
as a woman about 8:45 am. on Friday
the 13th, or less than 24 hours follow-
ing the telephone tip.. Governor LeVan-
der and Councilwoman Butler were to
be held, the informant was quoted as
saying, until several “political” prison-
ers were released and promised amnesty.

One of the “political” prisoners as-
sertedly was Constance L. Trimble,

Within seconds after the call was re-
ceived, FBI agents, state police and top
brass in the St. Paul and Minneapolis
police departments were rushing toward
a closed-door meeting to plan their
strategy to counter the startling devel-
opment.

The first step taken was to assign sev-
eral officers to guard the palatial home
of Mrs. Butler and the Governor’s Man-
sion, which were located on adjoining
properties in St. Paul’s exclusive Sum-
mit Hill district. Armed with shotguns
and dispatched in unmarked cars, the
special guards had the two properties
enclosed in a ring of security within a
few minutes. The action was taken so
quickly, quietly and unobtrusively that
even the governor and his personal
bodyguard were unawaré of the incident
as it was unfolding almost under their
very noses.

In the meantime, top airline officials
were called in to coordinate the steps
which might be necessary to foil the
alleged hijacking plot. Even though the
police authorities were satisfied that
they had reduced the chances of the
governor and Mrs. Butler being ab-
ducted, they were not satisfied that the
reputed would-be kidnappers did not
have alternate hostages in mind in case
their original plans were thwarted.
There was also a chance that in the
event Reese suspected something was
wrong around the Governor’s Mansion,
he might attempt commandeering an
airliner and holding the plane’s crew
and passengers as hostages until his
jailed friends were released.

Following the consultation with the
airline officials, more than a score of
St. Paul and Minneapolis plainclothes
policemen, FBI agents and officers out
of a special tactical squad were posted
strategically at International Airport.

While the special forces were closely
observing every person approaching the
several airline ticket counters and
studying the entire layout of the busy
terminal, other lawmen were working
frantically to locating Reese in hopes
of making an apprehension before he
reached the airport.

“We were more concerned about the
safety of hundreds of innocent people
at the airport than we were about
making an arrest during the act of an
actual hijack attempt, which could re-
sult in gunplay,” Chief Rusinko said
later.

The deputy chief also said that Reese
was not unknown to local police, since
he had been hunted in the area since
November 1st after Nebraska authori-
ties informed Twin Cities police that
warrants had been issued for the sus-
pect in connection with the armed hold-
up of an Omaha bank, where a security
guard was wounded when he was shat
by one of the two robbers as they fled
the scene.

During the next several hours after
the guards were posted at the airport
and at the residences of Governor Le-
Vander and Mrs. Butler, wife of a weal-
thy St. Paul businessman, police kept
in constant contact with their key in-
formant, who was attempting to locate
Reese’s hideaway. Police got the infor-
mation they were anxiously awaiting in
the early hours of Friday morning and
they immediately processed a search
warrant and other legal documents in
order to take the suspect into custody.

According to their informant, Reese
was holed up in an upstairs apartment
at 712 Washington Avenue, Southeast,
near the University of Minnesota cam-
pus in Minneapolis.

The suspect’s reported hideout was



completely surrounded with police armed
with scatterguns and at 3:50 a.m. on Fri-
day the 13th, the apartment, located
above a wholesale food distributor, was
raided and Robert Reese was placed un-
der arrest before he had a chance to go
for a sawed off 12-gauge double-bar-
reled shotgun, which police said was
within inches of his reach as they
stormed through the front door. Police
indicated that Reese was alone when ap-
prehended. Although police declined to
-say what they confiscated from Reese’s
apartment—besides the shotgun—they did
reveal several of the items which the
suspect allegedly had on his person.

Minneapolis Deputy Police Chief Rus-
inko later in the day made the revela-
tion in a press conference which sent
the electronic news media reporters hur-
rying to their microphones to scoop the
afternoon newspapers, which were going
to press momentarily.

According to Rusinko, Reese’s pockets
contained several notes in connection
with plans for kidnaping Governor Le-
Vander and Councilwoman Butler and
the step-by-step procedures for the hi-
jacking. Both Eastern and United air-
lines were mentioned as possible targets,
Rusinko said.

“Without a doubt, they were planning
to dhijack an airplane,” Chief Rusinko
said.

With that, he released to the newsmen
copies of the contents of a hand-written
note which he said Reese had in his
pocket when arrested. It read as follows:

“Message to control tower to be re-
layed to Gov. LeVander, police, FBI or
any agent of government concerned:

“We are revolutionary. Take heed to
our first and last warning. If there is
any attempt to interfere or stop us, we
will blow up this airplane and every-
body on it. We are well armed and we
are carrying explosives. The plane and
hostages will be held until our demands
are met.

“We demand that: Connie Trimble,
Carey Hayes and Lawrence Cook be re-
leased in three hours in exchange for
three hostages. We want them all re-
leased from St. Paul County Jail,
brought to the airport and allowed to
board the plane unescorted.

“We want in exchange for the rest of
the hostages and plane a political pris-
oner for each hostage who will be given
political asylum. Our list of other pris-
oners will be presented at a later time.
We want the Black Panther Party to be

given national TV time to present their

program and platform.

“We want $50,000 in gold.

“The fate of these hostages will be
determined by the United States Gov-
ernment, Will they live or die? We will
not hesitate to kill or die for our free-
dom. We have nothing to lose and ev-
erything to gain. For the benefit, com-
fort and safety of the hostages, it would
be best for you to be expedient.”

The message concluded by saying:
“All power to the people. Seize the
times.”

Written on another piece of notebook
paper, Chief Rusinko said, were the
words, ‘“liberate  prisoner,” “kidnap
governor,” “hijack,” “leave
and, again, “hijack.”

A third note allegedly found on
Reese’s person, police said, started with
the word “flight,” which had five lines
drawn from it to the words “disguise,”
“tickets,” “guns,” “demand,” and “per-
sonnel.” Mentioned throughout the notes,
police said, were the words “pieces,”
and “sticks,” which in the vernacular
of militants mean “guns” and “dyna-
mite,” respectively.
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Chief Rusinko said the numbers “38”
and “32” were also used in the notes,
probably referring to the caliber of
guns planned to be used in the kidnap-
ings and hijackings. The police official
emphasized, however, that only the 12—
gauge shotgun was found in Reese’s pos-
session, leaving him to theorize that
smaller handguns were to be furnished
by other members of the group involved
in the conspiracy to trade Governor Le-
Vander, Councilwoman Butler and pos-
sibly other high political figures for the
freedom of Connie Trimble, Cook and
Hayes.

The Minneapolis deputy chief of po-
lice said that among the numerous items
confiscated from Reese’s apartment near
the college campus was a lengthy list of
names, telephone numbers and street ad-
dresses. Although the officer declined to
release the names or publicly speculate
on the significance of the list, he said,
“Every attempt will be made to con-
tact each individual for questioning.”

Asked if he thought there was a pos-
sible connection between the accused
slayer of Patrolman Sackett, Reese and
the other two “political” prisoners who
were to be included in the trade for the
governor and the councilwoman, Rusin-
ko said the investigators had “some the-
ories we're working on at the moment.”

While police hesitated to say publicly
that they suspected Reese of being im-
plicated in the cop-killing, they did re-
port that Connie Trimble, Reese and
Lawrence Cook were known to have
lived in the same house at times. It was
also noted in the press that Cook was
arrested in the 900 block of Hague Ave-
nue in St. Paul, just four blocks from
the address where Patrolman Jim Sac-
kett was fatally ambushed. It was also
noted that Cook was apprehended about
the same time that Miss Trimble was
taken into custody on the murder charge.

According to police records, Cook was
picked up at the request of Nebraska
authorities, who said they had a war-
rant charging him and Reese with the
armed bank robbery which resulted in
the wounding of a security guard. The
19-year-old youth was being held in
the Ramsey County Jail at St. Paul
under $50,000 bond at the time of the
aborted kidnaping-hijacking plot.

The third “political” prisoner named
in the letter found in Reese’s pocket,
16-year-old Carey Hayes, was being
held on a charge of attempted first-
degree murder in connection with an ex-
plosion which seriously wounded a wom-

an customer who was shopping in Day-
ton’s, one of St. Paul’s leading down-
town department stores, when it was
bombed in September. Although police
said they suspected that young Hayes
may have been acquainted with Miss
Trimble, Reese and Clark because of

_ their common philosophical and political

views, they did not suggest that the
youth was involved in the ambush of
Patrolman Sackett. Police declined to
say whether or not Hayes’ name was in-
cluded on the roster found in Reese’s
apartment.

The guards at the residences of Gov-
ernor LeVander and Councilwoman But-
ler and the special forces at Interna-
tional Airport were removed about eight
hours after the 20-year-old suspect was
taken into custody.

Reese was charged with conspiracy
to commit aircraft piracy and violation
of the national firearms act in connec-
tion with possession of a shotgun by a
felon who failed to register same. The
suspect’s bond on the firearms charge
was set at $25,000 and his bail on
the bank holdup charge in Nebraska
was placed at $150,000, the highest bail
ever set in Minnesota at the time.

At this writing, several legal maneu-
vers and motions were being considered
by the courts in connection with Con-
nie Trimble’s trial and police were con-
tinuing their far-ranging investigation.

No trial date for Miss Trimble had
been set at press time, since her attor-
neys were in the process of attempting
to win a change of venue out of Ram-
sey County. Defense Attorneys Neil
Dieterich and Donald E. Wiese argued
in District Court that their client could
not get an impartial hearing in Ramsey
County because of the publicity on the
slaying of Patrolman Sackett and her
name being used in connection with the
alleged kidnap-hijack plot.

In support of the motion to move the
murder trial to another jurisdiction, the
defense attorneys introduced several
newspaper clippings publicizing the
murder and kidnap-hijack plan and ar-
gued that they had caused “local hos-
tility” among people who could not serve
as impartial jurors. The court took the
motion under advisement.

On December 11th, police suffered a
setback in Reese’s case when United
States Commissioner Bernard Zimperfer
dismissed the charge of “conspiracy to
commit aircraft piracy,” as filed by the
FBI against the suspect. In handing
down his decision, Zimperfer ruled that

no overt act had actually been commit-
ted—as defined by federal law—and that
the notes found on the defendant were
insufficient evidence to prove ‘“‘conspiracy
with another person.”

Commissioner Zimperfer held, how-
ever, that there was probable cause for
continuing the charges against Reese on
the federal firearms act violation and
uphold the $25,000 bond set in that case.
Also upheld was the $150,000 bail set
in the bank holdup incident in Nebras-
ka, where the defendant at this writing
was awaiting a trial date.

Nineteen-year-old Lawrence Cook,
charged with Reese in the bank job, was
being held in custody under $50,000 bond
and at this writing was also awaiting a
trial date.

During Cook’s extradition hearing be-
fore Municipal Court Judge Edward De-
laney, Ramsey County Assistant Attor-
ney Richard O’Reski hinted that the al-
leged bank bandit, who once lived in
the same house with Connie Trimble and
Robert Reese, might be questioned about
the slaying of Patrolman Sackett.

In arguing against the release of
Cook, which was being sought, the sus-
pect’s attorney, who said the extradition
action was “a subterfuge to hold the de-
fendant in custody under $50,000 bail,”
O’Reski said the Nebraska charge was a
serious one and told the court that there
possibly were even more serious charges
“pending against him here.”

Cook’s attorney noted that his client
had been held in jail on a Nebraska
warrant for 30 days “and to date there
have been no papers received and as far
as we can tell there is no evidence of
any charges pending against him in Ne-
braska.”

Judge Delaney ruled that the prisoner
be held, however, after O'Reski told the
court that he had been advised that day
that the Nebraska extradition papers
were on their way to St. Paul. At this
writing, Cook had been extradited to
Omaha and was awaiting a trial date on
the bank holdup charges with
Reese. ¢4

Eprror’s Note:

Robert Reese, Lawrence Cook, Carey
Hayes are mnot the real names of the
persons so named in the foregoing
story. Because there is no reason for
public interest in the identity of these
pe'rzons, fictitious mames have been
used.

The Headless Nude

(Continued from page 19)

returned by January Ist he intended
to file.

The interrogation of the two young
women who had been found in the apart-
ment was more productive. One of the
woman said that she, Vigil and another
man had spent the night together in
the apartment and that she was under
the impression Vigil’s wife had left him.

The other was more specific, police
said. Angela Talbeau said that she had
met Vigil while he was driving a city
bus earlier in the month. She was a pas-
senger, he seemed friendly, and soon
they were engaged in a conversation.

Angela said he told her he had a prob-
lem—that he wanted custody of his three
children—that one was at his “mother’s
place” and the other two were being
taken care of by welfare authorities.

She said that the bus driver told her
that his wife had brought the youngest
child to him and that she was going
shopping. Angela stated that Vigil told
her that his wife had never returned.

The young woman informed authori-
ties that Vigil told her that he had had
a fight with his wife and that he had
“pruised her up pretty good.” Angela
said Vigil did not say where the fight
with his wife had occurred but that he
“probably would not get the kids” now
that his wife was missing. She said that
on December 29th at about 7:30 p.m.
she had accompanied Vigil to a laundro-
mat and that he had washed some cloth-
ing there and later cleaned out his car.

Meanwhile, other detectives were
quietly canvassing fellow workers and
acquaintances of the bus driver and re-
porting their findings to Chief Sawdon
and Captain Butcher.

All of the probers realized that they
had the apparently bloodstained clothes
of a woman who had been reported miss-

ing, but they also knew they were, as
the younger generation says these days,
“nowhere” without the body.

An extensive search in the area un-
der the bridge had yielded nothing after
the initial discovery of the clothing.
Darkness had prematurely ended the ex-
haustive search planned by Chief of De-
tectives Sawdon, but he and the officers
with him doubted the ultimate answer
would be found there.

A check by Detective Frank Valen-
tine of others who had known Mrs. Vigil
added additional significant information.
Valentine, a quiet, dogged investigator
who is used to “hitting the bricks” when
other leads have gone down the drain,
turned up a neighbor, Mrs. Mamie
House, who said that she had last seen
Carol Vigil on December 6th, Mrs.
House said that Vigil and his wife came
to her home on that date and they had
some drinks from a bottle of bourbon
Vigil had brought along. She said that
she had never seen Mrs. Vigil after that.



The woman said Vigil returned the
next night and told her his wife was
missing and he didn’t know what had
happened to her. She told Detective Val-
entine that Vigil had returned several
times after that, telling her that he had
not heard from Carol.

Finally, she said, he had brought some
of his wife’s clothes to her home and
told her that she might as well have
them; he was convinced his wife would
never return and he thought he might
as well get a divorce.

Other evidence was piling up as the
detectives carefully inspected the bus
driver’s Pontiac in the police garage.
With Identification Bureau men dusting
all surfaces for fingerprint evidence, the
investigators worked until 3 am. They
found stains on the cushions they
thought might be blood, and two pack-
ages containing new seat covers.

In the glove compartment of the Pon-
tiac station wagon they found a billfold
containing the missing wife’s identifica~
tion papers.

Why, they wondered, would the wom-
an disappear without any method of es-
tablishing her identity? Why would her
billfold be in the family car when she
supposedly was going on a shopping
trip?

Chief of Detectives Sawdon, carefully
assessing the facts which had been gath-
ered by deputies of the sheriff’s office
and his own detectives, now directed the
main thrust of the probe on the miss-
ing woman’s husband, who was still
telling his interrogators that he had no
idea of what had happened to his wife.

Authorities were careful, at all stages
of the questioning, to advise Vigil that
he was not obligated to answer any ques-
tions, that he was entitled to the ser-
vices of an attorney, and that any an-
swers he might give could be used
against him in court.

But Antonio Vigil, the authorities
said, insisted he had nothing to hide
and that all he wanted was to clear up
the mystery of his wife’s disappearance.

Both Chief Carroll and Chief Sawdon,
when they were convinced that they
mi%ht be faced with a murder case, es-
tablished immediate contact with Lan-
caster County Attorney Paul Douglas,
who, they knew, would be on the firing
line once the case ended up in court.

Douglas is a prosecutor who likes to
go to the crime scene as soon as possible
to prevent any errors in gathering evi-
dence that might handcuff him in court
when the legal objections begin to fly.

He and Sawdon carefully inspected
the scene under the bridge where the
clothes were found, but both knew that
until the woman was located or a body
was found, they had nothing to go on
as far as a major charge was concerned.

And while the rest of the state started
to build toward the eclimax of the
Orange Bowl game, with the Number 1
rating in the country riding in the bal-
ance, Sawdon, Douglas, and Carroll once
again called Antonio Vigil in for ques-
tioning. ,

As Vigil walked into his office, Chief
Sawdon said, the man was again ad-
vised of his constitutional rights. He
was told the case was still under investi-
gation and that he, Vigil, might want
to consult an attorney. Chief of Detec-
tives Sawdon reported that Vigil said
he had nothing to hide and they started
to talk. . .

Vigil, Sawdon said, claimed he was in
love with his wife but that many. times
she angered him when they were out at
parties. Vigil said he liked to dance and
socialize and that women “naturally had
eyes for me,” and that his wife seemed
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to resent his popularity with the oppo-
site sex.

During the questioning, Vigil said
that he sometimes told his wife that she
should drink along with him but she
usually objected. When she did drink, he
said, she became more jealous of the
other women at the parties who seemed
to like him. Vigil still insisted he had
no knowledge of his wife’s disappear-

ance.

Sawdon told Vigil that he and the
other officers investigating the case were
convinced that his wife was dead, and
that as far as they were concerned, he
was a prime suspect until he could give
them information that would make them
believe otherwise.

Finally, Sawdon stated, Antonio Vigil
leaned back in his chair and said:
“Okay, I'll tell you the story if you will
let this one woman come up here and
talk to me.”

The detective chief agreed and a few
minutes later, Vigil was talking private-
ly to the woman he had requested to see.

After several minutes, Vigil returned
to the office and allegedly said he was
willing to take Sawdon to the place where
he had concealed the body of his wife;
but, he said, it had to be done his way
—that he and Sawdon must travel
alone and that Sawdon must make the
trip unarmed.

Sawdon took a long look at the sus-
pect, talked quietly to him for a couple
of minutes, and made his decision. This
could be the big break in the case. He
felt that if he ‘did not go along, the
suspect might resume his further insis-
tence that he did not know what had
happened to his wife and that the inves-
tigation would again reach an impasse.

The chief of detectives left the office
for a few minutes and talked to Chief
Carroll. When he returned to agree to
Vigil’s suggestion, his holster was
empty, but his service pistol was in the
righthand pocket of his topcoat. And
Chief Carroll was quietly making ar-
rangements with the department’s heli-
copter pilot and a crack team of detec-
tives to keep the pair under constant ob-
servation from the air.

As Sawdon drove the unmarked po-
lice car westward from Lincoln, Vigil,
the detective chief said later, talked
more freely than he had at the police
station.

None of those who saw the car mov-
ing through the university city had any
inkling of the intense drama that was
unfolding before their eyes. Only those
in the helicopter, hovering unobtrusive-
ly overhead, and other detectives trail-
ing the car at a discreet distance, knew
what was happening.

Vigil allegedly told the chief of de-
tectives how he had become angry at
his wife at the party and then drove
her out on a lonely county road, still
arguing, and how he had killed her be-
fore he had reported her missing.

Sawdon reported that Vigil said he
became angry at the party when his
wife objected to a girl “who had been
making eyes at me,” and that he couldn’t
understand why his wife wasn’t willing
to just have a good time.

Suddenly, as the car approached an
isolated spot, Sawdon faced an unex-
pected crisis. Three men with rifles, who
appeared to be hunters, tried to wave
the car to a stop. Sawdon instinctively
knew the men had probably located the
body of the missing woman. Knowing
it would be important to the prosecu-
tion’s case in court that the suspect
point out the exact location where the
body was concealed, Sawdon slowed the
police car and told the men, before they

could say anything, that he would re-
turn and that they were to wait for
him. Then he proceeded on down the
road, assuring Vigil that he did not
know the identity of the men.

A short time later, Vigil told Sawdon

to stop the car and took him to a cou-
ple of sparse trees some distance off
the road that were growing on the edge
of a gully.
Wordlessly he pointed down into the
ditch and now, for one of the few times
in his career, the chief of detectives
recoiled at what he saw. There, only
lightly covered with brush, was the nude
body of a young woman.

It was headless.

For a few moments, the detective chief
stared at the grisly scene below in si-
lence and then he became aware of the
sound of the chopper hovering overhead.

Sawdon then told Vigil that he would
have to notify headquarters so that a
thorough investigation of the scene
could take place. Vigil nodded his agree-
ment. Sawdon called in and Captain
Butcher, Detective Lieutenant Ronald
Flansberg and Sergeant Morgan soon
arrived at the scene, which was 10%
miles west of Tenth and O Streets, also
north of the heart of the city.

As they waited for the other officers
to arrive, Sawdon said Vigil gave him
additional details of the gruesome kill-
ing, telling him that he had stabbed his
wife several times with a hunting knife
and then severed her head as their quar-
rel reached a climax on the lonely road.

Sawdon returned and talked to the
hunters and learned that his hunch had
been well founded; they had found the
body shortly before he and the suspect
had arrived on the scene. He explained
to them that it had been necessary for
him to ignore their signal when they
attempted to stop his car. They agreed
to stay around until they could give a
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complete account to other officers when
they arrived.

County Attorney Douglas also had
been immediately notified of the discov-
ery of the body and was on the way to
the murder site. He arrived at about
4:30 p.m. By that time Vigil allegedly
had told Sawdon that he had buried the
head of his wife at another location.
He said he was willing to cooperate in
the search for it, but also said he was
less certain of where he had disposed of

it.

Vigil told Sawdon he recalled dis-
posing of the clothes under the bridge
after hiding the body and then becoming
extremely nervous about being stopped
by a roving police car while the head of
his wife was still in the car.

Sawdon said Vigil told him, however,
that he recalled throwing his hunting
knife as far away as he could after he
had buried the head. He said that he
had wiped the knife clean with grass
and leaves before he hurled the murder
weapon from him. Pressed by Sawdon
to estimate the distance he might have
;hrown the knife he said from 40 to 55
eet.

Sawdon considered the information
important because, he reasoned, if the
knife were found the distance could be
paced off in several directions and
would eventually lead to the missing
head of the corpse.

With the area roped off and the in-
vestigators, who had arrived at the
scene, making a foot-by-foot search for
clues, Douglas, Sawdon and other
searchers, with the suspect directing
them, made the most of the waning day-
light in a search for the head.

Vigil took them to several locations,
stating that the terrain at each resem-
bled the area where he had disposed
of the grisly clue. But, although each
sgot was examined with the utmost care,
the investigators came up with nothing.

Both Sawdon and Douglas, studying
Vigil closely as he led them from one
place to another, were convinced. that
he was sincere in his attempts to lead
them to where he said he had buried
his wife’s head.

But when darkness closed in to make
any further search useless, Sawdon and
Douglas called it off and returned to
Police Headquarters, knowing they had
a full night’'s work ahead of them doc-
umenting the dramatic events that had
led to the solving of the mysterious dis-
appearance of Carol Vigil.

When the two men returned to head-
quarters in. downtown Lincoln, they
found a report ready for them given by
the woman that Vigil had requested to
talk to before he agreed to accompany
Sawdon to the scene where the headless
body was found.

Studying the report, County Attorney
Douglas and Chief of Detectives Saw-
don learned that Vigil had told the
woman substantially the same story, al-
though in less detail, that he had re-
lated to Sawdon as the two men made
the trip to where the body was found.

The woman said in her statement that
she had known Carol Vigil, as well as
her husband, and that he had seemed
to have an affection for her which she
did not return.

She said he had told her that he and
his wife had a disagreement at a party
in which his wife had become unruly
because another woman “had made eyes
at him” and he had danced with her,
She said that “Tony” had told her that
he had choked and stabbed his wife on
a country road and that he wanted her
to be one of the first to know.

The woman said that after the dis-
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appearance of Carol, Vigil had told
her while she was a passenger on the
bus he was driving that his wife had
left him without taking her clothes or
identification. She said Vigil told her at
that time that if his wife had not re-
turned by January 1st, he intended to
file for divorce.

Further reports were coming in on
how the dead woman’s clothing had been
found. Chief Deputy Sheriff Glenn Allen
said that two blankets and a car seat
cover, apparently soaked with blood, had
also been found under the bridge three
miles west of Lincoln on Van Dorn
Street. Allen said the articles recovered
apparently had been dropped from the
bridge. He said that a youngster, play-
ing in the vicinity, had found them and
told his father who, in turn, called the
sheriff’s office.

Farmers in the vicinity were asked
to inspect their outbuildings for more
clues and the hopes that the missing
head might be found. And just before
the New Year dawned, County Attorney
Douglas announced to the press that An-
tonio Vigil would be arraigned on a
first-degree murder charge in connection
with the death of his wife.

Lancaster County Judge Ralph Slo-
cum on New Years Day ordered that
Vigil be held without bond on the
charges that he had murdered his wife.
He set the preliminary hearing date for
January 19th.

With Sawdon and Chief Joe Carroll
intent on wrapping up the murder case,
it was more than business as usual at
the police station on January 1st, with
most detectives working overtime.

County Attorney Douglas said that he
considered the finding of the murdered
woman’s head essential to a complete in-
vestigation, although there could be no
doubt about the identification of the
body. As soon as the early winter light
permitted, the investigators moved out
into the area where the body was found.

Flamethrowers were brought in to
burn down the brush in the areas where
Vigil had indicated he had buried the
head of his wife and tractors with blades
on the front were set at a shallow depth
as they moved in to turn over the soil in
the fields.

Top men from the fire department
were brought in to supervise the burn-
ing operations so that no fires would
burn out of control.

Antonio Vigil again agreed to accom-~
pany Sawdon and Douglas into the field
to aid in the elusive search but after an
intensive search over the countryside
that included eight widely-separated
gullies, the searchers had again been
frustrated.

Patrolman Ronald Bruder and Detec-
tive Al Maxey moved into the area with
one of the better tracking dogs, which
had been instrumental in running down
clues in other cases, in the hope that he
might lead them to where the head had
been buried. ' .

Sawdon was specially interested in
finding the hunting knife that Vigil said
he had used in decapitating his wife.
He reasoned that once the knife had
been found, the searchers would be able
to find the missing head within an hour.

After the fruitless search on Friday,
he contacted a couple of Lincoln com-
panies that were known to possess pow-
erful magnets which they used in their
daily traffic in metals. They agreed to
donate their equipment in an attempt to
locate the knife believed to have been
used in the murder.

The report was in on the post mortem
performed on the frozen body which
had been taken by assistants from the

Metcalf Mortuary to St. Elizabeth’s
Hospital in Lincoln. Dr. E. D. Zeman,
pathologist said the Vigil woman’s
death had resulted from multiple stab
wounds.

Further questioning of the suspect al-
legedly revealed that after he had killed
his wife and severed her head he had
put it in the back of his car; Sawdon
said Vigil told him that it was the last
thing he disposed of on the grisly night
of the slaying.

While the investigators concentrated on
the killing, Nebraskans were celebrat-
ing a series of football events that oc-
curred during the day. Notre Dame de-
feated Texas and Stanford trounced
Ohio State and 16 thousand Nebraskans
who had journeyed to Miami saw their
team beat Louisiana State University, 17
to 12, to become the Number 1 team in
the nation.

The next day it started to snow, with
winter winds howling across the Mid-
lands to trigger a blizzard that has been
declared the worst to hit Nebraska in
25 years. Snow drifted in many areas
to between 10 and 15 feet, and some peo-
ple died on the highways when they
were caught in their cars. Even the
major cities of Omaha and Lincoln were
paralyzed—schools were closed, mail
went undelivered and stores and other
business places closed for the day.

It snowed all day Sunday, and when it
was over Sawdon knew that his search
for the head of the unfortunate house-
wife had come, at least temporarily, to
a halt. But he knew that the search
would have to be continued as soon as
possible if the state was to present a
comlplete case when Vigil is brought to
trial.

Accompanying the gum-chewing Vigil
when he appeared before Judge Slocum
was court-appointed Attorney T. Clem-
ent Gaughan. This highly respected law-
ver had been defense counsel for the
mass killer, Starkweather. Later Gau-
ghan was appointed to become the first
public defender in the history of Lin-
coln, County Attorney Douglas and oth-
er Lincoln lawyers know the stocky
Irishman can be a formidable oppo-
nent even on what seems to be an almost
hopeless case.

study of Antonio Vigil's record
disclosed that he had served time in the
Nebraska Penal Complex in Lincoln for
first-degree arson. It was learned he had
been born in Chadron, Nebraska, and
had completed the 10th grade in schools
in Nebraska and Colorado. Prosecutor
Douglas said the Vigil family moved to
Lincoln early in 1970 following the clos-
ing of a tire plant where he was em-
ployed in Topeka, Kansas.

On Tuesday, January 19th, Vigil
again appeared before Judge Slocum,
with Attorney Gaughan at his side, and
waived preliminary hearing. Judge Slo-
cum ordered that Antonio Vigil should
stand trial in District Court and or-
dered that he continue to be held with-
out bail.

As this story was written, the head of
the ill-fated housewife had not yet been
recovered.

Chief of Detectives Robert Sawdon has
vowed the search will go on un‘til it
is,

Eprror’s NoTE:

Angela Talbeau and Mrs. Mamie
House are not the real names of the
persons so named in the foregoing
story. Fictitious names have been used
because there is no reason for public
interest in the identity of these per-
sons.
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following: (please check)

[ Hotel Executive Career [ Mote! Management Caresr
[ Retirement Career [ Business of My Own
[ Other Hotel/Motel Careers (Specify)

Mr.
M, e s Age........
Miss (Circle title and please print)

Apt.
Address.....oovveeiiiiiaiinianan No.....ovvenes
(031 T R R R R R R R RET R
StAte. ..ot iiii e Zip.........
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COMPLETE FISHING QUTFITS g

NATIONALLY ADVERTISED 1971MODELS S, =
2 LOADED TACKLE BOXES - 66 DEADLY LURES ’

3 EXPERTLY BALANCED RODS AN,Q,REEfg

ARGOSY T DRIV
’ ROLLING =

SENSATIONAL VALUE !

DELUXE
MODEL

POWER ACTION
BLACK MAGIC
FIBRE-GLASS RODS
STRONGER THAN..~

STEEL
OR-8AMBOO

LEVELWIND
CASTING
REEL ®

AUTOMATIC
DUAL DRAG
SPINCAST

2\

\; w!sum “88” 

PUSH BUTTON
CASTING
ANTI REVERSE
NO BACKiAsH i RN g,

50 NATURAL BAIT LURES

7 SURE SHOT ACTION WITH SHRIMP,
} MINNOWS, GRASSHOPPERS, MAYFLIES,
BUMBLEBEES, CRIGKETS, LEECHES
-

i LB o

N

RAFTY LURES
R SELECTED FROM =
by WORLDS MOST POPULAR. | 7

COMPLETE! NOTHING ELSE TO BUY!

SELECTED FOR YOU BY EXPERTS. This choice fish-gettingitackle used by thousands MONEY BACK

throughout the United States and Canada. Each item carefully chosen—everything | NIRESK DISCOUNT SALES, inc. DEPT. FiI-131
you need for all types of fishing. Deadly lures thatare all time favorites. A veteran | CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 60606

angler or an occasional fisherman can be proud of this precision-built kit. You can go I ORDER TODAY! if you're not 100% pleased we'l
fishing at once. Compare! You may not find a bargain like this anywhere. Tefund your full purchase price promptly.

LOOK! YOU GET EVERYTHING SHOWN. Super “88" Spincast Reel * Comet X3C Bait Cast | YOU KEEP 2 FREE TACKLE BOXES REGARDLESS!
Reel Argosy Direct Drive Trolling Reel * 5 h. 2 pc. Fiber Glass Spin Cast Rod * 4 ft. Fiber Please rush__. 411 pes. 3 Complete Fishing Sets
Glass Bait Cast Rod » 3% ft. Fiber Glass Trolling Rod * 6 fi. 2 section Bamboo Pole and 25 fi. | | name
Bank line '« 66 proven Deadly lures * 5 pe. Furnished line * 2 Floating Tackle Boxes with | aoores

removable trays * Fish Knife and Sheath < 28 pc. Popping Lure Kit » Dip Net, Stringer, Split | cuv STATE ([ S—
Shot, Clincher Sinkers, Snap Swivels, Assorted Hooks, Snelled Hooks, 3 Plastic Floats, 6—3 way [ | enclose 5‘21'9_51”‘”‘ %‘g%“’h"“’“g: & h‘“"d""g'
Swivels; 6 Shaps, 12—36" Leader Strands {8%# Test), and complete instructions, 411 pieces.in ali. 0 shie C'O,,;P;,esi"‘ffn,f’:,ym; o S e a9

NIRESK DISCOUNT SALES, INC. CHICAGO 60606 To Canada: §14.95 including Postage & Duty
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